PROCEEDINGS

OF THE

FOURTEENTH PROVINCIAL

Subbath School Convention,

BEING

THE TWELFTH ANNUAL MEETING OF THE SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION OF CANADA.

HELD IN THE TOWN OF GUELPH, ONTARIO,

ON THE 978, 10TH AND 11TH OCTOBER, 1877.

SUNDAY SCHOOL AND OTHER BOOKS

ARE SUPPLIED AT THE MOST REASONABLE TERMS BY

WILLING & WILLIAMSON,

12 KING STREET EAST, TORONTO.

TORONTO:

PRINTED FOR THE ASSOCIATION BY COPP, CLARK & CO.

1877.

Sabba

TH

SABBA

THE TWELF

HELD I

PRINTE

THE PROCEEDINGS

OF THE

FOURTEENTH PROVINCIAL

SABBATH SCHOOL CONVENTION,

BEING

THE TWELFTH ANNUAL MEETING OF THE SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION OF CANADA.

HELD IN THE TOWN OF GUELPH, ONTARIO,

ON THE 9тн, 10тн & 11тн ОСТОВЕR, 1877."

TORONTO:

PRINTED FOR THE ASSOCIATION BY COPP, CLARK & CO.

67 & 69 COLBORNE STREET.

1877.

OFFICERS FOR 1877-78.

President :

DR. EDWARD McGUIRE, Guelph.

Wice: Mresidents :

HON. JAMES FERRIER, Montreal.
PRINCIPAL DAWSON, LL.D., Montreal.
MR. D. W. BEADLE, St. Catharines.
MR. JAMES YOUNG, M.P., Galt.
MR. ALFRED ROWLAND, London.

VERY REV. DEAN BOND, LL.D., Montreal.
MR. DANIEL MCLEAN, Toronto.
HIS HONOUR JUDGE JONES, Brantford.
MR. WM. EDGAR, Hamilton.
MR. WM. JOHNSON, Belleville.

AGA Asso

Th

prese by se

Cana

hear

hosp The

Ryck

verifi stay dent Ou they ment

need

who

respondence when they Asso

was done Scho Man mate disch us is

Sabb junct

In

And the Presidents of the County Associations.

Treasurer .

HON. JOHN MCMURRICH, Toronto.

General Secretary: Rev. WILLIAM MILLARD, Toronto.

Minute Secretaries:

REV. THOMAS LOWRY, Brantford. REV. ALFRED ANDREWS, Strathroy
MR. WILLIAM JONES, Guelph.

Executive Committee .

Rev. J. Gray, Windsor.
Rev. J. R. Batt sly, Chatham.
Rr. Lawrenes Gibeon, Loudon.
Mr. Thomas McCormack, Loudon.
Mr. Thomas McCormack, Loudon.
Rev. J. McEwen, Ingersoll.
Rev. C. Goodspeed, Woodstock.
Dr. Nicholl, Brautford.
Mr. W. N. Hossie, Brantford.
Mr. J. R. Miller, Golderich.
Rev. Thomas Lowry, Brantford.
Mr. John Mann, Brantford.
Mr. John Mann, Brantford.
Mr. John Mann, Brantford.
Mr. J. R. Miller, Golderich.
Rev. W. Manchee, Guelph.
Mr. C. Raymond, Guelph.
Mr. J. R. Miller, Golderich.
Rev. J. E. Mocalla, St. Catherines.
Rev. G. Bruce, M. A., St. Catherines.
Rev. G. Bruce, M. A., St. Catherines.
Rev. J. L. Hindley, M. A., Owen Sound.
Mr. D. Fotheringham, Aurora.
Mr. A. I. McKenzie, Hamilton.
Mr. A. I. McKenzie, Hamilton.
Mr. A. Macallum, L.L.B., Hamilton.
Mr. J. R. Griffin, Waterdown.
Mr. J. R. Griffin, Waterdown.
Mr. J. J. M. Cancon.
Mr. G. Morse, Toronto.
Mr. G. Morse, Toronto.
Mr. J. M. Gameron, Toronto.
Rev. S. J. M. Canneron, Toronto.
Rev. S. J. M. Canneron, Toronto.
Rev. J. M. Gameron, Toronto.
Rev. J. M. Gameron, Toronto.
Rev. J. M. Gameron, Toronto.
Rev. J. W. Jeffrey, Toronto.
Rev. T. W. Joffrey, Toronto.
Rev. T. W. Joffrey, Toronto.
Rev. T. W. Joffrey, Toronto.
Mr. J. Mr. Joronto.
Mr. J. J. M. Grouthes.

Mr. James McNab, Toronto,
Mr. Charles, S. Finch, Toronto,
Mr. Charles, S. Finch, Toronto,
Mr. Charles, M.A., Torografo,
Mr. Elb. Craig, M.A., Torografo,
Mr. Elb. Grage, M.A., Torografo,
Mr. Elb. Bogers, Toronto,
Mr. Elb. Bogers, Torografo,
Mr. Elb. Bogers, Torografo,
Mr. Elb. Bownanville,
Mr. J. A. Bell, Bownanville,
Mr. J. A. Bell, Bownanville,
Mr. D. J. McKinnon, Brampton,
Mr. J. A. Wales, Markham
Mr. John Jamieson, Woodville,
Mr. W. H. Gibbs, M.P., Oshawa,
Rev. Dr. O'Moara, Port Hope,
Mr. William Craig, sen., Port Hope,
Mr. William Craig, sen., Port Hope,
Mr. William Craig, sen., Port Hope,
Rev. Dr. O'Moara, Port Hope,
Rev. Logh Pedley, Coolury,
Rev. Hogh Pedley, Coolury,
Mr. R. S. Porter, Lindsay,
Mr. R. S. Botter, Mr. M. Montelle,
Mr. A. G. Northrup, Belleville,
Mr. A. G. Northrup, Belleville,
Mr. A. G. Hown, Kingston,
Mr. A. Chown, Kingston,
Mr. A. Chown, Kingston,
Mr. A. Lind, Peterboro',
Rev. J. B. Stevenson, Ll. B., Montraal,
Mr. J. A. Matthewson, Montreal,
Mr. J. A. Matthewson, Montreal,
Mr. J. A. Matthewson, Montreal,
Mr. T. Bridgore Lyman, Montreal,
Mr. T. Indon's Robertson, Montreal,
Mr. T. Bridgore Lyman, Montreal,
Mr. T. Hong's Robertson, Danville, P.Q.

INTRODUCTION.

Montreal

intford

ntreal

P.Q.

AGAIN we are privileged to report the proceedings of the Sabbath School
- Association of Canada.

The fourteenth Provincial Convention manifested no diminution in interest, or falling off in the attendance of delegates. Nearly 500 were present from various parts of the two Provinces; and it was pronounced by some to be the most practical Sabbath School Convention ever held in Canada. In this we realize the goodness of God, and to Him we render heartfelt thanks.

In every city and town where the Association has convened, Christian hospitality has abounded; and in this respect Guelph was not lacking. The admirable welcome given by its representative, the Rev. E. B. Ryckman, M.A., in such an assuring address on the first evening, was verified in the homes where the delegates were entertained during their stay in this rapidly-rising town. The chair was well filled by the President, and the programme, in the main, was well fulfilled.

Our American friends commended themselves by the intelligent help they so well rendered in the service of song, on primary class management, and by the forcible illustrations of Eastern customs.

As a full report of the proceedings is given in the following pages, it is needless here to comment upon the very able addresses of the brethren who introduced the topics and instructed the assembly. We have, however, been requested to follow up what was so well spoken and received respecting normal classes. To this matter we shall therefore devote more space.

We cannot close this preface without asking our readers, and all whom they can influence, who realize the good that has been effected by this Association, to provide the means for its sustenance. Upwards of \$700 was subscribed at Guelph by about seventy persons. This was noblydone, but \$2,000 more are required. The planting of new Sabbath Schools in the back settlements devolves now upon this Association, Many of these have to be supplied with books and other Sabbath Sphool material. What has been given and promised will, when paid in, but discharge the indebtedness of the Association. The year's work before us is wholly unprovided for. If but a portion even of our well-to-do Sabbath Schools, and churches and Christian friends, will help at this juncture, there will be no lack or deficiency to report next year.

One of the resolutions moved by the Rev. John McEwen, and unanimously adopted by the Provincial Convention in Guelph was, that "in view of the necessity for a general preparation of Sabbath School teachers, &c., a statement of the work done during the past year be embodied in the General Report, and commending the work to the special consideration of this Association."

In compliance with this decision of the Convention, we gladly present to our readers some of the evidences of a growing desire on the part of our Sabbath School teachers for an intelligent preparation and equipment for their important work, and the success that is attending the institution of normal classes in Ontario.

In this statement we do not profess to detail all "the work done" by normal classes in this Province. It may be sufficient to mention the following facts as exemplary and encouraging to others:

Ingersell. — In the fall of 1876 a normal class for Sabbath School teachers was organized in this town by the Rev. John McEwen. A programme of study was agreed upon by the Ministerial Association. Simple subjects were elicited on the Art of Teaching, and an outline of Bible truth in its historical aspects. In the month of February the class resumed, and for ten weeks was occupied with another programme of Sabbath School subjects. The average attendance of this class was seventy; the interest was very encouraging; and the stormy nights that thinned out every other meeting did not materially affect this class. A third class is now in progress, and the meetings are larger than last year. The greater ease with which this class grapples with more difficult subjects is very noticeable. Superintendents report deeper interest in the teachers' meetings, and the improved style of class work is quite marked. This class is composed of teachers from all denominations, and meets in the Young Men's Christian Association rooms.

The Oxford County Sabbath School Convention appointed that classes should be held in different parts of the county, among which are the following:

Drumbo.—Six sessions were held here in the course of two days, beginning at 10 a.m. The class commenced with an attendance of forty, and increased in numbers to the close, the evening sessions being very large, and the interest ma ifest.

Brownsville.—Although the time appointed was a busy season, yet the attendance was good. Four sessions were held here. The average attendance was forty-five—principally teachers and parents, who manifested a deep interest in the work, as enabling them to teach their children.

place, number Were doubtle felt. Swee

hopeful here, the attenda "The McEwe minds-

"Ist men ar four or "2nd becaus

quicke reacts "4th written prepar

the nur

In It the lead dist Cl
The C
Toro
Presby

and so and the devolv James This c work, minute

It is of the Young being Embro.—Four sessions were held here, commencing, as in the former place, in the evening, and continuing all the next day Although the numbers were not so large, yet the interest in the work was as deep. Were another opportunity given to prosecute the work, the attendance doubtless would be larger, as the importance of such training is deeply felt.

Sweaburg.—The County Convention considered this place the least hopeful in which to begin the work; yet notwithstanding the difficulties here the four sessions held were not unduly discouraging—the average

attendance was twenty-six.

"The year's work in this new work of enterprise," writes the Rev. J. McEwen, the conductor of all the aforementioned classes, "settles in our minds—

"1st. That it is quite practicable in rural districts, and, with two or three men and women to work up the interest in calling the meetings, to hold four or six sessions of two hours each, in any central point

"2nd. That parents are quite as ready to enter into this work as teachers, because of the help it gives them to instruct and train their children in the nurture and admonition of the Lord.

"3rd. That this kind of work stimulates an amount of mental and moral quickening that is of great importance to the pastors in their work, and reacts beneficially on the ministrations of the pulpit.

"4th. Many teachers who have attended these class exercises, have written encouraging statements as to the benefit they have received in preparing their lessons, and in communicating the result to their classes."

In Yorkville, where, last year, there was some normal class work done, the leader, Mr. L. C. Peake, conducts a class in the Bloor Street Methodist Church. Its second term has commenced with thirty in attendance. The Chatuaqua course of lessons has been adopted.

Toronto.—Here there is a normal class in connection with the East Presbyterian Sabbath School It was in actual work last year, and has commenced its second term lately. Composed of teachers, senior scholars, and some others who are church members, it averages about thirty-five, and the Chatuaqua course of lessons is used. The conduct of the class devolves on the pastor, Rev. J. M. Cameron, and the superintendent, Mr. James McNab, with whom two others from the school are associated This class has a double session every weekly meeting. After the normal work, which usually occupies seventy-five minutes, another seventy-five minutes is devoted to the lesson for the next Lord's Day.

It is also expected that another class, embracing teachers and others of the different denominations, will be assembled in the rooms of the Young Men's Christian Association in this city. This matter is now being taken up by the Toronto Sabbath School Teachers' Association.

one" by
the fol-

unani-

that "in School

year be

e special

present part of

d equip-

ling the

ven. A cociation, utiline of party the agramme class was ghts that lass. A ast year, cult substitute the marked, meets in

are the

orty, and

yet the attend-

en.

At Weston a normal class meets weekly, alternately in the Methodist and Presbyterian Churches, under a committee of instruction—the Rev. R. Pettigrew, and Messrs. Wallace and Watson. Mr. Wallace, of the Weston Grammar School, is the conductor. The Chatauqua course of lessons is used, and the class is said to be doing well under its efficient conductor.

At Norwood, also, there is a normal class, which is conducted by the Rev. T. F. Fotheringham, in the Sabbath School of the Presbyterian Church. In the main, the Chatuagua course of lessons is followed; and here also, as in the East Presbyterian Church Sabbath School normal class in Toronto, there is another session following it of one for considering the lesson of the next Sabbath.

Besides, the foregoing, at the *Grimsby* Sabbath School Council, in connection with the camp meeting held there last August, all the sessions were arranged with regard to teacher training. The Rev. A Andrews and the Rev. W. C. Henderson, M.A., conducted services for normal class instruction and drill. About seventy were in attendance, and the interest was good. Here arrangements were at that time made to hold regular normal classes at different points during the year, and as a result of this arrangement, there is a normal class in.

Strathroy.—It meets every Friday evening. This class numbers sixty, embracing members of the various churches, and is conducted by the Rev. A. Andrews.

Sarnia also has a normal class, conducted by the Rev. W. C. Henderson. It meets every Tuesday evening, and has eighty-six members.

The Chatauqua course, as published in pamphlet form, is the text book both in Strathroy and Sarnia. It is contemplated to have competitive examinations at the close of the term. The sessions increase in interest; the black-board is used, and any other means that can be adopted, calculated to impress the lessons on the classes.

For the foregoing interesting facts of normal class work, we are indebted to the Revs. John McEwen and Alfred Andrews, and to Mr. Jas. McNab.

It was at the Provincial Sabbath School Convention in Montreal, in 1872, that the propriety of instituting regular written examinations for Sabbath School teachers was first introduced in our Sabbath School assemblies. The favour with which the preparation and competitive examinations of Sabbath School teachers had been met, as instituted by the London Sabbath School Union in England, led to its introduction as a matter well worthy of consideration by the Convention in Montreal, by the Rev. Dr. McVicar. The Doctor suggested that the subjects for elementary certificates might embrace Scripture History, Outline of Doctrine, Evidences of Christianity, and Principles and Art of Teaching; that proper means should be adopted for training teachers.

But the ma were thoroug Convention, t by some who In proof of another told tions in Lond same day; t Five hundre three hundre acceptable in

The discus that he had a that he rejoi going forward or twelve yea with surprise Memorable v

This imporprovincial C Report sugges was noticed appointed to for Sabbath Such a community training training but now, and McVicar as training and classes instituting and others, ment was an adopted una

The great classes for S with the love the word of bath School ashamed,"—and be wise

TORONTO, N

thodist

e Rev.

of the

irse of

fficient

by the

vterian

1; and

normal

nsider-

n con-

essions

drews

ormal

nd the

o hold

result

sixty.

e Rev.

lerson.

t book

etitive

erest:

calcu-

lebted

c Nab.

eal, in

ns for

school

ve ex-

by the

n as a

al, by

ts for

ne of

hing;

But the matter was new to the many present. There were those who were thoroughly of a mind with Dr. McVicar; but before the close of that Convention, this subject met with strong opposition. This was replied to by some who considered that it should be looked into and examined. In proof of the acceptableness of such preparation and examination, another told how six hundred applicants had submitted to such examinations in London and in some of the provincial towns in England, on the same day; that they were voluntary candidates for such examinations. Five hundred and upwards had passed in one or more branches, and three hundred in all the branches. The plan had been tried and was acceptable in England.

The discussion at Montreal closed with the Rev. Dr. McVicar saying that he had anticipated more opposition than had been shown then, and that he rejoiced that the majority of the Convention were in favour of going forward and of doing something effective in this matter. "In ten or twelve years," said the Doctor, "from now, they would be looking back with surprise at the neglect now shown in the training of teachers." Memorable words,!

This important matter, thus launched, was again introduced at the next Provincial Convention, held in Toronto in 1873. The General Secretary's Report suggested that it was worthy of the attention of that meeting. This was noticed by Dr. Hodgins, who proposed that a committee should be appointed to report upon the expediency of establishing normal classes for Sabbath School teachers, and of instituting voluntary examinations. Such a committee was appointed, and in its report recommended instituting training classes, &c. Again there were those who saw differently; but now, and in less than the "ten or twelve years" supposed by Dr. McVicar as the time that might elapse for the change, how has teacher training and examination grown in favour; so that not only are normal classes instituted and well attended, and gladly, by Sabbath School teachers and others, but when the series of resolutions tending to their establishment was moved by Rev. J. McEwen in the Convention, they were adopted unanimously.

The great object of this paper is to commend the institution of normal classes for Sabbath School teachers wherever it may be possible; that with the love of God in the heart, and the love of souls, and the love of the word of God, and every spiritual qualification so desirable, the Sabbath School teacher may also be "a workman that needeth not to be ashamed"—one that shall be listened to with delight, regarded with respect, and be wise to win souls.

WILLIAM MILLARD,

General Secretary.

TORONTO, November, 1877.

CONTENTS.

, FIRE	SI DAI — FIRST SESSION.	
	Nominating Committee	9
	Address by Professor Sherwin	10
4	Election of Officers	11
Dr	Retiring President's Address	12
	Reports from Counties	14
	The International Lesson Committee	17
SEC	SECOND SESSION. Address by the Pesident-Elect. 19	
	Address by the Pesident-Elect	10
	Address of Welcome.	91
	The Methods of the Great Teacher	95
	The Obligations of the Most Experienced Christians to Engage in the Work	20
DEC		00
International Committee		
	The Teacher, his Aim	
	The Teacher—No Substitute for Study.	
	Teachers' Meetings	54
FOU	RTH SESSION.	
	General Secretary's Report	
	Report of the Finance Committee	
	The International Convention of 1881	
	Primary Classes	71
FIFTH 80.8810 N.		
	Our Discouragements-What are They, and How Remedied	75
	Who should be Sunday School Scholars	81
	Financial Matters	
	Orientalisms of the Bible	86
	Coldness of Lady Teachers	89
	Orientalisms of the Bible	89
THIRD DAY-SIXTH SESSION.		
The Mission Work of the Association.		
	The Claims of Mission Work upon Ministers.	
	Review of the Last Quarter's Lessons.	
	The True Place and Purpose of the Sabbath School.	
		100
SEVENTH SESSION.		
	Difficulties of Superintendents and Teachers	
	Appointment of the Executive Committee	
2	Normal Classes	
	Question Drawer	110
EIGHTH AND CLOSING SESSION.		
	Our Encouragements-What are They?	117
	Resolutions	124
	Bible Reading	125
	Farewell Addresses	
	Contributions	131
	Delegates and Visitors	
	Uniform International Leggons 1878	

PRO

The Associated Association of Association that the O Lord and teach Short Bellevi singing mencin

Prof. S the sing Rev. Gospel

The Messrs.

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS

OF

THE FOURTEENTH

PROVINCIAL SABBATH SCHOOL CONVENTION

FOR

ONTARIO AND QUEBEC.

FIRST DAY-FIRST SESSION.

GUELPH, TUESDAY, October 9th, 1877.

The Fourteenth Provincial Convention of the Sabbath School Association of Canada opened in the Norfolk Street Methodist Church this afternoon. The Union Jack, intertwined with the Stars and Stripes above the organ, proclaimed the friendly relation of the Association to our neighbours across the border, and welcomed those from the other side who had come to take part in the proceedings. At the back of the platform were the words, "Teach me Thy way, O Lord," and at the lower end of the church, "I will instruct thee, and teach thee."

Shortly after half-past two, the President, Wm. Johnson, Esq., of Belleville, took the chair, and the Convention was opened by the singing of Hymn No. 3 of the Moody and Sankey collection, commencing.

"I need Thee every hour,"

Prof. Sherwin, of Newark, N. J., presiding at the organ and leading the singing.

Rev. Mr. Manchee read the former part of the 15th chapter of the Gospel according to John, and led in prayer.

Hymn 101-"All hail the power of Jesus' name."

NOMINATING COMMITTEE.

The President appointed the following a Nominating Committee: Messrs. Edgar, Hamilton; H. Harley and C. Raymond, Guelph; Rev.

PAGE

...... 19 21 25 30

...... 34 34

..... 44

...... 61

..... 65

...... 71

. 81

. 89

..... 96

...... 100

. 107

...... 115

..... 124

...... 135

G. Bruce, St. Catharines; Rev. C. Fish, Cobourg; Mr. D. Fotheringham, Aurora; Rev. T. Lowry, Brantford; and Mr. W. Watson, Weston.

Hymn 118—"Nearer, my God, to Thee."

Prayer by Rev. Wm. Millard and Rev. Mr. Howell.

Hymn—"Come, Holy Spirit, heavenly dove."

Prayer by Rev. T. Wardrope and Mr. A. O. Van Lennep.

Hymn 115—"Am I a soldier of the cross?"

Prayer by Rev. Mr. Dobbs and Rev. D. Wardrope.

ADDRESS BY PROFESSOR SHERWIN.

Professor Sherwin was then introduced to the Convention by the President, and received with much applause. He said he had so many times said in Canada how it made his heart glad to meet the people in this section of what seemed to him this common country. that it would get to most of them to be an old story, and they would say, "Why don't you say something fresh?" Bless their dear hearts. it was the freshest thing he had to say to-day. When he got into Canada and into Canadian homes, it came over him so new and fresh and sweet that he could not help speaking about it. When they were little fellows in the home, and the mother gave them a kiss and said good morning, did they say, "Oh, mother, give me something fresh?" (Laughter.) And so it was with this sort of greeting; and so he had a notion it ought to be. It ought to be among Christian workers, in this touching of heart with heart in Christian work; because it was Christian work, taking hold of a brother's hand and giving it a good wring and twist, as if they meant it, because he belonged to Christ-because in giving that twist they rung a bell in the heart which found an echo everywhere. There was a ring about Christian life-not much about what the world called politeness and etiquette. If they put Christian hearts together, how it caught-in the song, in the prayer. They were brothers, sisters, fellow-workers in Christ, for Christ, and with Christ-workers together with Christ. He wished they heard a little more about working with Christ, at the expense of leaving out some of the platitudes about working for Christ. They should think more of working with the Master, not for the Master while he sat away off and looked on. But what was going to come of it all? Since standing up, his thoughts had gone back to the first time he met them in Convention, he believed five years ago, in Montreal. There was a great crowd there. There was a great deal of glorious work d than the that the Had the arrange in every go—one school, and and they did amount

Mr. sented t

> MR. W MR. CI MR. D. MR. D.

Mr. A

the new

ther-

itson.

v the

ad so

intry.

would earts.

t into fresh

they

s and

; and

istian vork :

d and

cause

ing a

called

ether.

thers,

rist-

little

g out

think

he sat t all?

me he

itreal.

prious

work done there. Had it borne fruit? Were they better to-day than they were then? Had they come to this Convention determined that they would be better when it was over than when they came? Had they made their mental arrangement as well as their physicial arrangement, and their spiritual as well as their mental, so as to take in everything of good in this Convention, so that everyone should go—one to the class, another to the work of a superintendent of a school, another to the pastoral work, another to the missionary work, and another perhaps to the home work—refreshed and bettered. If they did not come with that thought, their coming there would not amount to much.

ELECTION OF OFFICERS.

Mr. W. Edgar, chairman of the Nominating Committee, presented the following list of nominations for the ensuing year:

PRESIDENT:

EDWARD McGUIRE, M.D., Guelph.

VICE-PRESIDENTS:

The former Presidents of the Association and Presidents of County Associations.

TREASURER:

THE HON. JOHN McMURRICH.

GENERAL SECRETARY:

REV. WILLIAM MILLARD.

MINUTE SECRETARIES :

REV. THOMAS LOWRY, Brantford. REV. ALFRED ANDREWS, Strathroy. MR. WILLIAM JONES, Guelph.

BUSINESS COMMITTEE:

MR. W. EDGAR, Hamilton.
MR. CHAS. RAYMOND, Guelph.
MR. D. FOTHERINGHAM, Awora.
MR. DANIEL McLean, Toronto.

MR. G. S. WHIPPLE, Hamilton. MR. WILLIAM WATSON, Weston. MR. J. A. MONTGOMERY, Port Hope. REV. W. MANCHEE, Guelph.

REV. G. BRUCE, M.A., St. Catharines.

Mr. A. Macallum, Hamilton, moved the adoption of the Report, which was seconded by Rev. Chas. Fish, and carried unanimously.

Hymn 114-"Blest be the tie that binds."

Rev. Mr. Wright led in prayer, especially asking a blessing on the newly elected officers.

RETIRING PRESIDENT'S ADDRESS.

The President:—The excellent General Secretary of this Association is supposed, in his Annual Report, to present in a concise form the work done during the year; but it has been always deemed wise that the person who has occupied the presidential chair during the past year should present the retiring President's Address. I have no formal address to present to you to-day, inasmuch as the work of the Association will be dealt with entirely by our General Secretary. Our meeting in this good town of Guelph reminds me of a motto I learned very early in life and tried to adopt—

"Try, try, try again;
If at first you don't succeed,
Try, try, try again."

It will be in the remembrance of our Guelph friends at least that. at the Convention in Hamilton two years ago, they tried very hard. and they tried again at the Convention of last year, and so we are here in the good providence of God. We have heard of Guelph as very hospitable-so hospitable indeed as to want to take in the whole Province. (Laughter.) They have asked to have the Provincial Agricultural Show here, and have said that, if the hotels do not accommodate the people, they would open their houses. I congratulate the Convention upon being in a town so hospitable as to wish to hold the whole Province, for everyone and his cousin goes to the Provincial Show. It is said that the churches of a place are an index to the people. If that be the case here, the people are ahead of any town in Ontario; for the most beautiful churches I have looked on outside of our cities are in this town of Guelph. Coming from a town which is so ambitious that it will be a city in a few months, I hung my head with shame when I saw these churches, and thought of those in my own town. Then that beautiful piece of architecture which crowns the hill, the Central School, through which I went an hour or two ago, does credit to the gentlemen who have charge of the School Board of this town, and to the ratepayers who assist them. (Hear, hear.) I have been thinking of the changes and progress in Sabbath School work since first I attended a Convention in Montreal eleven years ago. As straws show the way the wind blows, so trivial things show where progress is being made. When I looked at these two mottoes placed here by the brother who makes the mottoes for the Convention a matter of prayer and very great thought-"Teach me Thy way, O Lord," and "I will instruct thee and teach thee"—I remembered that, when we met in Belleville in 1869, one motto was "The children for Jesus," and the other, "Jesus for the children." I candidly admit to you that the people who put these up had the popular belief at that time that the Sabbath School was simply for the children. But to-

day I th only the question and I an treating retaining to-day a longer of use of t to keep and if a Sabbath some of Sabbath teen yea Sherwin they cal no schoo father a only abl in which of the e two yea Parliam to-day w agree wi us all so and won and wor years be ment ho of you, these pl beautifu informat At this they gav morning For a ti from B would le I pray t

of God t

remembe

those me

Guelph :

oci-

orm

vise

the

e no

the

ary.

to I

hat.

ard,

are h as

hole

cial

not

con-

s to

goes

are

are

es I

lph.

city

hese

that

tral

the

d to

ink-

st I

aws

ress

e by

er of

and

we

us,"

you

that

t to-

day I think we would put up " The scholars for Jesus," including not only the children, but those of more mature years. It has been a question in every Convention, "How to retain the senior scholars?" and I am glad to know that, in dropping the word "children," and treating them as if they were older, we have largely succeeded in retaining the senior scholars in our schools. If a discussion arose to-day as to that, the first suggestion would be-Don't talk any longer of the Sabbath School as a place simply for the children. The use of the word "children" has done more than anything I know to keep the young people and the grown up people out of the schools; and if anyone here has got into the habit of talking of those in the Sabbath School as "children," ask grace, and watch and pray to use some other word than that. We have got to this, that the ideal Sabbath School embraces-not only scholars of ten, twelve, or fourteen years of age, but what, on the other side, from which Brother Sherwin comes, where they generally call things by peculiar names, they call "spectacle classes." Call it by what name you please, but no school is perfect until you have in it every one, from the grandfather and grandmother of eighty years of age, down to the infant only able to lisp the name of Jesus. I have thought of other wavs in which the Sabbath School cause has progressed; I have thought of the epoch in Sabbath School work which has arrived in the last two years; I refer to the Chatauqua Assembly and Sabbath School Parliament. This is a new and progressive step. I see some here to-day whom I met at the Sabbath School Parliament, and they will agree with me that, while our Sabbath School Conventions have done us all so much good that we cannot tell it—and if there are men and women known by their work and faith as Sunday School men and women, it is very largely owing to our having for years and years been attending the Conventions—still we felt in that Parliament how much more we learned than we could learn here. of you, in the coming summer, can take your holiday at either of these places, you will not only have the pleasure of visiting places beautiful in themselves, but you will also gain an amount of information which you would think could scarcely be attained at all. At this year's Sunday School Parliament, the only fault was that they gave us far too much work to do. From half-past seven in the morning to half-past ten or eleven at night it was a continued service. For a time we would sit at the feet of Brother Sherwin, and then from Brother Van Lennep, a native of that Eastern country, we would learn so much which threw light upon passages of God's Word. I pray that at this Convention we may blessedly realize the presence of God the Holy Spirit. Those who were at Belleville last year will remember how graciously God the Spirit met us. You remember those morning Bible readings. I hope, for the sake of the people of Guelph and those who were not with us last year, that these will be a feature in this Convention also, and that the results which followed that Convention will follow this meeting here. In almost every session in Belleville there were souls born of God. In almost every Church, there were men who rose and told us that, during such a session of the Sabbath School Convention, God, for Christ's sake, spoke peace to their hearts. I hope like results, or greater, will follow this meeting. I believe it will not only knit our hearts one to another, but that those who come here without God and without hope in the world will be impressed by the Holy Spirit, and will realize that God is willing to forgive them, and will go away new creatures in Christ Jesus.

The President then led the Convention in prayer.

Hymn 122-"Work, for the night is coming."

REPORTS FROM COUNTIES.

NORTH YORK.

Mr. D. Fotheringham said they were working in North York as well as they could, and he believed were making some progress. They had changed the time of their Convention from the winter to the earlier part of the autumn in order to avoid the uncertain weather, and they found the result favourable. Their last Convention was held, by a happy thought, on the Thanksgiving Day, so they had a thanksgiving service the first session, and had a collection to help Sabbath School work from all the people of the village, which enabled them to send a contribution to the funds of the parent association of the Provinces. They had had a series of Institutes on normal lessons conducted by their local men. They had not sent to the outside for assistance, as they were very anxious to develop power amongst themselves. They had held some thirty Institutes, scattered over the county in central localities. These Institutes occupied but one evening each. Their work was very simple and unpretentious, but they had found good results from it, and it was being introduced in other counties. In Peel, they had had these Institutes on an improved method. In York they had one or two a month all through the winter. They had seventy Sabbath Schools in North York; the number of officers and teachers was nearly 600; of scholars over 5,000; of weekly meetings for the study of lessons, 23; of schools in which reviews were held weekly or quarterly, 49; 25 used blackboards, though they had a mistaken notion that only a skilful person could use the black and; 50 out of the 70 schools used the International Series of Lessons. The Libraries contained over 6,000 volumes. Only \$150 had been raised, so far as they had reports, for missionary purposes; but over \$1,100 had been raised for support of schools.

Mr in the pupils 12,65 pering Lesso unto Convecount electe the so kept bath throu

gave would tute it benef Sabba parts word them

School the black of the control of the team them they and that the control of the

Scho A of V

Thor

some

M the

WELLINGTON.

Mr. W. L. SMELLIE said there had been a great increase of schools in this county. Since last year they had had an increase of 750 pupils in their Sabbath Schools. The total number of scholars was 12.654, of teachers 1,713, and of schools 226. The work was prospering. Nearly all the schools used the International Series of Lessons, and, by the blessing of God, it seemed to bring forth fruit unto life eternal. As a county association they had not held a Convention this year, as the provincial meeting was within the county. The Business Committee had, however, met to-day, and elected the office-bearers for the next year. He believed many of the schools which were formerly closed in winter were now to be kept open. In the Township of Peel, the banner township in Sabbath School work, they kept their Sabbath Schools open all the year through, and he hoped that would be an example to others. If they gave it a trial, he believed that, the grace of God helping them, they would succeed. Last winter they kept up a Sabbath School Institute in the village of Fergus, and he thought it would be a great benefit to others to adopt the same course, if they only took up the Sabbath day lesson. They regretted that a great many in different parts of the county did not attend Sabbath School or church, but a word spoken in season would lead them to cast in their lot with them and become children of God.

Mr. D. McKinnon, Secretary of the County of Peel Sabbath School Association, asked what elements in Wellington rendered it the banner county, because he was from the County of Peel, which

had originated the Convention.

Rev. W. MILLARD said it would depend on what feature should decide the matter. He had attended the last County Convention in Peel. It was held in a large church. He got in towards the close of the first session, and he was surprised to see the multitude of teams that were hitched up to every corner and nook they could put them into; and although they had a large amount of sheding there, they had not room for them. They raised \$125 without any trouble, and he did like that. He did not love money a bit, but he liked that sort of goodness which reached the pocket, and he abominated the stinginess which would hold on to a five cent piece, as Mr. Thompson had said, till it pinched a hole in it. (Laughter.) They did something else at that Convention—they sent \$50 to the Sabbath School Association of Canada. (Applause.)

A DELEGATE remarked that they had a little Peel in the County

of Wellington, a Township of that name.

PEEL

Mr. McKinnon presented a summary of the Sabbath Schools in the County of Peel. Only 64 schools had sent in their reports,

llowed every almost g such s sake,

r, will rts one rithout id will iy new

ork as ogress. nter to certain onven-Day, so a colvillage,

ntes on sent to power attered out one us, but nced in

parent

an imhrough k; the s over schools

blackperson

6,000 rts, for port of

though they had about 86 in the county. There were 209 officers. or about three to each Sabbath School; 461 teachers, or seven to each; 4,649 pupils, or about 75 in each school, or a teacher for every 10 pupils on an average; 16 schools held teachers' meetings, about one in four; 50 out of 64 had quarterly reviews; 16 used black. boards, one in every four; 59 used the International Lessons, all but five of those that reported; there were 8,463 books in the libraries; there was one Mission School, supported by the Presbyterian Church at Barber's factory in Streetsville; 116 pupils were reported as having been received into the Church from the schools, but only 15 schools reported under this head, so it was about seven from each; \$201 50 had been contributed for missionaries by 14 schools; \$1,520 had been raised for the support of the schools, about \$30 for each school: the largest school had spent \$200 on itself, the smallest had been run on \$5; as to denominations, 24 were Canada Methodists, 11 Presbyterians, 11 Union, 9 Primitive Methodist, 5 English Church, 5 Episcopal Methodist, 3 Congregational, and 2 Baptist; they held a County Convention yearly, three Township Conventions (Caledon, Toronto, and Chingacousy), and 16 Sabbath School Institutes; they had raised from \$100 to \$150 last year, of which they had contributed \$50 to the Provincial Association. There was a hearty interest taken in Sabbath Schools throughout the whole County of Peel.

Rev. E. B. RYCKMAN: 86 schools against 226 in the County of Wellington. I speak on behalf of Wellington.

Mr. Smellie explained that he had alluded to the township or Peel as the banner township of Wellington.

HALDIMAND.

Rev. James Black said the work was making progress in Haldimand. They had just held their Twelfth Annual County Convention in the Village of Caledonia, and it had been about the best they ever had. About 140 Sabbath School teachers from all parts of the county were present, and the discussions were very interesting and instructive. Reports on information had been received from 66 schools, in which there were 512 teachers, and a little over 5,000 scholars. Only about 12 of these schools reported that they had teachers' meetings for the study of the lessons. In 51 the International Lessons were in use. There were about 10,000 volumes in the libraries. \$1,110 had been raised for the support of the schools during the past year; but he was sorry to say only \$51 was reported for missionary purposes, though some reports received afterwards made it more. As to denominations, 16 of the schools were Canada Methodists, 14 Union, 9 Presbyterian, 8 Episcopalian, 6 Primitive Methodist, 6 Episcopal Methodist, 6 Baptist, 2 Evangelical Association, 1 Un several of tion had l considerabl and the in more mark such a lar Church as Rev. Mr

that these sionary pur ist Church. The PRE

reported to

The PRE able to int Lesson Con Committee, Hamilton, Mr. Mc

Report sett the Interna A little

who had a then recent of selecting ternational time. The thanks to givings has and, I trus Now, with due, and it

The lesso The first 1 and entitled last lesson designated of the Y. latter was c Presbyteria the Convent cers.

n to

very

bout

ack-

but

ies:

rch,

ving 100ls

50

had

ool;

been

, 11 irch, they

ions

asti-

they

as a

hole

y of

p of

aldi-

tion

they the

and

66

,000

had

nter-

s in

ools

rted

ards

nada

itive

soci-

ation, I United Brethren, and I Disciples. It was probable that in several of the townships there were schools of which no information had been received by the Secretary. There was, however, a considerable increase, since the last time the statistics were taken, and the increase in the number of pupils and teachers was much more marked. They had never before had the pleasure of reporting such a large number of teachers and scholars received into the Church as during the past year. He believed the number was 268.

Rev. Mr. SHEPHERD said he thought they ought not to understand that these reports showed the full amount of money given for missionary purposes. He knew they did not with regard to the Methodist Church.

The PRESIDENT said the Secretaries could only report what was reported to them.

THE INTERNATIONAL LESSON COMMITTEE.

The PRESIDENT said the Business Committee had thought it desirable to introduce to the Convention a member of the International Lesson Committee. They knew that Canada was represented on that Committee, and he now introduced Mr. A. Macallum, LL.B., of Hamilton, the Canadian representative.

Mr. McCallum, who was received with applause, presented a Report setting forth the origin, proceedings and accomplishment of the International Lesson Committee:

A little over five years ago I was informed that my friends who had attended the International Sabbath School Convention, then recently held at Indianapolis, had conferred the great honour feelecting me as one of the two Canadian members of the International Sabbath School Lesson Committee, organized at that time. The honour has been fully appreciated; and with many thanks to my kind friends, the task undertaken with some misgivings has been fulfilled with both pleasure and profit to myself, and, I trust, not without some benefit to the Sabbath School world. Now, with the work nearly completed, this acknowledgment seems due, and it is accordingly presented.

The lessons for the time allotted—seven years—have been selected. The first lesson for 1873 was taken from Genesis, chapter i, and entitled, "God the Creator of all things by Jesus Christ;" the last lesson for 1879 is taken from Revelation, chapter xxii., and designated "The last words." The former was selected in the rooms of the Y. M. C. A., New York; on the 24th of May, 1872; the latter was chosen on the 28th March last in the vestry of the Second Presbyterian Church, Indianapolis—the church in which was held the Convention at which the Lesson Committee was initiated five

years previously. The meetings of the Committee have been held in New York five times, and once at each of the following places; Niagara Falls, Philadelphia, New London, Connecticut, Chicago and Indianapolis; the eleventh and last meeting will take place on the evening preceding the next meeting of the International Sabbath School Convention at the time and place that may be appointed for that gathering. The attendance at these meetings has been very good: at the one held in March last the whole Committee was present except the Rev. Dr. Newton, who, on account of its being Passion Week, was prevented by parish duties from attending. Those of you who were at the Convention in Belleville, will, I am sure, remember him with pleasure. Your representative has been at all the meetings except the one held in New York, in June, 1872, to complete the selections for 1873; for at our first meeting the work for six months only was completed.

The personnel of the Committee during these five years has changed but slightly. Geo. H. Stuart, of Philadelphia, was, from pressure of other public engagements and ill health, compelled very reluctantly to retire. In his place the Committee appointed J. B. Tyler, Esq., of the same city. In the removal to the better country of the Hon. H. P. Haven, the Committee lost the valuable aid of a devoted servant of God and an ardent supporter of Sabbath Schools; and the vacance thus caused was supplied by the appointment of Franklin Fairbanks, Esq., of Vermont, a very zealous worker in this great cause. The only other change to which I need allude was, if you will excuse the expression, no change at all; as it occurred by the removal of my colleague, the Rev. Dr. Gibson, from Montreal to Chicago. At the inception of the scheme the Committee consisted of ten Americans and two Canadians; there are now eleven of the former and one of But at our work such a thing as even an allusion to country/never takes place; the aim is solely to do the right, and offer all our works to God.

The Committee consists of an equal number of clergymen and laymen, one of each belonging to the following denominations; Methodist Episcopal Church, Baptist Church, Presbyterian Church, Episcopal Church, Congregational Church, and a Presbyterian and Methodist from Canada.

Truly the success of the plan has exceeded all calculation; in the history of Christian effort it is unparalleled, for at the present time the lessons are used by more than 6,000,000 Sabbath School pupils in Canada, the United States, England, Ireland, Scotland, Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Germany, Switzerland, Italy, Turkey, India, China, Japan, the Sandwich Islands, and Australia—a zone of light that encircles the globe.

But this is not all; greater attention is being paid to Sabbath School teaching and far more to the exegesis of Scripture in connection w and there relation en the true come. "acuteness powers the intellect p while the prove an en

Heaven lessons sha

Professor the singin the benedi

The Con in the Cha near the C Psalm and

The Mi
The Re
ness of the elected Pr
ants of Gu
known ver
Province,
you have a
fill the ch
pleasure is asking Da
of the Asse

The Progentlemen

een held

places .

ago and

e on the

Sabbath

nted for

en very

tee was

ts being

g. Those

ım sure.

n at all 1872, to

the work

changed

essure of

luctantly

Hon. H. l servant vacancy

airbanks.

se. The

xcuse the

al of my

At the mericans

nd one of

llusion to

and offer

men and

inations;

Church.

erian and

n; in the

sent time

pupils in

Norway, y, India, e of light

Sabbath

re in con-

nection with the rising generation; the work progresses hopefully, and therein is afforded a beautiful exemplification of the intimate relation existing between the proper observance of the Sabbath and the true development of mind. We are working for all time to come. "For," as it has well been expressed, "it is not the abstract acuteness and capacity of any mind, but the proper direction of its powers that should be a matter of tender solicitude; a splendid intellect prostituted to the advocacy of error may be a fearful curse, while the humblest talents plighted to truth and wisely directed may prove an enduring blessing."

Heaven and earth may pass away, but the influence of these lessons shall never cease. In the beautiful words of Dr. Doddridge—

"A work so sweet, a theme so high, Demands and crowns eternity."

Hymn 39-"I love to tell the story."

Professor Sherwin having made an announcement in relation to the singing, the doxology was sung, and the First Session closed with the benediction, pronounced by Rev. Mr. Torrance.

SECOND SESSION.

The Convention re-assembled at 7.30 p.m., the retiring President in the Chair. The Church was filled. Hymn 45, "Jesus, keep me near the Cross," was sung, and the Rev. M. Brock read the 19th Psalm and led in prayer.

Hymn 25-"We praise Thee, O God."

The Minutes of the First Session were read and sustained.

The RETIRING PRESIDENT then said: The next part of the business of the Convention is to introduce to the audience the newly elected President. He is a gentleman so well known to the inhabitants of Guelph, that he needs no introduction to them, and he is also known very well to all Sabbath School workers throughout this Province, as well as in other parts of the Dominion. I am sure all you have to do is to look at Dr. McGuire and me to see that he will fill the chair much more ably than I did. And now I have much pleasure in retiring from the presidency of the Association, and asking Dr. McGuire, who has been unanimously elected President of the Association for the year, to take the Chair. (Applause.)

ADDRESS BY THE PRESIDENT-ELECT.

The President-Elect, on assuming the Chair, said: Ladies and gentlemen of the Convention, I am deeply grateful to you for the

honour you have conferred upon me in electing me to the office of Under the guiding hand of God, I owe this position to the influences by which I was surrounded in early life. The prayers of a pious and devoted mother, and my early admission as a member of a Sabbath School class, have so shaped my course that to-day I have found favour in the eyes of God's people, and have been elected President of this Convention. The honour brings with it a responsibility which I would not have accepted if I were not sure that I would have the sympathy and assistance of many of my brethren who have been long at the helm of this Association. We are as ambassadors for Christ, and if our hearts are in the work which has called us together, we will avail ourselves of every opportunity to lead children to Jesus, for they, thus brought to Christ, are often used as the instrument in God's hand for the conversion of their parents. There are two incidents in the history of a teacher, which I shall relate for the encouragement of teachers who may be disheartened. The first occurred in a family where there were two The parents had not received a religious education, and consequently took very little interest in the education of their chil-But the teacher had made up her mind, if possible, to get the children to her class, and one Sabbath afternoon she left home earlier than usual, and called and asked the mother if they might attend her After they had been a year in the class, their lesson was the 3rd of John, and she was dwelling upon the 16th verse: "For God so loved the world, that He gave His only begotten Son, that whose ever believeth in Him should not perish, but have everlasting life;" she asked if we should thank God for the gift of His Son. "Yes," was the answer. Could we, she asked, thank Him aright with our wicked hearts? They replied, "No." What should we do then? They were silent. Should we ask God for new hearts? They all answered, "Yes;" and then she impressed upon their minds to thank God for everything, especially for the food they partook of. Little Mary returned home that Sabbath afternoon, and at the tea table she asked her father if she might ask God to bless the food. "Yes," he said, and she said this simple grace: "God bless this food, and give us new hearts." These words went to the hearts of the parents, and on the next Sabbath they asked the privilege of going to the school with the children. They went, and found Christ, and have lived pious and devoted lives ever since. The other was the case of an only son. The father wished him to go for a drive on the Sabbath afternoon. The boy preferred to go to the Sabbath School. The father said, sharply, "You must go with me;" and the boy did so. While driving, something in the vehicle broke, and George was thrown over a precipice about 30 feet, and only survived about three hours. I was called to see him, and I asked him: "Georgy, are you afraid to die ?" He said, "No, sir." He turned to his parents, and

asked them t songs of Zion self. I said, angels hover that God's a shall be heirs and asked to "There is a then started he never finis theme on ear in heaven; a given it. B to sing the heaven. Ma Master's serv outpouring o us as co-work Hymn 114

Rev. E. B. to the Conve dear Christia sav pleasure, the Christian who are gath misgiving en heart enough quately, but good people of a year past, v vears past tl household we with the succ some of you places in for coveted meet dent, in our upon the face we are renew of whom we your effective on such an oc asked them to sing to him of heaven. But they had not learned the songs of Zion, and only sobbed. He asked me if he might sing himself. I said, "Yes;" and he sang, though with difficulty, "There are angels hovering round," and then I realized, as I never did before, that God's angels are ministering spirits to minister to them who shall be heirs of salvation. He was much exhausted, but he revived. and asked to sing another. In a low voice, he sang three verses of "There is a fountain filled with blood." He halted an instant, and then started with the fourth verse, and when he came to "Shall be." he never finished the theme on earth. Redeeming love had been his theme on earth, and God would teach him that it will be his theme in heaven; and his spirit passed away, to be with God who had given it. Before the next Sabbath day, those parents had learned to sing the song on earth that their boy had learned to sing in heaven. May we be led to the entire consecration of our lives to the Master's service; and let our prayer in this Convention be for an outpouring of the Holy Spirit to realize the responsibilities upon us as co-workers together with Jesus. (Applause.)

Hymn 114, 2nd verse, was then sung.

office of

tion to

prayers

nember

o-day I

elected

responthat I

rethren

e are as

ich has nity to

re often

of their

, which be dis-

ere two

on, and

eir chilget the earlier end her

was the

or God

whoso-

g life;"

" Yes,"

ith our

o then?

They all

o thank

Little

ea table

"Yes,

od, and

parents,

to the

d have

case of

Sabbath

1. The

did so

ge was

at three

are you

nts, and

ADDRESS OF WELCOME.

Rev. E. B. RYCKMAN, M.A., then delivered an address of welcome to the Convention. He said: Mr. President, ladies and gentlemen, dear Christian friends,—I deem it a special honour, I might almost say pleasure, that I have been requested to address, in the name of the Christian people of this town, a few words of welcome to you who are gathered to this Convention. As I rise for this purpose, one misgiving enters into my mind, that I shall not be able to throw heart enough into the words that I may utter to convey, not adequately, but even approximately, the real warmth with which the good people of Guelph on this occasion receive and welcome you. For a year past, we have expected your coming with delight. For many years past the names of some of you have been as familiar to us as household words, and we have become acquainted to some extent with the success of your labours in the Sabbath School field. With some of you we have had the pleasure of similar meetings in other places in former years; and now, on the occasion of this first, this oveted meeting, as we were led to understand by the retiring President, in our town, pleasant indeed it is to grasp the hands and look upon the faces of brethren and sisters in Christ, with some of whom we are renewing acquaintances formed in the past, and with others of whom we have long had an unspoken friendship and sympathy in your effective service in this department of the Lord's work. Coming on such an occasion and on such an errand as this, you cannot be

strangers and foreigners, but fellow-citizens of the saints and of the household of God. As such, we greet you with cordial affection. You from the Province of Quebec-you from the United States we only wish there were more of you, or more like you-we receive with cordial affection; we bless you in the name of the Lord, and make you welcome to our town, to our homes, to our hospitalities and to our hearts. (Applause.) We desire to give you a real Irish welcome, although very few of us comparatively are Irish, and, although there are only 10,000 of us all told in our town, we give you a hundred thousand welcomes, and we would emulate the geniality of the warmest-hearted Emerald-Islander in the warmth of every one of them. (Applause.) I suppose the largest element of our population is Scotch, therefore I must give you a Scotch welcome. It may not be quite so warm outwardly, but it is very warm inwardly; like the mother's morning kiss, it is a real good welcome. (Applause.) We must go further, and give you an English welcome. That implies that, if we did not know you, we should have to guard ourselves by the prudence of reserve, until we should have ascertained whether you were worthy or not of our confidence and hospitality. (Laughter.) But we do know you for fellow-workers in the Lord, and so nothing remains but to throw open all the doors of home and heart, and to place before you the very best of all we have, and ourselves, at your service. (Applause.) An English welcome—that implies comfort. plenty, good cheer, and this, moreover, that you must sit a whole hour at least four times a day, with your legs under the mahogany or black walnut, as the case may be. (Laughter.) Now, we must go a step further. Many of us are native to this soil; some, like myself, without any English, Scotch or Irish blood in our veins; but, from whomsoever descended, or whencesoever we have come, we are Canadian—(loud applause)—and so we give you a Canadian welcome.

That implies that we are not to be outdone or outshone by any of these older nationalities that I have mentioned, but are going to gather the best traits of each—geniality, sagacity, super-serviceableness-and we are going to outrival them all if we can-and we can (applause)—in this Canadian welcome, which this good brother was so glad of before, and wanted again. We have no welcome to offer you as Methodists, or Presbyterians, or any particular branch of the Church of Christ. There is a good deal of denominationalism in this town of ours; but it is all baptized with the spirit of charity, and the churches of this town are dwelling and working together in amity; and I say at the outset that you will not hear much in any of the homes where you are entertained, at their firesides or tables, that will derogate from other denominations, or reflect upon other bodies of Christians. The Protestant denominations of this town are occupying together the broad platform of Christian charity and devotion, encouraging honesty and vital religion, and hatred of all lies and

to ourselve common Lo (Applause.) This is the land's royal have the ho reign that e Sovereign, upon us for it will not l We welcom work, and v minds and outside, it undervalue more than a to yourselv labourers to the little ch that the hu than any o a long time cannot avoi commencem interests, ar of giving t the young guiding tho declared hi orphan. T but do not i either becar They canno the way to because the as far as pos become the and thus le employment heaven mig hand, and le of your wo parents or t and train fo

important t

shams and o

d of the ffection. States_ receive ord, and italities. eal Irish sh, and. we give geniality of every ur popu-It may ly; like plause.) timplies urselves whether ughter.) nothing and to at your comfort. ole hour gany or ust go a myself, it, from we are velcome. y any of going to viceablewe can ther was to offer h of the in this and the amity; y of the that will odies of

occupy-

evotion,

lies and

shams and other evil things. (Applause.) We are trying to be true to ourselves and to the cause of humanity, and, above all, to our common Lord and Master, our Redeemer and Sovereign, Jesus Christ. (Applause.) Once more, we want to give you a royal welcome. This is the town of Guelph, and Guelph is the patronymic of England's royal house (hear, hear); Guelph is the family name, and we have the honour to bear it, of the most beloved and powerful sovereign that ever wore a crown or swayed a sceptre—our Most Gracious Sovereign, Queen Victoria. (Loud applause.) We admit your claim upon us for a princely entertainment; and if it falls short of regality, it will not be from want of heart or will, but from want of ability. We welcome you for your work's sake, for the nobleness of your work, and we regard that work as the noblest that can engage the minds and hearts of men. It may not make much show on the outside, it secures but little of human applause, perhaps is often undervalued; but after all it seems to us, dear brethren, that you, more than any other class of Christian workers, are entitled to apply to yourselves that scripture quoted this afternoon: "For we are behourers together with God." How deep is the divine interest in the little children! How is it there are little children? How is it that the human infant is stranded upon the shore of life more helpless than any other creature that comes into the world, and remains for a long time dependent upon others for existence and support. We cannot avoid the conclusion that the great Creator, in arranging the commencement of an undying career, had in view immortal, undying interests, and that all the helplessness of childhood is for the purpose of giving the best opportunities to make sure the right direction of the young mind and feet in paths of rectitude and duty; and in guiding those feet, you are "labourers together with God!" God has declared himself the Father of the fatherless, the friend of the orphan. There are poor fatherless ones whose parents are living, but do not instruct their children in the truths of their holy religion, either because they will not, or, more likely, because they cannot. They cannot teach their children to pray; they cannot show them the way to Christ; they cannot teach them to sing these holy songs, because they never learned themselves. Blessed are ye, who supply as far as possible for these neglected ones that which they want, and become the fathers of the fatherless, the mothers of the motherless, and thus lead them and teach them and bring them to Christ. No employment can be more noble than this. The highest archangel in heaven might covet the task of taking an immortal spirit by the hand, and leading it to Christ. We welcome you for the importance of your work, and no work can be more important. Ye who, as parents or teachers, have little children committed to you to instruct and train for the heavenly kingdom, are engaged in a work far more important than the administration of the affairs of any earthly kingdom. To train one child for heaven is far more important than the government of an empire. I speak advisedly, for when the empire shall have crumbled to decay—when all the kingdoms of the earth shall have perished—when the sun shall have burnt to the socket and gone out—the career of that immortal being will but have barely commenced:

"The sun is but a spark of fire,
A meteor in the sky,
A soul, immortal as its sire,
Shall never, never die."

We consider all this in estimating the importance of your work Never were these things so understood and believed as in the present day. What a large place the little child occupies in the thoughts of the present day. Compare it with former ages. Take the Lacedemonian custom, where the child was taken from its parents, and put out to be educated at the public expense. There were no homes or households among them in the sense in which we employ these words. This was because the whole shape of their society was intended for the cultivation of a nation of warriors; for the development of the greatest muscular power, and the least moral sense; simply for the cultivation of brawn, rather than the cultivation of a higher nature: the strength of the lion, the endurance of the bear, the courage of the bull-dog, the swiftness of the eagle, the cunning of the foxthese were the things aimed at amongst them. But amongst us, the aim is the cultivation of the higher nature rather than the lower. though not to the neglect of the lower. Compare the status of the child to-day with what it was 1,000 years ago, or less. There was a long, dark period, when the household was regarded as impure, so that it was thought best that holy men should hold themselves aloof from the family relation altogether. And what chance was there for the child then? when the highest ideal of Christian character required that the man appointed to teach men in sacred things should be celibate, and that he to whom the instruction of the children could be most safely entrusted, must never know the sweet feelings What a state of the world! What a poor chance for the children! Now the centre of interest is the children; now the church's right arm is its Sunday Schools. Our magnificent libraries, our carefully selected studies, our teachers' meetings, our provincial and district conventions, attest the immeasurable importance of the glorious work in which you are engaged. We welcome you on account of the usefulness of your work. We ourselves are the beneficiaries of this blessed institution, the Sabbath School; and the homes you are visiting are the better for it; and you yourselves will do us good in this visit; you will infuse new blood into our veins, and new spirit into our hearts; and you will drop many a seed of truth which we shall take up and watch and pray over, until it shall produce the fruit of ab fully, becau you are g almost pass convention think of the overlook do the true see of sheaves.

So we ming name of the the Lord Je this occasion Professor

Rev. D. address on a endeavour i few pegs on selected for methods of say it had a methodical, teaching that slightly the of the Teach as the topic

In the first as one that not quote th

fruit of abiding spiritual good. We welcome you heartily and gracefully, because of the good influences you bring amongst us. Some of you are growing old in this work. Your days of usefulness are almost past. You will not have the privilege of attending many more conventions, and will be soon called to pass over the river. We think of this. This Convention may be your last. Our thoughts overlook death and the grave, and look forward to the time when all the true servants of God shall be gathered together, their arms full of sheaves.

"Ten thousand times ten thousand, In sparkling raiment bright, The armies of the ransomed saints Throng up the steps of light.

'Tis finished, all is finished,
Their fight with death and sin;
Fling open then the golden gates,
And let the victors in.

Oh! then, what rapturous greetings On Canaan's happy shore; What knitting severed friendships up, Where partings are no more."

 S_0 we mingle these hopes of heaven and heavenly joy; and so, in the name of the Christian brotherhood of Guelph, and in the name of the Lord Jesus Christ, we give you a hearty welcome amongst us on this occasion. (Loud applause.)

Professor Sherwin recited and sang, "Rock of Ages."

THE METHODS OF THE GREAT TEACHER. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE TEACHING OF CHRIST.

Rev. D. J. Macdonnell, B.D., was then introduced to deliver an address on "The Methods of the Great Teacher." He said: I shall endeavour in the twenty minutes allotted to me to present to you a few pegs on which thoughts may hang on this topic which has been selected for me. In one way it is very difficult for us to discuss the methods of the teaching of Jesus. In some respects we may almost say it had no method; it was above all methods; it was the least methodical, the least formal, the least cribbed by any rules, of all teaching that we can think of. If you will allow me, I will change slightly the title of the address, and will call it "The Characteristics of the Teaching of Christ." It will serve, I think, the same purpose as the topic which, in somewhat different words, was suggested to me.

In the first place, Christ's teaching was authoritative. He spoke as one that had authority, we read, and not as the scribes. He did not quote the Fathers; He did not turn up old musty volumes of

an the

empire

e earth

ket and

barely

work.

present

ghts of Lacede-

and put

omes or

words.

of the

for the

nature ;

rage of e fox—

us, the

lower,

of the

e was a oure, so es aloof

s there

aracter should

hildren

feelings

nce for

ow the

braries,

ovincial

of the

account

ficiaries

nes you

us good

nd new

which

uce the

theology or ethics, that from them He might quote what would back His own opinion. No; even when He dealt with the Old Testament Scriptures, He said, "It hath been said by them of old time," so and so, "but I say unto you." He dogmatized, to use the term used in these days of liberty of thought, when everyone thinks it wrong for anyone last himself to dogmatize. Emphatically, Jesus was a dog. matic teacher and preacher. He never allowed anyone to differ from Him. He did not say, "Every man has a right to his own opinion, but I think so and so;" but He said, "What I am telling you is the truth, disbelieve it at your peril." He was dogmatic. He never hesitated. He did not always answer people's questions, but when He chose to answer them, He did not hesitate as to what He was to say, but the answer came-clear, calm and convincing to those who heard. He was an authoritative, dogmatic teacher. Now, I presume that one object to be kept in view is to point out how we may imitate Jesus in our Sunday teaching. Can we imitate Him in this? Has the Sunday School teacher the right to sit down before his or her class and speak to the little ones as Jesus spoke to the crowds that heard him? No, and yes. No, brother or sister, if you speak in your own name; yes, if you speak in the name of Christ. When you are speaking to the little ones, or the big ones either the words of the Lord Jesus, you don't need to say, "I think so and so," but "this is so; about this there is no appeal." There are plenty of matters about which you may differ; but when you are speaking of things which are clearly enforced in life and in death by the Lord Jesus Christ, then you can be, and you ought to be, dogmatic.

Secondly, the teaching of Jesus Christ was illustrative. The whole of the parables show that. I shall not dwell on it. The reason why Jesus excelled all other teachers who ever spoke in parables—and there have been many before and since who have spoken wisely and tenderly in parables—was that He, by whom God made the worlds, saw into the heart of nature, and was able to show how the world of nature was analogous to and the reflection of the world of spirit; how the outer had been made by God to be the suitable husk in which the inner kernel was to be imbedded. Can we imitate Jesus in this? Yes; and it is the duty of every teacher to furnish his or her mind with illustrations taken from God's book of human nature and His other book of human life to enforce the teachings of this book. "The kingdom of heaven is like." We know how young and old ones like to hear us say something is "like."

Thirdly, the teaching of Jesus was suggestive. It was not completely rounded. He did not take hold of a point of truth and work round and round it and exhaust it, so that you could say, "I thoroughly understand all about that." I do not believe He ever taught all about a thing, because, I suppose, He knew that, to human minds, was an impossibility. He presented to men lines of truth

stretching thoughts a larger and been prese far from practical secular an history of ship and d God as in Can we in School, in to be a tes ones thin minds the manhood it. There lightly an woman, o It was the Providence thing far

Fourth great deal upon. Hye cannot Will it no "There a life and them now the milk are of full Again,

Again,
apparent lose it; h
it; "H
cannot be
a hundre
all—and
He must
a hundre
message t
to be rep
interpret
literal tru
the other

stretching away into infinity; and He set them thinking, and their thoughts are going on still, and the thought of the world is growing larger and larger from these germs which Jesus planted, which have been preserved through the centuries in this book, and which are far from exhausted yet. And in spite of all the scepticism and practical ungodliness, all the materialism, all the engrossment in secular and lower things of this age, there never was a time in the history of the Church and of the world when so much talent, scholarship and devotion was being spent on the illustration of the word of God as in this latter part of the nineteenth century. (Applause.) Can we imitate Him in this? Yes; and we ought, in the Sabbath School, in the pulpit, and in the day school. Everyone who wants to be a teacher wants to teach suggestively, wants to make the little ones think. We want teaching that will just put into the young minds these little germs of thought that will go on growing through manhood into old age. Our friend who has sung to us has illustrated it. There was the thoughtless maiden singing "Rock of Ages" lightly and trippingly, and then there was the contrast of the dying woman, or the bereaved one singing the same words over the dead. It was the germ expanding, and, under the teaching of God and His Providence, becoming to the woman and to the sorrowing one something far beyond what it had originally been to the maiden.

Fourthly, in His teaching Jesus was reticent. He kept back a great deal. This is closely akin to what I have just been dwelling upon. Here is His way: "I have many things to say unto you, but ye cannot bear them now." It is like a motto for His teaching. Will it not be the case with every wise teacher to say in his heart, "There are many things I have to say to these little ones concerning life and God, and the deep things of God's word, but I cannot say them now; I must wait until God has prepared the soil; I must give the milk to the babes; I must keep the strong meat for those who

are of full age."

d back

tament

so and

ased in

ong for

a dog-

er from

pinion.

1 is the

never

t when

was to

se who

I pre-

we may

Him in

before

e to the

if you

Christ.

her, the

and so," lenty of

king of

ne Lord

e whole

son why es—and

ely and

worlds.

world of

spirit;

husk in

e Jesus

h his or

nature

s of this

v young

ot com-

nd work say, "I

He ever

o human

of truth

Again, the teaching of Jesus was full of paradoxes; that is, of apparent contradictions. Such as—"He that loveth his life shall lose it; he that hateth his life in this world for my sake, shall find it;" "He that cometh to me and hateth not father and mother, cannot be my disciple;" "He that leaves all for my sake shall have a hundredfold more in this present life—fathers and mothers and all—and in the world to come life eternal." There are paradoxes. He must hate father and mother, and yet if he comes he shall have a hundredfold more. "Woe unto you that are rich"—and it is a message that needs to be repeated in this very age, if ever it needed to be repeated—"for you have received your consolation." Without interpretation or modification, the words contain a simple, bare, literal truth concerning the majority of rich men, I am afraid. On the other hand, He bids us make friends to ourselves of the mammon

of unrighteousness, turning to account the riches which so often become a curse, turning them into blessings, and purchasing friends to receive us into everlasting habitations. Some people, in reading the New Testament, get hold of one side of one or other of these truths, and misrepresent to themselves and to others the teaching of Jesus. They get a lop-sided truth, which is quite as bad as an error often. We want, then, to try and bring the children to the test of the experience of the Christian. These paradoxes are illustrated by the Christian life. If you are a living Christian child, you will understand them in your measure. If you are a live Christian man or woman, you will understand them. You will understand what it means to forsake everything; but you cannot expect the child of six or eight to take that in as well as the man of sixty, who has passed through life's trials and changes, will take it; that is, if he has learned of Christ, and been taught by Christ all through. Let us impress upon those we are teaching that this is the only key to the understanding of these paradoxes. There are many other readings not quite so paradoxical, which need the life to be understood For instance, "It is more blessed to give than to receive," which we often quote, I fear often lightly and trippingly. How could you convince the man of selfishness and covetousness, whose motto is, "Make money honestly if you can, but, anyhow, make money;"-how could you make him understand that without the inner eye? Most of us think it is more blessed to receive than to give.

Then, the teaching of Jesus was adapted to various classes and individuals. He talked in one way to the fishermen and peasants in Galilee, and in a very different way to the doctors and cultivated men of Jerusalem. There is a contrast between the teaching recorded in Matthew, Mark and Luke, which was chiefly in Galilee, and that in John, which was in Jerusalem. Again, what a contrast there is between His speaking to His disciples, when they are hanging upon His lips and listening to the things of the kingdom of heaven, and the scathing language which He uses to the Pharisees, the self-constituted leaders of the people. When conversing with Nicodemus, the learned, well-instructed Jew, He uses one manner, as He unfolds to him the meaning of His own sacrifice by the simile of the lifting up of the serpent in the wilderness, in those words which have perhaps dwelt more than any others in the hearts of God's people-"God so loved the world, that He gave His only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish, but have everlasting life." But to the woman of Samaria He speaks as to an ill-instructed woman; speaks first of His earthly necessities, and says: "If thou knewest the gift of God, and who it is that saith to thee, Give me to drink, thou wouldst have asked of Him, and He would have given thee living water;" and then He goes on to speak about that water of life; and the whole Church has learned to sing about it

weary soul spirit. H "Master, v well-condu a good nei Jesus, look in him; a when Jesu much; he Jesus saw heart on t Zaccheus, ently Jesus to dine wi man, to be had not ke cast out ar all were do You know all feel he He did not but treated word being to the poor accusation, heart did th parables ar following c We have Martha, an the distinct who has si won't repen Preaching t vidually, bu the weak sp Again, th

through th

kingdom.
twelve Apo
from the m
and see how
sists merely
tion of the
was progres
as the Seni-

often

riends

ading

these

ching

as an

to the

illus-

d, you

ristian

rstand

ct the

, who

t is, if

. Let

key to

read-

stood.

ich we

d you

tto is,

-how

Most

s and

nts in d men

ded in

hat in

ere is

n, and lf-con-

lemus,

nfolds

lifting

e per-

ople—

, that

asting

ructed

thou

ve me

have

t that

out it

through the centuries, and it has become a mine of truth to many a weary soul trying to find that which will quench the thirst of the spirit. He spoke in another way to the young man who said : "Master, what shall I do to inherit eternal life?" Respectable, moral, well-conducted, refined, externally everything that could be desired : a good neighbour, a good citizen, a good member of a family; and Jesus, looking on him, loved him, delighted in the goodness he found in him; and yet the young man knew that there was a lack. But when Jesus said: "Go, sell all that thou hast; follow me," it was too much; he went away sorrowful, because he had great possessions. Jesus saw he was suffering from covetousness; he was setting his heart on the perishable things of the world. But take the case of Zaccheus, who had cheated and swindled to be rich; see how differently Jesus deals with him. "Make haste; come down; I am going to dine with you to-day." Zaccheus wanted, as well as the young man, to be told to sell. Here was a man who was not refined, who had not kept all the commandments like that rich young man, but was cast out and despised, and had not a chance of being good, because all were down upon him; and Jesus says: "I will be your guest." You know how good that is, how hospitality does you good, as you all feel here at present. So that was the beginning of the change. He did not talk to Zaccheus about the water of life, or the new birth, but treated him as a fellow man; and Zaccheus directly, without a word being said, said: "Behold, Lord, the half of my goods I give to the poor; and if I have taken anything from any man by false accusation, I restore him fourfold." Such insight into the human heart did this master of teaching and preaching possess. Except the parables and the Sermon on the Mount, and the 14th and 15th and following chapters of John, we have very few set discourses of Jesus. We have only stray conversations, such as those with Mary and Martha, and with Peter, the awful sinner but the penitent man; and the distinction between the wicked and the good is between the man who has sinned and repented, and the man who has sinned and won't repent. I would say to you, fellow teachers, study character. Preaching to 500 or 1,000 people, you cannot study character individually, but with half a dozen little boys you can. Learn what is the weak spot in their character: diagnose their disease.

Again, the teaching of Jesus was progressive to those within His kingdom. This is illustrated by His teaching and training of the twelve Apostles. Read the Sermon on the Mount first, and then from the middle of the 13th to the end of the 17th chapter of John, and see how progressive Jesus was in His teaching. The first consists merely of rules for the guidance of life; the other is a revelation of the mysteries of heaven—Father, Son, Spirit, heaven. There was progress. We expect the Infant Class to learn the same lesson as the Senior Class. The hardest teaching is the teaching of the

Infant Class; and the teacher who is successful with that is a perfect success as a teacher. (Applause.) I wish, however, we had something approximating to a set of lessons suitable for the little ones and another set for the others.

Lastly, Jesus always spoke about Himself; He was the constant theme of His teaching. If He had been anything else than the Son of God, it would have been something awful, the way He talked about Himself. I, I, I; it is Himself He preaches from beginning to end. Can we imitate Him in that? Yes, in two ways. First. by holding up, not ourselves, but Him, to our scholars; holding Him up as the beginning, the middle and the end of salvation and life to children as well as to the old. And in another sense, as His life was the background of His words, so that men could not understand the words unless they looked at the background of the words, as they reflected light upon one another, so we in our measure, as lights in the world, we who are teachers of others, ought so to be living apostles of Christ that our children should not only hear our words but should read us and take us for an ensample, and in both ways we ought to keep Christ before the children. "If any man hear these sayings of mine and doeth them not, he is like a man that built his house upon the sand; and the rain descended, and the floods came, and the winds blew, and beat upon that house, and it fell; and great was the fall thereof." (Applause.)

Hymn 18-"Rescue the perishing."

A collection amounting to \$43 20 was then taken up.

THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE MOST EXPERIENCED CHRISTIANS TO ENGAGE IN THE WORK.

Rev. W. Williams, of Hamilton, delivered an address on "The Obligations of the most Experienced Christians to engage in the Work." After a few introductory remarks, he said he should not divide his topic into several heads. He thought about one head was enough for any body (laughter), and if he found the body of the subject had one head, he should be content to let it speak for itself. He felt the importance of the occasion and of the topic assigned to him. He did not know why he had been selected to speak about the old folks except it was that some people had an impression that he was older than he was twenty years ago. (A laugh.) The Sabbath School, as an institution, was a young organization. He did not mean to say the principles upon which it was based were new. They certainly were not the outgrowth either of the present century or of the one which immediately preceded it; but the Sabbath School was a comparatively new organization. It could not be illustrated by the pyramids,

still causin voices of o vigorous t the heave the earth' beneath it to those v with assid institution ciples. V and the se was an in was enjoin lay at the adaptabili said in th the age, a many and dug their had said, utterance here still Let them of the day Sabbath S Did it de as membe as intelle and relat and to th who was children : material, children largely to instruction they ask an interp commit t we take teachers. and teacl young fo Such an

which had

nations.

perfect d somele ones constant he Son talked ginning First. ng Him life to His life lerstand as they ights in apostles t should ought to yings of ise upon

STIANS on "The

he winds

the fall

e Work."
ivide his
s enough
bject had
e felt the
He did
old folks
was older
bool, as an
e say the
nly were
ne which
compara-

yramids,

which had outworn the wear and tear, the rise and fall of successive nations. It could not be spoken of as an old ruin, grand in its decay, still causing us to seem to hear the wail of the dying and the hoarse voices of conflict in the days of old. It was rather like a young and vigorous tree, planted by kindly and godly hands, growing towards the heaven, spreading its foliage widely over an increasing portion of the earth's surface, and inviting the young of all nations to repose beneath its shelter, and enjoy the fruit it so richly bore. All honour to those who planted the tree, and to those who still cultivated it with assiduous care and deep and constant anxiety! But, while the institution itself was comparatively new, it was built upon old principles. When the brow of Sinai was lighted with the glory of God, and the sound of the trumpet called the attention of the people, there was an injunction given in relation to the young, and an apostle was enjoined to feed the lambs of the Saviour's fold. That principle lay at the root of all Sabbath Schools. It was an instance of the adaptability of the Christian religion to different ages. Men had said in their folly that Christianity was fossilized, that it was behind the age, and that we must advance. And men had advanced over many and many a field in the great territory of knowledge; they had dug their way painfully down into the earth, and from their researches had said, "We are far in advance of Christianity;" but before the utterance had fallen from their lips, Christianity had said, "I am here still in advance, leading the thought and the power of the age." Let them rejoice that Christianity did adapt itself to the requirements of the day; and one of its most direct applications was found in the Sabbath Schools. What was the great purpose of the Sabbath School Did it deal with children as mere animals? Did it train them merely as members of a social collection of people? Did it treat them only as intellectual creatures, or as beings to be prepared for the duties and relations of later life, and to be lifted up to communion with God and to the enjoyment of the glory to come? Then came the question, who was to take charge of the institution-who was to train the children for God and for eternity? Who was to say whether the material, the immaterial, the mental, moral or spiritual needs of the children were to receive the most attention? These questions were largely to be determined by the character of the people who, and the instruction which, were brought into contact with the children. If they asked who were to train the children, the answer, if it were an interpretation of the conduct of many churches, would be, "We commit the children to those who are but little older than themselves; we take those who have just left the Bible Class, and make them teachers." The young people were made superintendents, officers and teachers; the old people retired, and left the young to train the young for the great destinies of life and the rewards that followed. Such an institution was too important, too solemn, to be left entirely

in the hands of such as these. They needed the impetuosity of youth the hopefulness of early life. They needed the vigour and the sanguine temperament of the young, in order that they might place those elements in close contact with those who received their instruction: but then—he would not utter the statement in a political sense—they must remember that the young were essentially radical-uprooting changing; prophetic in their view rather than retrospective, and many of their prophecies ending only in ruin, or at least in confusion or disappointment. Therefore, they should not leave the Sabbath School entirely to the care of the young, because they might spread too much sail and have too little ballast. They might go forward under prosperous breezes, but were not prepared for the stress of the storm. We need to combine with the impetuosity of youth the experience, and caution, and wisdom of old age. Never did youth need this more emphatically than to-day. He had received a rebuke when going down the St. Lawrence which had taught him that there were no little boys and girls nowadays. A young lady of six or seven summers was indignant because he called her a little girl. "A little girl, sir," said she, "I am a young lady." (Laughter.) He did not apologize, though perhaps he looked a whole volume of apologies. (Laughter.) They were much in the position of the western farmer in regard to boyhood. He said, "I planted a pumpkin seed and ran home, but before I got there I found a full grown pumpkin in my pocket." (Laughter.) They saw a child, and it was not long before the child was at their side, perhaps behind a cigar, feeling assurance enough to sail a yacht, run a locomotive, or perhaps an ocean steamer, and quite competent in his own opinion to assume a partnership in his father's business, or perhaps to take the whole of it and send the old folks to the chimney corner. (Laughter.) Still, they had never had youth which had a better right to assert itself than it had to-day, because it was instructed youth, and largely so by the instrumentality of the Sabbath School. It had influenced the age by giving it a highly cultured and devoted youth, either in connection with their churches, or training for church fellowship and church membership. They ought to say something on behalf of the aged; and it might be that the friends on whose behalf they spoke were themselves partly to blame for being so waived aside. Were they not too ready to retire from active Sabbath School work, and to give way to the young? (Hear, hear.) When did they become too old to attend the Sabbath School ? When they said to their sons: "Well, my fine fellow, you find yourself too old to attend the Sabbath School," they might reply, "Well, papa, and so do you." He did not think the most aged present had found a period in life when he could well relinquish all the associations and responsibilities of the Sabbath School. Some time ago, he had spent a Sabbath in the State of Maine. The Sabbath School met after the service, and

there was age. (A) and he t. beheld. not the old to questio really did daughters School, wl example, a children t there coulthan the I the langua had thoug School su the outwa Sabbath S careless w and the w of Provide by side w smile of t that, in as a heaven t progress t smiled in world; the it might b who stood ripened re old schem lessened th beautified, teaching o reproducir of the gra parents in childhood its excelle: head and all the mo to their ex of that pa Christian

when the

f youth. he sance those uction ; e—thev rooting, ve, and nfusion Sabbath spread forward s of the ith the youth rebuke at there six or rl. "A He did ologies. farmer ed and okin in ot long feeling aps an sume a hole of Still. rt itself gelv so ced the in conip and of the ce were e they to give too old "Well, abbath

He did

hen he

of the

in the

e, and

there was a class of persons none of whom was under fifty years of age. (Applause.) They met the pastor, and conversed together; and he thought it one of the most delightful sights he had ever beheld. Why should not this be generally the case? Why should not the old folks, if they felt it irksome to be teachers, meet together to question each other, and explain to one another the lesson? He really did not see how they could reprove their grown-up sons and daughters for considering themselves too old to attend the Sabbath School, when they did not go with them there and show them the example, and say, "Come" rather than "Go." Let them set their children the example, and stay in the school. He did not know that there could be a brighter or more beautiful ornament to the school than the presence of the aged. This had been already expressed in the language of song. When the "Rock of Ages" was given, he had thought how many a young man and young lady in the Sabbath School sung it as lightly as was spoken of there. The song struck the outward ear, but penetrated not the heart. How often their Sabbath School instructions were given in that rapid, unthinking, careless way which showed a want of experience of divine influences, and the wisdom sometimes chastened by the sorrowful dispensations of Providence. Let them have the impetuosity of youth, but side by side with that let them have the weight of aged wisdom, the smile of those who were already on the verge of heaven, and felt that, in association with the young, they were there only to point to a heaven that was near, and lead the way. Old age was a gradual progress towards another childhood. There was a childhood which smiled in the cradle, and gave promise of a life to be spent in this world; there were the early indications of vigour, skill, wisdom, and, it might be, grasping greed, which appeared in the childhood of those who stood at their knee; but there was a childhood which was the ripened result of a long life's experience of divine things. The old schemes of life dropped off; the craft of those things which lessened the piety of middle age passed away; and old age, chastened, beautified, purified by the dispensations of divine Providence and the teaching of God's word, gently drew near to its second childhood, reproducing the simplicity of earlier life, and bringing to the verge of the grave the glories of the life that gladdened the hearts of parents in the years long gone by. Why should they not have that childhood in the Sabbath School—that beautiful simplicity, to reflect its excellences upon the children? Why should not the whitened head and joyous heart, the tremulous voice singing again the songs, all the more touching from the remembrance of years gone by, add to their exercises in the school-room? He could not help thinking of that part of the "Pilgrim's Progress" where Bunyan represented Christian and Hopeful entering heaven, and described what he saw when the gates were opened. Would their Sabbath Schools be less interesting and instructive, if hands took the Bible to-day which to-morrow might rest upon the handles of the pearly gates; if voices sang the songs of Zion to-day with the little ones, which to-morrow would join in the unending song before the throne? Would it be no benefit to the children to look into heaven as they climbed the summit with those who were just entering the city which God had prepared for His people? Then, with all honour to youth, and all encouragement to those who brought the gifts and graces of early life to bear upon Sabbath School work, they would say to the aged. "Do not be thrust aside and accept a premature superannuation; take your places in the Sabbath School, keep them there, and love your Sabbaths in the school as well as in the sanctuary; then will you not have to mourn the departure of young men from the school or to mourn when your children say they are too old to go there; for, in your presence, and with your example, such a voice dare not be heard." (Applause.)

Professor Sherwin sang "Jesus of Nazareth passeth by."

Rev. Charles Fish, of Cobourg, pronounced the benediction, and the Convention adjourned.

SECOND DAY-THIRD SESSION

WEDNESDAY, October 10th, 1877.

The Convention reassembled at 9 o'clock.

After devotional exercises, the Minutes of the Second Session were read and sustained.

Hymn 2—"Hallelujah! it is done."

INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE.

Mr. Edgar presented a report of the Business Committee, recommending that Rev. Dr. Castle and Mr. Macallum be the representatives of Canada on the International Uniform Lesson Committee.

The report was adopted.

THE TEACHER, HIS AIM.

Rev. C. GOODSPEED read the following paper on the subject of "The Teacher, his Aim":

This is doubtless thought a very commonplace subject; and so it is. The presumption is none the less but all the more strong, on this account, however, that it is an important one. For what are com-

monplaces moment, t jects of co ever, the c of them u possible to their high zeal and new as we any new o tion becau doubt as t ness of the to be solve womanbe exalted loving spi the other goodness, which are mortality woeful, as destiny so a fallen degradation swift, it i against it this is to Neither He has as of truth,

regenerat
Under
teacher's
whirling
what cou
young so
can we, i
die for ju
we may
and set
blessedne
at its sal
The te

holding t

monplaces but matters of such easily perceived and generally admitted moment, that they become well known through being made the subjects of continual thought and speech. On this very account, however, the charm of novelty and freshness has been lost, the discussion of them usually falls upon listless ears, and it becomes almost impossible to arouse such an interest in them as is commensurate with their high importance—such as will lead to action of proportionate zeal and energy. If, therefore, I am unable to bring forth things new as well as old on this subject-even if old ideas are not put in any new or striking form—I have a claim upon your earnest attention because of the importance of the theme itself. Can there be any doubt as to the great aim of the Sabbath School teacher, or the greatness of that aim? What are the factors which make up the question to be solved? On the one hand is the teacher, a regenerate man or woman-for I hold that none but those who are born again should be exalted to this high position—with a heart partaking of the tender loving spirit of the Lord Jesus, and yearning to do good to all. On the other hand, there is the young soul, endowed with possibilities of goodness, nobility and happiness, and of evil, degradation and misery. which are capable of boundless growth; endowed also with an immortality which assures the infinite advance into the blissful or the woeful, as God's own word assures us. While that soul is to have a destiny so glorious or so dreadful, it is already in the deadly grip of a fallen and depraved nature; its wholesbent is downward toward degradation and ruin. Although the current is not yet setting swift, it is so strong that the young soul is powerless to make way against its stream. Help must come to it, or it is lost. But while this is true, that soul is never more easily influenced than now. Neither is the teacher incapable of wielding an influence over it. He has as his aid, his power, the truth of God, supported by the God of truth, for has our Lord not promised to make the word of truth regenerating.

Under these circumstances, can there be any doubt as to the teacher's great aim? If a child were being sucked down in the whirling waters, and we were near at hand with the means of help, what could we do but attempt his rescue. And when we see the young soul being drawn down toward degradation, death and hell, can we, if we have any measure of that spirit which led our Lord to die for just such—can we, with the possibility, yea probability, that we may rescue this soul with its priceless freightage from such a fate, and set it on a progress up into the infinities of virtue, nobleness, blessedness—can we, I repeat, do anything else than aim, first of all,

at its salvation ?

y which

if voices

-morrow

ld it be

bed the

God had

, and all

of early

he aged,

n; take

ove your

will you

chool, or

ere ; for

e not be

tion, and

1877.

sion were

e, recom-

presenta-

ubject of

d so it is.

g, on this

are com-

nittee.

The teacher who is satisfied merely with amusing the pupils, or holding their attention, has surely never looked all the tremendous facts of the case in the face, or become conscious of the extreme

gravity of his responsibilities, for he is proving recreant to the highest and most sacred trust. Such a teacher should hasten to give place to one who will not fail to improve the golden opportunity to turn a soul toward heaven for the sake of seeing it go laughing down to perdition.

That teacher, also, who is satisfied with giving instructions of a secular character, such as may prepare the coming man or woman to gain worldly prosperity, almost equally fails. The Sabbath School teacher is a Christian teacher; the Bible is his text-book; while the Christ-like love in his heart will never permit him to rest, unless he is seeking the highest good of his pupils, which is the eternal Maxims of worldly prudence are excellent in their place; but when they take the place of the salvation of the soul as the chief aim, it is like attempting to show a man how he can prosper when a mountain is falling on his head, or he is sinking in the depths of the sea. Such a teacher had better seek, by deeply pondering, to become more deeply impressed with our Lord's warning words, "What shall it profit a man if he gain the whole world, and lose his own soul?"

But while the personal and eternal issues depending upon a child's salvation are the sufficient motive to induce the Sabbath School teacher to make this his chief aim, it is not the only motive, if it is the principal one. We too often forget the broad bearing of the salvation of a soul, and so fail to see its far-reaching significance. Perhaps there is no soul, whether saved or lost, that does not carry more than one other with it by virtue of its immediate and more remote influence. as it exhibits a lofty or low character, or throws its energies and sympathies for or against truth and virtue. As we should struggle more desperately to save a drowning man whose death grip was dragging others down with him to a watery grave, so that they might not also perish, so the Sabbath School teacher should take into account this perpetuation and increase of influence, which, like a growing stream, is to flow down through the centuries, multiplying the direct results of his labours by a countless number, if he would have his soul fully fired with zeal to lead his pupils to Christ.

But while thus the salvation of his pupils is to be the first and chief aim of the Sabbath School teacher, it should not be his whole aim. Does the physician seek only to save his patient? Does he not also strive to secure for him the most vigorous health, the greatest strength. So the teacher. He must not only seek to save the child, but also to prepare for the greatest spiritual vigour and growth. It is especially needful that this thought be insisted upon in these times. There are so many influences abroad tending to overshadow the need and duty of edification by that of salvation, as though, when a man is saved, and nothing more needs to be done. Whereas, if a man is only saved and nothing more—especially if he also conceive this same idea that, now he is saved, all is done—he will remain dwarfed, weak, useless,

nay, even a s in all our ch a dead weigh life and war state which and maimed and they are upon the cau sake of his evil which h good which evil compar motion an e woe are very to aim at s trical, strong its own wea fects other wicked beca new born b stimulate th and zeal; or of what is p a work which is second.

> But it ma is unregener Yes, verily. by which th Sabbath Scl saving truth can truth to The youth Christian li give the hel vital import before the n most Christ after conver this new life requirement habit, and Aim, then, t and far-reac type; aim others. Ar

ighest

place

urn a

wn to

s of a

nan to

School

le the

ess he

ernal.

when

, it is

intain

Such

leeply

rofit a

child's

eacher

prin-

ion of

there

n one

s and

ruggle

drag-

nt not

count

owing

direct

ve his

chief

aim.

t also

ength.

lso to

cially

re are

duty

saved.

saved

that,

seless,

nay, even a stumbling stone to others. How many do we see of such in all our churches, where they remain a continual grief to the pastor, a dead weight upon the church, whose standard they lower, whose life and warmth and power they chill and cripple. If there be any state which is second only to a lost state, it is this. Like many weak and maimed bodily, their spiritual life is without joy to themselves, and they are but a burden upon their fellow members, and an incubus upon the cause. If we should seek to save a child not merely for the sake of his own rescue, but much more for the sake of arresting the eril which his life of sin would bring upon many, and securing the good which he might be able to do to as many more—a good and an evil compared with which, in its accumulate amount, as it sets in motion an ever widening stream of influence, his own happiness and we are very small—then let the Sabbath School teacher not forget to aim at securing in the child, when saved, a broad, deep, symmetrical, strong spiritual life; a life which will not be miserable from its own weakness; a life which will not be an injury because it infects other Christians with its own low character, and repels the wicked because of its inconsistencies. But let him seek to make the new born babe a strong man or woman in Christ; one who shall stimulate the life of the Church by the electric currents of its love and zeal; one who shall lay hold upon sinners by the evident reality of what is professed. And in doing this let him feel that he is doing a work which is scarcely second to the saving of the soul itself, if it

But it may be asked, can the teacher do anything, while the pupil is unregenerate, to make the new life strong when it is received? Yes, verily. Just as the insect stores a supply of food with the egg by which the life which is not yet, may become strong, so can the Sabbath School teacher. Just as he seeks to store the mind with saving truth that it may be at hand when the soul is aroused, so also can truth to edify be provided for the soul when the new life begins. The youth may be taught to have a high conception of what a Christian life really is; he may be made to feel that God alone can give the help to meet the demands of this life. And it is of the most vital importance that the truth respecting the new life be in the mind before the new life begins. It is sadly true that the complexion of most Christian lives is chiefly determined within a very short period after conversion. If, therefore, the regenerate man or woman begins this new life without a firm persuasion of its lofty character, its broad requirements, a low type of Christianity is almost sure to become a habit, and the radiance and usefulness of that life are largely lost. Aim, then, to save the child, but aim also, for the sake of all the grand and far-reaching interests involved, to secure for the new life a lofty type; aim to make the saved one a very spiritual Samson to save others. Are there to be found any higher aims then these? Is there any work more fitted to kindle enthusiasm and nerve up to persevering effort? Let none, therefore, think meanly of this labour, for it takes rank above all other kinds of occupation, and is not second to the preaching of the gospel itself.

The teacher, in the third place, should aim at immediate results Although the old prejudice against youthful conversions is being gradually dispelled, yet it is to be feared that there is a too general suspicion still of the reality of the work wrought in the hearts of the young. Sabbath School teaching is looked upon almost altogether as bread cast upon the water, which shall be seen after many days, rather than as seed cast into the warmest and richest soil-a soil best prepared for immediate growth and fruitfulness. It is easy to be seen that the teaching of one who has this impression will lack point and earnestness. His whole effort will be to gain for saving truth a place in the mind, rather than a lodgment in the heart. Not expecting the child to be saved at present, he will not urge upon the child the need of immediate attention to his soul's welfare, neither will the truth be pressed home upon the conscience. There is the same difference between the teaching of such an one and a teacher who believes that it is his privilege to see his pupils saved immediately, that there is between the action of the man who calmly builds a life-boat for future use and him who pushes it forth into the boiling surf to save those who are struggling in the waves. No man, no woman, is fitted to be an enthusiastic and successful Sabbath School teacher, unless there is a full persuasion that the pupils may be and are to be immediately brought to the Saviour.

Is there any need to argue in this age that the young—the very young—may be savingly impressed by the truth, or that impressions then received may be deep and lasting. Every other impression then made, like the gash in the side of the sapling, is most profound and durable, being embodied in the very centre of the life, and why not religious and saving ones? When is the heart more in harmony with truth than then? When more ready to respond to what is tender in the love of Christ? When more ready, therefore, to yield to the strongest and highest motive of the gospel ? When is the soul more plastic, more capable of being influenced; when more free from resistance; when more submissive and obedient? But why argue in this abstract way when there are so many living examples-matters of fact which cannot be gainsayed—to which to appeal. Are they not in all our churches? It may not be so many of those who have professed a saving change at this early period, for they were not encouraged so to do, but those who refer their conversion to this early time. As to the reality and consequent permanence of the work wrought in those who do profess early let Spurgeon bear witness, who says that of all who united with his church when in childhood, none have gone back into the beggarly elements of the worlda statement years. But a time, if no soul, and ho seek and br

How man and young proportion of away from gregation, it grace, and g number of the citiesout upon th where the b Sabbath Scl and seeing within his a where hund energy to and secure the teacher, be seen aft his will be they go fort ordinary he sibility of i from death that he cou

But how under relig polluting c soon fold h shutting or of unhallow with fiercer time to be natural goo soon gird . tamination less the hop to tempora in the savi a dispositio School tead rsever.

, for it

cond to

results.

being

general

of the

ther as

y days,

-a soil

easy to

ill lack

saving Not

pon the neither

is the teacher

imme-

calmly nto the

o man,

Sabbath

ils may

he very

ressions

on then ind and

vhy not

armony

what is

to yield

the soul

ee from

rgue in

matters

re they

ho have

ere not

to this

of the

ear wit-

n child-

world—

a statement which, alas, cannot be made of those who united in riper years. But once admit and feel that in childhood and early youth is a time, if not the most favourable time, to secure the salvation of the soul, and how many motives appeal to the Sabbath School teacher to seek and bring his pupils at once to the Saviour.

How many of the children, even before they become young men and young women, drift away from the Sabbath School. A large proportion of these are from godless families, and when they drift away from the Sabbath School, they drift also away from the congregation, if they have ever attended, and away from the means of grace, and good influences generally. The only hope for the larger number of this class-and how mournfully large it is, especially in the cities—is in the truth taking fast hold upon them before they go out upon that terrible sea of boisterous folly and maddened iniquity, where the barks go down in darkness and the voyagers perish. Sabbath School teacher should feel like one standing upon the shore; and seeing a man swept up by the rushing current, for a moment within his reach, to be borne out again into the devouring breakers where hundreds have been engulphed, should he not strain every energy to draw his pupils forth at once upon the ground of safety, and secure them in the clefts of the riven rock, Christ Jesus? Does the teacher, who is satisfied with the hope that his instructions may be seen after many days, realize that perhaps to some of his pupils his will be the last hand stretched forth to save them; that when they go forth from his influence, they will be beyond the reach of all ordinary help; that upon him, therefore, is resting the grave responsibility of improving the last brief opportunity to rescue the child from death? Surely not. Could he fail, if he realized this, to feel that he could not rest until he saw all his class safe in the arms of Jesus ?

But however the child may be situated, whether he is to continue under religious influence or not, he is soon to go out into the restless, polluting currents of the world's life. The spirit of the world will soon fold him in, and bind him down to the selfish and the earthly, shutting out the higher life and his own higher interests. The fires of unhallowed passion will soon be kindling up in his soul, to burn with fiercer and fiercer heat. The craving of appetite is liable at any time to be aroused, and begin to gnaw away from his nature what of natural goodness there may be. A thousand besetments to evil will soon gird him round, and the very air will be filled with moral contamination. The longer he lives the greater will be the danger, the less the hope. The only sufficient safeguard against all these perils to temporal prosperity, to moral character and to eternal destiny, is in the saving grace of God, and the possession of a new nature, and a disposition to make God his refuge and strength. Let the Sabbath School teacher consider this well, and he will feel that he must seek

to bring his pupils at once to Jesus before the dangers thicken and the power of sin grows greater. Just as the parent, when a child is taken sick of some deadly disease, sends in all haste for the physician. so that medicine be applied at as early a stage of the malady as possible, so should the Sabbath School teacher seek to have the balm of Gilead applied to the young sin-sick soul as soon as possible by the Great Physician. The teacher who merely seeks to store the mind of the child with truth, and does not strive to impress it at once upon the heart, acts as the one who should get the medicine for the child sick with a fatal disease and place it before him without urging him to take it. No, fellow teachers, let us not rest until the remedy is applied to the sin-sick soul, for the disease is waxing worse. and more difficult to overcome every hour. But beyond all this, we know not but that death may come at any time to the young as well as the old. Although we believe that for all children who die before they become personally accountable the work of Christ provides for the regeneration of their natures, yet the uncertainty as to the exact period when the time of responsibility has come, and the certainty that many in the Sabbath School are beyond that bound, should incite the teacher to the most earnest endeavour to bring each child to the shelter of the everlasting arms. If we saw one on a spot liable each moment to be swept by an avalanche, how earnest we would be to remove him from the danger at once. How much more intent should the Sabbath School teacher be to rescue the child at once from his danger of that eternal destruction which is ever ready to fall.

I shall notice but one other consideration fitted to induce Sabbath School teachers to aim at the immediate salvation of their pupils. The earlier they are brought to the Saviour, the more surely, rapidly, and broadly will they develop grace and spiritual strength; the longer and more largely will they enjoy the life of faith; the more time will they have to give to the service of God and men, with a larger share of spiritual power during all this longer period, and a greater capacity will they acquire for eternal joy, with a richer treasure awaiting them in heaven. On the other hand, the less will they be cursed by the reign of sin; the less precious time will they squander; the less of evil and ruin will they effect by their influence; and the less waste of energy and of evil wrought will they have to lament. The thought that all this inestimable good to the child and to others may be secured, and all this immeasurable evil to himself and others may be averted, by leading the child early to the Lamb of God, is surely a motive strong enough to induce all Sabbath School teachers to aim at the immediate salvation of their pupils, and to make them tireless in labouring for this end.

But if it should be asked, how can we best accomplish this aim? the reply generally would be, teach them the truth, and impress it upon them. Let us never forget that it is the truth of God, and this

cure is to children fe which, unl lead them bring healt conditions been made pointed to and salvati child-like t to seek a r notion, whi the child b or an ordin personal de our Lord. child, and to the Sar thorough c make the and a conce the childre self. And human age children do had better the truth to the living 1 uttered, he itself. Let ful eve, the be so perme it, and you

only, whic

our whole

Need I say

But how Sabbath Sedren for the already sain of what a rate, or this obligation to only as the and when I small things

only, which He has promised to bless. Let us therefore make it our whole dependence for the salvation and edification of our pupils. Need I say that just as the first step in leading a sick man to seek a cure is to convince him that he is diseased, so must we make the children feel that they are in a lost state, having a sinful nature. which, unless removed, will inevitably shut them out of heaven, and lead them down to woe. Need we say that, just as the next step to bring health to the sick man is to refer him to the remedy and the conditions upon which it can be secured, so must the child, having been made to desire salvation through conviction of his lost state, be pointed to Christ and His work as the only and all sufficient Saviour and salvation, and be shown that the only condition is personal and child-like trust. Need we say, finally, that if the sick man is inclined to seek a remedy which is worthless, he must be disabused of his false notion, which would stand in the way of his seeking the true; so must the child be made to feel that no visible relation to a family, a church, or an ordinance can deliver him from his peril, or take the place of his personal dependence upon the atoning and substitutionary work of our Lord. In order to impress the truth home upon the heart of the child, and lead him to forsake every false trust, and yield his heart to the Saviour, the grand essential in the teacher is a deep and thorough conviction of the reality of what he teaches. make the children feel their danger by manifesting an earnestness and a concern in keeping with this belief. He must seek to make the children sensible of the love of our Lord by being full of it himself. And so of all the rest. Nothing but this can avail, so far as human agency is concerned. The teacher whose manner toward the children does not show his deep conviction of the truth of his teaching, had better not attempt this high calling, for his way of teaching belies the truth taught; and as children, particularly, are more sensitive to the living reality of voice and manner than the thought of the words uttered, he is in danger of robbing the truth of the power it has in itself. Let the truth, then, beam forth upon them through the tearful eye, the radiant countenance, the trembling voice; let the teachers be so permeated by the truth that it shall use them rather than they it, and young, impressible hearts will be moved and souls won.

But how, it may be asked again, can the other great aim of the Sabbath School teacher be accomplished—that of preparing the children for the development of the greatest spiritual power? I have already said, form in their mind the highest and truest idea possible of what a real Christian life is. Another thing must also be attended to, or this will largely be labour lost: they must be taught their obligation to conform to this high standard. This can be fully done only as they are made to feel that all God's word must be studied; and when His will is known it must be obeyed—in great things, in small things, in all things. All God's requirements must be respected;

en and

child is

sician,

ady as

e balm

ible by

ore the

s it at

ine for

vithout

itil the

worse,

his, we

as well

before

des for

e exact

rtainty

lincite

to the

le each

d be to

should

om his

abbath

pupils. apidly.

longer

ne will

r share

apacity

vaiting

sed by

less of

raste of

hought

nay be

may be

rely a

to aim

tireless

s aim ?

ress it

nd this

for in belittling one we cut into our regard for all, and so weaken our sense of obligation to obey in any. If all our young Christians could only enter upon their new life with the broad conception of its character which thorough instruction in Bible truth would give them—if they were to begin this life with the full understanding that for them to know was to obey lovingly, gladly, and expect nothing else—then it would take only one generation to revolutionize the Christianity of the world. Whether the dawning of such a day is near depends, we cannot tell how largely, upon the Sabbath School teachers of Christendom, for from them those who come early to the Saviour must receive their chief instruction.

Thus I have attempted to present this important topic before you. Yet from even this con-It has been done but imperfectly, I know. sideration of the theme I think every Sabbath School teacher must feel his aim and work to be very very high and noble. It is yours. brethren and sisters—Sabbath School teachers—to lead the hopeful and confident van of the Church in her attack upon the ranks of evil: it is ours, brother ministers, too often to stand in the forlorn hope. It is yours to labour in the joyous spring, and cast your seed into virgin soil, rich and growthful; it is ours, too frequently, to work in the solemn autumn, and seek to secure fruit from worn out ground. while the doleful wail goes moaning by, "The harvest is past, and the summer is ended, and we are not saved." It is both yours and ours to do what we can to keep hell as empty as possible, and make heaven as full; to stop the deepening of the weeping and wailing. and add to the volume of praise that swells eternally around God's throne. Let us feel our mighty obligations. Let us live continually in view of them. Let us ever keep looking to our Lord, who alone can enable us to fulfil them.

The President being called away, Mr. McCallum took the chair in his absence.

The Chairman said the paper had been very interesting as a whole, and particularly in regard to conversions in childhood. He had had a great deal to do with children for a good many years, and he had always found them sincere, and inclined to be truthful, and endeavouring, as far as they saw, to do right. He was a strong believer in conversions in childhood, and he believed that those who were converted in childhood, were those who stood best.

Rev. Mr. McEwen, of Ingersoll, said the subject which had been presented to them so thoughtfully, clearly and impressively, was one that constituted, he might say, the essential element of their Sabbath School work and system on its human side, at all events. They might take it for granted, in the main, that according to the reality of their aim and its character would be the results. All he desired to do at present, was to give an instance in confirmation of the paper, and in illustration of its statements. The instance was a historical

one, belong Congregation to him by a intendent. of a class of life from t work. She gathered ro her class at specified, a the Lord Je character w Sabbath, b identified h by correspo they took i the result of out; and t and impres yet speaket

Rev. Mr

could be,

historical i the use of of this sort teachers an that, eithe could have would be Christians. lady had b thought to was so disc her effort, must go a nothing, ar I can do it was nearin "Please, n feel happy tions that away. Th her timidit gathered u

Hymn 7

eaken

istians

of its

e them

hat for

ng else

Chris

s near

achers

aviour

re vou.

is con-

must

yours.

opeful

of evil:

hope.

ed into

ork in

round.

st, and

rs and

make

ailing.

God's

inually

alone

hair in

g as a

l. He

rs, and

ul, and

strong

se who

d been

vas one

abbath

They

reality

desired

paper.

storical

one, belonging to their Sabbath School work. It occurred in the Congregational Church at Port Huron, and the facts had been given to him by an eye-witness, namely, his own Sabbath School superintendent. A lady, some fifteen years ago, had been put in charge of a class of young lads in that congregation. She gave her whole life from that time till now (she has gone to her rest now) to the work. She aimed high; and on her death last August, there were gathered round her grave forty young men, all of whom had been in her class and under her influence at some period of the time he had specified, and all of whom had made a public profession of faith in the Lord Jesus Christ. Through her instrumentality, their religious character was largely built up. She not only taught them on the Sabbath, but followed them into their work during the week; she identified herself with them, and when they left the place, she sought, by correspondence, to get positions for them, and to guide the path they took in life in their several trades and professions. There was the result of a high aim, earnestly, perseveringly, prayerfully carried out; and there was something in it to him peculiarly stimulating and impressive as to the result, which proved that she, "being dead, yet speaketh."

Rev. Mr. Andrews said it had often occurred to him that a very great service would be performed for Sabbath School work, if there could be, by some means, a collection made of these real items of historical interest, and if they could be thrown into book form for the use of the Sabbath School library. There was a wonderful fund of this sort of information in the possession of living Sabbath School teachers and ministers; and if some one would turn his attention to that, either by the direction of the Association or otherwise, they could have from this source alone quite a respectable library, which would be stimulating to the teachers, and encouraging to youthful Christians. He remembered a case of the kind. A young Christian lady had been for some time teaching in the Sabbath School, and she thought to herself that she was accomplishing very little good, and was so discouraged with what seemed to be the manifest failure of her effort, that she said to her mother on one occasion, "I think I must go and resign my position as teacher; I am accomplishing nothing, and I feel that some one else would do the work better than I can do it." About that time one of her Sabbath School scholars was nearing eternity, and before she died, she said to her mother: "Please, mamma, tell my dear teacher that, as I am about to die, I feel happy in Christ; and I want you to tell her it is her instructions that have led me to know the Saviour;" and she passed away. The next day it was communicated to the young lady; and her timidity vanished, and she went on working for that Saviour who gathered up the sheaves.

Hymn 72 was sung.

THE TEACHER-NO SUBSTITUTE FOR STUDY

Rev. Dr. Castle, of Toronto, delivered an address on the subject "The Teacher—no Substitute for Study." He said:

Mr. Chairman, fellow-workers in the Sunday School, I regret that. I should not have been here last evening to get a little of the spirit of the meeting. I regret that I should not have been here earlier this morning to listen to the paper or address which has already been presented. I have just left the cars, and I take the meeting without any of that preliminary inspiration which all speakers like to have when they are about launching before a new audience. But, as I entered at that door a few minutes ago, and saw a large number of persons gathered here this morning; when I saw the audience composed to such a large extent of gentlemen, of mature men, I said to myself, this matter of Sunday School work has taken hold of the heart and conscience and life, and interested the best people in our churches; and the very fact that, on a secular morning, you could find such a gathering as this assemblage to consider matters appertaining to the work of teaching the young the truths of the Bible, is one of the most pleasant indications of the times. The subject assigned to me by the Committee is this—and I am greatly discouraged from treating it as I look at my audience—"No substitute for study." When I look into the faces of those studious men and women it does seem to me that it was hardly worth while to assign such a subject for treatment. If we had together here a great mass of immature young persons, such as are sometimes pressed into Sunday School service, there might be a peculiar propriety in discussing before them the theme which has been assigned to me this morning; but, as I gaze upon this audience, it seems to me that what I have to say will be profitable to but a very small portion of those who are here to-day.

"No substitute for study." I think it is well to begin with definitions, and so I have turned to the dictionary for my definition of "study." There is a great advantage in turning to the dictionary for a definition, because, if it be not an accurate and proper one, the responsibility does not fall upon the speaker, but upon the great makers of the dictionary. (Laughter.) "Study—To apply the mind to; to think with close application; to labour to understand; to learn by application; to search into." My theme, then, says that for the Sunday School teacher there is no substitute for applying the mind to the lesson, for thinking upon the lesson with close application, for labouring to understand the lesson, and for searching to understand the lesson. Now, I apprehend from the fact that such a theme was assigned to anybody to discuss, that there are persons who have supposed that they could enter upon the work of Sunday School teaching by substituting something else for this application of mind;

this searchi theme? So which, in amongst pe endeavource think my o now and the note severa

There are their genera the Bible. \ the Ten Co and Isaiah knowledge, them a nun easy matter from their little people any special depend upor sometimes, their genera a conviction Indeed, if a the whole, a mation that his general get through only hinting to substitute

Another You know t of speech th "the gift of have been a been utterly in the first carry them majority of find necessar persons, gift great speed come before facility of ta Sabbath Sc. away; and ubject

t that

spirit

earlier

been

thout have

, as I

ber of

com-

aid to

of the

in our

could apper-

ble, is

ubject

raged

tudy."

en, it

uch a

ass of

unday

ussing

ning;

have

no are

with

nition

onary

e, the

great

mind

d; to

s that

ng the

plica-

ınder-

theme

have

School

mind;

this searching into, this labouring to understand; or why assign the theme? So I have been trying to think out some of the substitutes which, in some quarters or other—not, perhaps, to any extent amongst people who attend the Provincial Convention—some have endeavoured to put in the place of this work of study. And I think my own observation, as well as the few remarks I have heard now and then dropped by superintendents and others, have led me to note several points.

There are those to whom classes are committed, who depend upon their general information. They have, in a general way, studied the Bible. They are familiar with the Sermon on the Mount, and the Ten Commandments; and they know Romans from Ephesians, They have a general stock of biblical and Isaiah from Chronicles. knowledge, and a general stock of information; and they have before them a number of young persons, children, and, of course, it is an easy matter to call up this general information, and to gather in from their great resources of knowledge enough to interest these little people, the youngsters-they are only children; and so, without any special preparation upon the lesson, they go to their classes to depend upon their general knowledge of the Bible. Indeed, I think sometimes, sir, I have heard preachers a little disposed to depend on their general knowledge (hear, hear); and I have, at the same time. a conviction that they are not profitable men to listen to. (Laughter.) Indeed, if any of you are thinking of calling a pastor, I would, on the whole, advise you not to call one with such broad general information that he feels he can afford to depend upon it, and substitute his general information for study; for I think we shall see before we get through that it requires something very different. I am now only hinting, in a very general way, things which some are disposed to substitute.

Another substitute which I have noticed, is fluency of speech. You know that some people are very much more gifted in the matter of speech than others are. Spoken of vulgarly, it is said they have "the gift of the gab." And I do know some young men who might have been acceptable, successful ministers of the gospel, who have been utterly ruined for their profession, because they were endowed in the first place with fluency of speech, which they supposed could carry them over the necessity of that plodding toil which the great majority of those who occupy the Christian ministry, as a profession, find necessary as a preparation for pulpit work. And so these gifted persons, gifted in speech, who talk and rattle on all subjects with great speed and sometimes with great earnestness, are tempted to come before their Sunday School classes depending rather upon their facility of talk than their application in study. There was a time in Sabbath School history—I think to a large extent it has passed away; and thanks, above all things, for the clearing out of that era to the International Lesson System—there was a period in which to a great extent, instead of study, teachers depended upon incidents and stories. I remember a teacher telling me, "I find it so difficult to interest my class. Why, really, I cannot get up enough stories to tell them; I am quite run out of stories and incidents. Sometimes I read a library book on purpose to get some stories and incidents to interest my scholars." And I have seen teachers who have very carefully gathered up stories, in the hope that these stories would be the staple by which they would compel and hold the attention of their scholars. I have no objection to a story to illustrate a scripture truth: but if God sent us to teach his Word, it is a very different mission from gathering up stories with which to interest our classes. But I imagine that there are teachers who nevertheless, without much study of God's word, hope to interest their classes by striking incidents, marvellous stories, gathered either from the public prints. from their own observations, or from books in which these things are gathered together in the way of illustrations.

A far larger number of teachers are disposed to use as a substitute for study the Lesson Leaves and Commentaries. "Oh," but you say, "if you use commentaries and the lessons which are now published with prodigal liberality by all denominations, expositions in religious papers, expositions even in our secular papers sometimes, with the lesson for the coming Sabbath, the Berean, and one and another lesson leaves-if you use these, they are study." Not a bit of it, sir. There are multitudes of teachers who never go before their classes without having carefully looked over the lesson exposition in their denominational paper, the Sunday School Times, or lesson leaf, who have nevertheless never studied their lesson. A great many take leaves to the classes. Ah, it is one thing to get the run of somebody's thoughts, it is another thing to get God's word brought into your own soul, incorporated in your own thinking-to get hold of God's thought with your own mind, to feel with your own heart rather than simply to retail something which is brought into the memory, something which lies loosely upon it, and which you are endeavour ing to slide off. It has never gone into your heart as a kind of passage-way through which the mind of the writer of the exposition is passing to the children, and a very poor business it generally makes. Do not understand me, Mr. President, brethren and sisters, as saying one word against these lesson leaves, expositions or commentaries. The teacher who does not use them at the present day is missing a great boon, missing a matchless opportunity. The man or woman who, with his or her own simple study, cannot be vastly aided by these, which are called lesson aids, and is disposed to trust entirely to himself or herself, is throwing away vast advantages which are brought to his door. Nevertheless, sir, the man or woman who tries to substitute lesson leaves for study, for bringing his own mind into contisurround lifebloodhusks in There

to do ev

we can that if th some oth can be in of an ho and with taken ou saving a vital me go to a t discussio to retail work, th for study want firs the confe have po from hor and that a grand a substit that fail Now,

> solemnly take the devout-Holy G the infl teacher through going to he is ter set no l cumstar Christ's his caus the Spin Albany during gregation

ich, to

idents

ifficult

ries to

etimes

ents to

e very uld be

ion of

ripture

fferent

classes.

t much

g inci-

prints, ngs are

stitute

ou say, blished

eligious ith the

another

it, sir.

classes

n their

af, who

ıy take

ebody's

to your

f God's

rather

nemory,

eavour

kind of

position

enerally

sisters,

or com-

t day is

man or

vastly

to trust

s which

an who

n mind

into contact with that passage of God's word, getting hold of it in its surroundings, going down into its depth, drinking it into his own lifeblood—his mind and heart's life-blood—will go to his class with husts instead of wheat, chaff instead of wheat.

There is another class of teachers who, in an age when we like to do everything rapidly, and want to have some patent by which we can quickly dispatch and get through with our business, think that if there is some system by which the study may be done with some other man's mind, or with twenty other men's minds, which can be incorporated into their own mind in one-half or three-quarters of an hour, that is something worth obtaining; and in some schools, and with some people who make a hobby of things, there is a patent taken out, and that patent is called the teachers' meeting. 1 am not saying anything against the teachers' meeting, and an earnest and vital meeting (hear, hear); but when teachers think that they can go to a teachers' meeting without previous study, and listen to the discussion there and gather up a few surface thoughts, and go away to retail them to their class and imagine that they have done their work, they fail utterly, and have attempted to substitute something for study. If you would make a teachers' meeting profitable, you want first to study your lesson before going to the meeting, and after the conference, where mind has struck against mind, and illustrations have poured out and the treasures that have been brought together from honest study, take it up again afterwards and mould it together; and that previous and subsequent study makes the teachers' meeting a grand success. But if any one supposes that a teachers' meeting is a substitute for personal, honest study, it is just one of those patents that fail entirely to bring the results promised and aimed at.

Now, Mr. President, I am about to proceed another step. solemnly. There is a class of teachers—good men, pious men; indeed, take them at their own estimation, they would be the cream of the devout—that talk a great deal about Divine influence and about the Holy Ghost, and that come to their classes and say, "I depend upon the influence of the Spirit of God." I would to God that every teacher realized that he can only succeed as God the Spirit works through him. But I want to say to every teacher here that if he is going to make the Spirit of God a substitute for his own honest study, he is tempting God, and abandoning himself to fanaticism. I would set no limit to what the Holy Spirit may do to a man placed in circumstances of great importance and trial, where the interests of Christ's kingdom are at stake, and where, answering for Christ and his cause before men, he was put into a crisis, and threw himself upon the Spirit of God. For many years the great preacher of the city of Albany was Dr. Welsh. He was eloquent, magnificent. One sermon during his ministry in the city of Albany formed an era with his congregation. They used to date from that sermon. It was a sermon that

he preached, changing his subject after he had given out his text. His text was this: "We are not ignorant of his devices" (2 Cor. ii. 11), or wiles of the devil. As he announced that text a number of intellectual men, who were then the leaders of American politics, sitting before him, he noticed a smile of incredulity, which as much as said, "if there is a devil ?" He dropped his subject instantly, went into a discussion of the personality of Satan, preached a sermon that wrought the church to its centre, and was spoken of afterwards as "the great sermon of the great man's life." He did it under the influence of the Spirit of God, but he was thrown into circumstances where evidently God demanded of his hands, before a class of men who were peculiarly influential in the community, a demonstration. We are not often placed in these circumstances. God has given, first, the Word; He has put His truth in black and white in as accurate rendering as can be in our own tongue; He has given us all facilities for investigation; He has told us to search the scriptures, and compare scripture with scripture; He has given us the mind to do it; and the man who. without doing honest work in the way of study, throws himself upon the Spirit of God, is guilty of presumption; and that teacher who, in dire cant, talks about dependence on the Spirit of God and Divine influence, without previous honest hard study, is guilty of presump-(Hear, hear.) I believe in the Holy Ghost to apply the truth which God permits him to gather from His word, and by which He helps him to gather it from His word. I believe in the Holy Ghost, but I believe the Holy Ghost was never given as a substitute for human labour, or an excuse for human indolence. (Applause.)

I think we have touched, perhaps, on most of the substitutes which are now attempted in the place of this application of man, this earnest labour. I want now, in a very few concluding remarks, to shew you why none of these are substitutes for study. I hinted a moment ago that there was a great difference between the retailer of other men's thoughts and the thinker; and I want to say that there never was a teacher of any power in the world, of any subject or system, who was not himself a thinker. If you want to communicate thought—for that is what you want to do if you are a teacher you want to teach something, and you must be yourself a thinker; and the man or woman, young or old, who refuses to be a student, cannot in any sense of the word be a thinker; and a man cannot be a teacher impressively unless he is a thinker; for, in the second place, we need clear, defined and pertinent views of the truth contained in the portion of the Word which forms our lesson. I take it that a great many of us have views on certain parts of God's word that are vague. We would not like to be called upon to state our views at once. We have views, but they need shaping and moulding; they need clearness, definiteness, a clean cutting and a clean setting. Unless the thing is perfectly clear to yourself, you cannot

make it of pulpit if But do n class of you views to pulpit, then, know the classes.

My last

requisite 1

teaching. your class soaring as swiftness, except by the fire by fire. It is circumstan life, to get will be th impress up under hear except by impart. I a Latin wo it is applie heart get interested i teaching, w by earnest subjects ne upon the le upon meme for fort know them taught the ration upor who are m never thinl class witho grandest th the thing w dare appear and shall w these great stitutes, by His

1), or

ectual

pefore d, "if

a dis-

ought

great of the

ently

liarly

often

; He

s can

tion;

with

who.

upon

10, in

ivine

ump-

truth

h He

bost,

e for

vhich

this

s, to

ted a

er of

here

ct or

unier—

ker;

lent,

ot be

cond

con-

take

vord

our

ould-

lean

nnot

make it clear to a child. (Hear, hear.) Suffer vagueness in the pulpit if you please. It is an abomination there. (Hear, hear.) But do not imagine you are going to accomplish anything with a class of young persons, unless you have some clear-cut, sharp, distinct views to present. (Hear, hear.)—Can you get these without study? But, then, there are other reasons/beyond that. You need also to know the wants and peculiarities of the various children of your classes. Can you do that without study?

My last point is this. Only in study does the heart acquire the requisite heat to give intensity, velocity, and impressiveness to our teaching. You want your teaching to be warm; you want to go to your class with your soul on fire; you want your mind to be as soaring as an eagle. I know of no method to acquire the force and swiftness, velocity and intensity requisite for impressive teaching, except by earnest study. The psalmist said, "While I was musing the fire burned." Teachers want to know how to keep hearts on fire. It is by meditation on the lesson, by getting all its facts and circumstances, and, above all, its doctrines, its application to the life, to get it so thoroughly into their minds and hearts that they will be themselves fired up with the truth they are about to impress upon the minds of their scholars. I know of no method under heaven by which the soul of the teacher can be set on fire except by personal, hard, clear study of the lesson he is about to impart. Do you know what the word study means? It comes from a Latin word which signifies to be zealous, to be warm; and I suppose it is applied to the mind grappling with truth because that mind and heart get heated, and when that mind and heart are heated and interested in the work, there is an intensity, a velocity and force in teaching, which does execution, and which cannot be secured unless by earnest study. I know this, that the best teachers of secular subjects never appear before their classes without specific preparation upon the lesson. The best teacher I had—the one who left his mark upon me-was a man who had been over the subjects which he taught me for forty years. He ought to know them by that time. He did know them; but he never appeared before his class, though he had taught these subjects for forty years, without definite specific preparation upon the lesson which he taught. I know this, that the men who are magnificent as teachers and lecturers in secular subjects, never think of appearing before the smallest or most rudimentary class without special preparation. And should we, who teach the grandest thing in the world—the most important thing in the world, the thing which shapes destiny for eternity-shall we think that we dare appear before our classes without faithful, careful preparation; and shall we have the impertinence to think that we can transfer these great truths to other minds by miserable subterfuges and substitutes, by which we are relieved of honest work? No. Let me say

to every teacher here, take this as your motto: "Study to show thyself approved unto God, a workman that needeth not to be ashamed, rightly dividing the word of truth." (Applause.)

Hymn 65 was then sung.

The Rev. T. WARDROPE stated that in attending these meetings he sometimes felt that all the speaking ought to be done by men who lived elsewhere than in Guelph. The people in Guelph heard the Guelph ministers perhaps as frequently as they wished, but there were many present who did not belong to the town in which he lived There were two or three things he should like to say in reference to the address just delivered. He had sometimes heard discussions as to the relative importance of Sabbath School work and preaching. Sometimes they heard it said that Sabbath School work was the more important of the two; sometimes that preaching was. In listening to the address that morning he thought they must all come to the conclusion that the work was one. The address, at all events, was an address for ministers. He took it to himself, and he concluded that all Sabbath School workers who were present took it to themselves likewise. He knew it would give him great pleasure if at any time when their Presbyterian Assembly was to convene at Toronto or elsewhere, Dr. Castle would come in and give them, as ministers. such an address as that he had given to the Convention that morning. (Applause.) In regard to study, he thought Dr. Castle's experience and that of many ministers would accord with his own in regard to this-there were what might be called, in addition to other kinds of study, two very different kinds. The first was the study in which they were necessitated to engage from week to week in order to bring forth before their congregations something for their soul's advantage as each returning Sabbath day came. In that study they were obliged to engage whether they felt themselves in special trim or not. There was another kind, and he did not know whether to call it unconscious study or not; but if he explained what he meant, they would enter into sympathy with him in regard to it. He believed that as ministers the best sermons that they preached were often those that were the result of that, in a great measure, unconscious thought that had been going on in their minds week after week. To make his meaning more plain, he would say that he had that morning received from Professor Sherwin the text of a sermon. Professor Sherwin did not know that he had given him that text. It was this: "In everything, by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving, let your requests be made known unto God;" and that was going to be the subject of the kind of unconscious study of which he spoke. It was laid aside in his mind, and if God spared him long enough for that purpose, there would be a sermon from it—when, he had no idea, but it would give him no trouble. He should go on with his study week after week, and when it came forward in the shape of a sermon, the study and say inserted germ, an one day from the and with Will you experien to their might be ing when of the p next Sab before th germinat study, le passage 1 and sym He had the expe how he v to him a about fift that, wit best find when he secure th verse or in the si he was to

it would

It is that we of Jesus about do teacher man who was capa his need the Holy his time were ob people or

o show to be

ings he en who ard the it there e lived. ence to sions as eaching. ne more istening e to the nts, was ncluded o themf at any Toronto inisters, norning. perience egard to kinds of n which to bring lvantage ey were trim or r to call int, they believed re often onscious ek. To morning Professor It was ksgiving, going to ie spoke.

ough for

no idea,

nis study

sermon,

it would be one of the best he would be able to preach. But although the study is in a way unconscious, he did not mean to go to the pulpit and say what came readiest, after all; he meant that the thought inserted in his mind by Professor Sherwin had become a kind of germ, and it would grow. He should have no trouble about it, but one day he should take his pen, and the sermon would be written out from the text to the amen; but he should write it without a pause. and without rising from his desk from beginning to end. (A voice, Will you print it?) He did not promise that. He fancied that the experience of many ministers in this was the same as his own. As to their fellow-labourers in the Sabbath School, something like this might be done from week to week. Let them read on Sabbath evening when they come into their homes from the work and enjoyment of the public ordinances of the Lord; let them read the subject of next Sabbath's school lesson; let them make it the subject of prayer before they retire; let it stop in their minds during the week; let it germinate; and whatever time they could secure for more formal study, let them give to that likewise. By this process of letting the passage lie in the mind and stop and germinate, and acquire strength and symmetry, they would benefit all on the ensuing Lord's Day. He had been very much struck by what Dr. Castle said in regard to the experienced teacher always thinking, after forty years' experience, how he was going to teach his class the subject which was as familiar to him as A, B, C. He had remembered a venerable minister of about fifty years' standing, who carried out that system so thoroughly, that, without telling any one about it—but his friends who knew him best finding out his modes by intercourse and communion with himwhen he had even to go and visit a sick person, if he could possibly secure the time, he used to take his Bible and select the passages, and verse or two here and there, that he intended to read by the dying or in the sick chamber, and then he commended himself and the person he was to visit to God, and off he went on this work of piety and love.

It is only by that careful study in regard to the work in hand, that we can do our work faithfully as true and approved servants of Jesus Christ. In regard to what their esteemed brother said about dependence upon the Holy Spirit, he was sure that every teacher and minister would approve of every word. It was the man who, with the utmost vigour, with all the energy of which he was capable, did study, who would most distinctly and deeply realize his need of constant dependence upon the power and the grace of the Holy Spirit of God. In regard to emergencies that might arise, he knew that in the case of a minister whose time had been unexpectedly occupied during the week, who had unexpected calls upon his time in attending to the sick, or performing other duties which were obviously the work of the Lord, he might come before his people vasting himself upon the Lord, and the Lord would be to him

a mouth and wisdom. But if the minister had been neglecting precious hours, if he had been allowing them to be wasted and frittered away, he durst not venture to look for the grace of God with anything like the same confidence, for he felt he was paralyzed and crippled as the result of his own apathy and slothfulness and unfaith. In these days their organizations are becoming most complete, and the more complete they become so much the more deeply do they need to realize their dependence upon the Holy Spirit. Many of them would remember the Eastern tale. The inhabitants of a besieged city are going forth in their power to meet the besieging. army. Forth from the camp of the invading foe came a magician who, with his malignant breath, turned every man and beast in the city into stone. Ranks of infantry were there, with banner, sword and shield; cavalry, the knight, the general, were there, as if about to leap upon their horses; but all cold, lifeless, dead. Every man and every beast in the city had been turned into stone. But in the distance was seen a stranger; with rapidly approaching step he came, and raised to his lips a golden trumpet. One long, loud, thrilling peal bursts forth upon the icy air; the spell was dissolved, and all was alive again. The ranks of infantry moved, the horseman leaped into his seat, the charger neighed for the battle; sword and shield gleamed in the sunshine, banners waved, and the hosts went forth to conflict and to victory. The men and the beasts all dead in the city represented their organizations when the influences of the Spirit were not there. They were all perfect apparently; their congregations, their sessions, their deacons, their splendid staff of Sabbath School teachers; but without the Spirit of God, they were all icv cold and dead. But if the breath of the Spirit came, they were all alive again; they were no longer dead men and women, but living, and ready to go forth to the help of the Lord; to the help of the Lord against the mighty. (Loud applause.)

Mr. D. McLean, of Toronto, expressed his pleasure at being present on this occasion. He would tell them without any preliminaries what he wished to speak to them about. Some of them would remember that in August last they had advertised an excursion to the Sunday School Parliament under the auspices of the Sabbath School Association of Canada. The time was short, and although the very best efforts were put forth to make it a success, unfortunately, he supposed, the intelligence did not reach a large number of the teachers in time. He would now ask the Business Committee to be allowed to make a suggestion in this direction. He did it because he had been there two years, and other brethren had been there also, and they found that in attending the Parliament there was recreation as well as education and inspiration; and he would recommend that if they saw their way open, if a larger number of the teachers would pledge themsetives to make it their

thought it had come shores. I hoped the regard to f Report ; b him (Mr. Referring struck wit whether it one substit agreed wit had struck one particu of the diffe laid hold substitute. him that substitute, their lesson came in co that substi from their lessons. I planting a leave a vac another an railway car fields; but The wheat and as the came, and reap anoth in, not one taking ther and lesson whole which they would

holiday tri

be profital

point: in

which is to

His idea v

tional mee

that the T

any action

cting

and

with

and

faith-

com-

eeply

Iany

of a

ging

ician

n the

word

bout

man

n the

ame.

illing

d all

aped

hield

th to

city

pirit

rega-

bath

licy

re all

ving,

f the

eing

limi-

ould

rsion

Sab-

and

ecess,

large

Busi-

lirec-

other

the

tion;

rger

their

holiday trip another year down to the Thousand Islands, it would be profitable for them, and a benefit to the Association. point: in three years from next year the International Convention. which is to meet next year at Atlanta, in Georgia, would meet again. His idea was that they, as an Association, should invite that international meeting to come to Toronto-(loud applause)-always provided that the Toronto Sabbath School Association saw the way to indorse any action of this Association. He believed they would, and he thought it would be very becoming on their part, and that the time had come when the International Convention should meet on our shores. He desired to throw that out as a suggestion, which he hoped the Business Committee would see their way to act upon. In regard to finance, he hoped the Treasurer would himself present the Report; but if he could not come, he had entrusted the Report to him (Mr. McLean), and he would give it to them in the afternoon. Referring now to the subject under discussion, he said he had been struck with one word, the word "substitute." He did not know whether it came to any of their hearts that God never provided but one substitute for fallen man under any circumstances. He entirely agreed with Dr. Castle in regard to their dependence, who, he thought, had struck every teacher more or less in some one point, for in some one particular he believed they had felt in all these phases and aspects of the different "substitute" which they had at one time or another laid hold of in place of thorough study. He was thinking of one substitute. The man Christ Jesus was their substitute; and it struck him that as they came into contact more and more with THE only substitute, what an inspiration it would give them to the study of their lesson—the only substitute, God's substitute. The more they came in contact with that only substitute, the more they came to that substitute, the more the life and character came into their hearts from their substitute, what a power it would be in the study of their lessons. He was also in entire accord with his brother in his idea of planting a germ of study and letting it grow. They should never leave a vacancy. As one lesson went out they should take hold of another and let it grow. He had been struck, coming along in the railway car that morning, with the beautiful appearance of the wheat fields; but they did not dream of reaping another harvest this year. The wheat would be covered for the whole winter, but it would grow; and as the snow passed away again, and the sun shone and the spring came, and the summer heat and rain, next year again they would reap another crop. He thought it was a capital thing to keep laying in, not one week's lesson only, but laying one quarter's lessons, and taking them out one by one, so that they fitted them in link by link and lesson by lesson, and each lesson was only one link of the grand whole which they had been forging for a whole quarter. He hoped they would all go away with the idea that if they had substituted

anything in the place of study, in the future of their history they would make up their minds that nothing should come between them and earnest, honest work. It was sometimes possible to deceive one's-self. Various excuses they were apt to give of being too busy, of not being able to find time till Saturday or Sunday. He hoped they would make time. He never knew anybody, hardly, find time. They could make time if they set out to make it, and would get it where it had been wasted before. Might God's blessing rest upon the Convention. (Applause.)

Professor Sherwin said all these substitutes ran to "the gift of gab." Every teacher he ever know who depended upon anything else but study went to talk words, words, words. He thought of the tree that Christ found that ought to have had fruit and had only leaves. Teachers without care and pruning would run to leaves, not fruit. They put this song, "Nothing but leaves," off on a worldly man who did not care for Christ, but they needed to take it home to themselves. How much fruit were they bearing? How much did they depend upon their display of leaves, leaves, leaves?

Hymn-"Nothing but leaves."

TEACHERS' MEETINGS.

Professor Sherwin then conducted a conversation on the subject of teachers' meetings. He said: If you let me conduct this in a short, free conversational way, you will get more benefit from it than if anyone makes an address about the subject. First, we would know are teachers' meetings desirable? If so, what should be their character! how should they be conducted? who should conduct them what should be the general order of exercises, and what should be the general characteristics? Then perhaps the toughest question for a good many schools, the hardest thing they have wrestled with in many places is, how can we get one of any kind? What shall we do in the city, where the evenings are packed full of meetings? Then some one is from a rural district, and he says, "The teachers are scattered over five or six or seven or eight miles." Another says, "Our pastor says there is no need of a teachers' freeting." In one case a teacher said, "The pastor says he is able to give all the instruction that is needed from the pulpit." I didn't hear whether he did it.

Now, are teachers' meetings desirable? Is there anything in the nature of things out of which grows the necessity for a teachers' meeting? Is there any advantage in this contact of mind with mind; this mind to mind, shoulder to shoulder work; this mutual counsel together; this telling one another our best thoughts and comparing them? Let all who think there is need of a teachers' meeting hold up their hands. (All hands were held up.) Very well, there are none who object to that.

Now, h

Profess tact with Profess slightest

Profess ning som amount o then wha

Profess subject, a as any s that he o

Mr. M Profes

teachers, their turn tendents. reason w is that he he can re bear upo

Profes teaching School is moulding should he not be the knack—is in perset the gene the leads superinte and that tendent a to rank of the superinte and that the superinte supe

A Der being a s the teacl

Mr. Menough t

Now, how should that teachers' meeting be conducted ℓ Who shall conduct it? Answer.—The best man; the superintendent.

Professor Sherwin.—Why? Answer.—Because he is more in contact with the work of the school than another person probably.

Professor Sherwin.—Suppose the superintendent has not the slightest bit of knack. Answer.—Then he is the wrong man for the place.

Professor Sherwin.—Suppose the superintendent is good at running something which somebody else has all planned, and has a fair amount of executive ability, but no faculty for imparting instruction, then what? Answer.—The minister.

Professor Sherwin.—Why? Answer.—He knows most about the subject, and I think he is as much interested in the Sabbath School as any superintendent can possibly be, if he takes the interest in it that he ought to.

Mr. McLean.-If he does not, take the minister's wife.

Professor Sherwin.—Well, who ought? Answer.—I think all teachers, as well as superintendents, who are adapted, should have their turn for the development of the teachers into future superintendents. We tried that and found it worked admirably. One reason why I think the pastor should conduct the teachers' meeting is that he may keep a firm hand on what is taught in the school. If he can regulate the minds of the teachers and bring his influence to bear upon them, he knows what is being taught on his responsibility.

Professor Sherwin.—Yes, the pastor is responsible for all religious teaching done in connection with his church work, and the Sunday School is a part of it. (Applause.) Then he must have a hand in moulding that teaching, but it does not follow, nevertheless, that he should have the burden of leading the teachers' meeting. Should it not be that if the superintendent has the peculiarity—as we say, the knack—of doing it, then because he is the superintendent, because he is in personal contact with all the teachers, he, under the watchfulness, the general supervision and close watching of the pastor, should be the leader of the teachers' meeting. Is it not more fit that the superintendent should lead the meeting if he is tolerably fit for it, and that the pastor shall be his counsellor to see that the superintendent and teachers are not drifting off into something which leads to rank error.

A Delegate.—Should not each teacher fit and prepare himself for being a superintendent, and what better place is there for that than the teachers' meeting ?

Mr. McLean.—The pastors on our side of the line have quite enough to do without being called upon to lead the teachers' meeting.

ves, not worldly ome to uch did

subject

y they

1 them

leceive

ousy, of ed they

l time.

get it

gift of

ything

ight of

ad only

a short, than if d know eir chathem? I be the n for a with in hall we eetings? ceachers

er says,
In one
instruce did it,
g in the
eachers'
h mind;

counsel nparing ng hold nere are Professor Sherwin.—I think it is wrong to take any part of the Sunday School work from under the pastor's eye. (Hear, hear, He is entitled to know what is going on and what each teacher is teaching. We are not at all aware of the neutralizing influence going on in many Sunday Schools against the direct teaching of the pulpit (Hear, hear.) He wants perhaps to hit a certain class of people, perhaps a particular family, and he finds it is like writing with a greased pencil. It is because they are under influences in the Sunday School; the teacher is teaching something which neutralizes the pastor's effort. The pastor should be lovingly interwoven with all that is going on, especially the teachers' meeting.

A Delegate.—What do you understand by leading a teachers' meeting? I think teachers' meetings fail in so far as they impose the burden of preparation of the lesson on one individual. I am in favour of a conversational form of conducting a teachers' meeting. And if you have a person appointed to lead at the meeting in any other sense than leading the opening service, I fear many teachers will come expecting that the chairman of the meeting will give them all the light they need on the lesson, and they will not prepare themselves for the discussion. My idea is they should meet in a conversational way, and freely interchange their opinion without any special leader.

Professor Sherwin.—We were coming to how should teachers' meetings be conducted. The colonel of a regiment is supposed to be a little better and more thoroughly posted in military tactics than any other of his regiment. He must stand at the head. But if the captains do not know anything, and only come into action as on parade, merely to do what he tells them, it will be a sorry show. The leader of the teachers' meeting is the colonel, and the teachers are the captains of companies, and it is equally necessary that they shall all know; but the colonel must not know less than the captain. and he must be able, if the captains are a little weak, to post them Sometimes the pastor has not any faculty. Some ministers get in the habit of thinking so much in the lecture and sermonizing form that they cannot do anything else. One of the most brilliant preachers in New Jersey, whose command of the English language is wonderful, when he sits down to lead a teachers' meeting or teach a class is upon a stump. He must have everything in that particular form. Sometimes neither superintendent nor pastor has any faculty. There may be some one else, however, who may be a born teacher, who understands the principles of teaching, who knows how to lead out a lesson and get at the heart of it; who knows how to skilfully get rid of these side issues. The leader of a teachers' meeting must have skill to keep people right at the heart of the thing, so that every teacher shall go from that meeting better prepared to teach the salient truths of the lesson, and make that lesson tell for God and the edification of ot The super the super rather ha every chu a woman-

Now, we the study Answer.—deal of preservence

Profess into an exfeel that cas to how

Profess

Answer—
conversat
finds diffi

Profess is ever s council o with a co are a good you talk "How do how the these exp got right other par home on without a intertwin until you and neces shall follo on, in ord divide eac each othe practice in exercises : "We wil fourth sta special to that are s tion of others. If not, there is a great loss. Take the best man. The superintendent, if he is about as good as anybody else. Next to the superintendent the pastor, if he is the best man; but I would rather have the pastor a looker on to stop error. But somewhere in every church there is a man or a woman—frequently the best man is a woman—who is better fitted for that than anyone else.

Now, what should the teachers' meeting be? Simply a meeting for the study of the lesson. Is that all? If anything else, what then? Answer.—Ist. The plan after which it is to be taught. 2nd. A good deal of prayer might be well used there. 3rd. An interchange of experience.

Professor Sherwin.—I have known a teachers' meeting degenerate into an experience meeting. "I feel I feel, and somebody else don't feel that ought to feel." Experience in what? Answer.—Experience as to how they have taught most successfully.

Professor Sherwin.—Personal experience in successful teaching? Answer—1st. And unsuccessful. 2nd. There should be time for conversation among teachers about their class whenever a teacher finds difficulty in his class in dealing with a particular boy.

Professor Sherwin.—That is just what I was fishing for. There is ever so much besides the lesson to talk about. It should be a council of war; a gathering of a family of brothers and sisters, with a common cause and a common love. Some teachers' meetings are a good deal like some prayer meetings, and others like the way you talk when you meet on the street. "How do you do?" says one; "How do you do?" says the other; and we go on. Neither knows how the other does, neither answers the question. A good deal of The brother has these experiences amount to about the same thing. got right at the heart of what is certainly equal in value to any other part of the teachers' meeting. You can study the lesson at home on your knees, you can get thoroughly posted during the week without a teachers' meeting, but you cannot get the lovingness and intertwining of heart with heart, and bearing one another's burdens, until you come together. (Applause.) I regard it as an integral and necessary part of a well-conducted teachers' meeting that they shall follow out this suggestion; that they shall learn what is going on, in order to share each other's joys and bear each other's burdens; divide each other's stores among themselves, and strengthen and help each other, just as much as going over the lesson. It has been my practice in leading teachers' meetings to devote, first, a short time to exercises; not opening in a formal way—not standing up and saying, "We will open the meeting by singing the 24th hymn, omitting the fourth stanza." (Laughter.) Then, "What is in your class?" "Nothing special to report," says one. "And in yours?" "I have two boys that are seeking Christ." It goes like an electric thrill through the

of the

hear.)

her is

going

ulpit.

e, perreased

chool;

effort.

ng on,

chers'

mpose

am in

eting.

n any

achers

them

them-

onver-

pecial

chers'

to be

s than

if the

as on

show.

achers

t they

ptain,

them

nisters

nizing

illiant guage

teach

icular

culty.

acher.

o lead

ilfully

must

every

alient dificameeting. All down on your knees at once, and pray for these two boys that they may be brought right in. (Applause.) Prayer for them-leaving out the question of the introduction of Christianity into Japan. What next? Here is a sister completely discouraged She has a boy so hard that she cannot do anything with him, and she is in trouble, and almost wants to give up the class. Shall we turn that boy out, and say to Satan, "Here is a boy; we cannot make anything of him; you can." All down and pray for that boy, and nothing else in the world. I am drawing this picture right from real life. Supposing next day the teacher meets the boy and says, "Tom. do you know that thirty-two teachers were praying for you last night?" and then passes on. That will take more effect than a dozen sermons-the fact that a number of teachers cared for him individually. Then they go on talking over their difficulties and plans; and when they are all through with that, comes the question-"What are you going to do about the lesson?" People go to a teachers' meeting, and go through all the little questions that we ask of children. What they want there is not that, but something they would not be likely to get at home. Instead of going on with a plain series of questions which is right before them, and which they all know-what great truths are taught in this lesson, and how is each of us going to get them. You ministers often begin in the middle. and work both ways, don't you? I find I have also in Sabbath School lessons. Or else begin at the further end; or begin at the beginning and follow it out, and see what it will lead to. And finally, we find all points converge on the climax-what are we going to press home? You have a class of young men. What is there in the lesson for these young men? You say, "I thought I should use that illustration." Another says, "That will suit my class;" for if one is the best teacher, all the rest get as good material as he hasall the best material, the best planning, the best working up of home truths, and the manner in which they shall be sent home. Every one of these things is brought and laid at the pastor's feet; and then there is a division made to each, as they have need; and so every scholar in the school gets the best teaching in the school. Then each teacher is interested in every other class.

A DELEGATE.—How much time ought to be taken for a meeting of that kind?

Professor Sherwin.—As much as you can get. Probably a general average of about an hour. Our's sometimes ran an hour and a half; but when you get going in the teachers' meeting, it is hard to stop. Use such time as you can use wisely and well; and those who make up the meeting should say how much time should be taken.

A Delegate.—Whom would you allow to attend? Would you not admit others besides teachers?

Profes in a proceed a wise an teachers half a do the teach Induce to "I have know the fill the pare mem will be s

A DE
ings?
Profes
If you a

you, "as Sunday as anoth to be tar Rev.

to bring
found in
Men's C
appoint
pared, a
been des
prepares
another
and so s
might b

who are is my h in that We will of the cofor the we tool and someeting and he and who can do

two

for

inity

ged.

and

ll we

nake

and

real

Tom,

last

an a

him

and stion,

to a

e ask they ith a

they

each

iddle.

bbath

t the

nally,

press

n the

d use

for if

has—

up of

home.

feet;

and so

Then

eeting

eneral

half;

stop.

make

d you

Professor Sherwin.—I would ask persons who should be considered in a process of training to become teachers. The teachers' meeting, rightly conducted, is the grand place to train up teachers; and it is a wise and excellent plan to invite to it those persons who may be teachers either the next Sunday, or may soon be needed to fill gaps; half a dozen, a dozen, or two or three, as the case may be, who have the teaching gift; and these will, by and by, make good teachers. Induce them to come. Then when the superintendent finds a note: "I have a headache and cannot come," he will take one of those who know the lesson, having been at the meeting the previous night, to fill the place. Putting Tom, Dick and Harry in simply because they are members of the church, is an abomination before the Lord, and will be soon in the sight of men.

A Delegate.—How often is it advisable to hold teachers' meetings?

Professor Sherwin.—As often as you have this same work to do. If you ask your wife how often she sweeps the house, she will tell you, "as often as the house gets dirty." I do not know why one Sunday does not require a teachers' meeting for preparation as much as another. I think one should be held as often as there is a lesson to be taught, coming in contact with the class to be done.

Rev. G. Grafftey.—There is a difficulty in some places how to bring in the time for each meeting, and this difficulty had been found in Kingston, and obviated in some measure. The Young Men's Christian Association there has a nice large room, and they appoint a minister to take the lessons of one month. He goes prepared, and assists the teachers in a conversational manner, as has been described, so as to go on the next Sabbath day rather better prepared than if they had not attended that meeting. Next month another minister takes the course. It is perfectly undenominational, and so sixty or seventy teachers have been brought together. This might be a substitute where time cannot be obtained.

Professor Sherwin.—Let me commend this to you, to all of you who are in cities or large villages. In Newark, New Jersey, where is my home, we take this plan. There had been something a little in that direction, but it did not work very well, so I contrived this. We will divide this into twelve sections, and we will get the pastors of the city engaged in it, and I went and engaged twelve ministers for the year, one a month. To change every week was very bad, but we took the pastors first in that way in order to get their measure, and some were not worth a row of pins. The people go to these meetings knowing that a thorough man will be there well prepared, and he feels his reputation is at stake, and he does it for a month; and when we are just finding his worth, there is a change. One man can do it well and the other can't. Now we are talking of getting

the best man we can find in the city, and paying him a small sum to come there every Sunday. So we provide for those who have no time for teachers' meetings. An afternoon meeting at four o'clock is much better, and business men can get away to it. There is time enough for everything in God's world, time for everything God wants done. "Where there's a will there's a way."

A DELEGATE.—Would you consider a pastor's Bible class and the study of the lesson a sufficient equivalent for the teachers' meeting?

Professor Sherwin.—No; it lacks counsel and other elements. It should be a meeting of the teachers to talk over their own peculiar work. A pastor's Bible class is simply for the study of the Word.

A Delegate.—In country places, where people come together in prayer meetings once a week, would you take the lesson as part of the meeting? I have found that work admirably.

Professor Sherwin.—That is done in a good many places. That is the way to talk. When you come to a convention bring something you have done. I will not tell you anything I have not done.

A Delegate.—We have introduced a practical measure in our teachers' meeting. Occasionally we get the teachers to give the experience of the last Sabbath: what they taught, and the way they taught it.

Another Delegate.—Do you prefer the latter part of the week for the teachers' meeting? My view is, the earlier in the week the better.

Professor Sherwin.—In Newark we have 135,000 inhabitants. The business men are generally at liberty at four o'clock on Saturday afternoon there, and in New York—for the most of us are New Yorkers—they can come out to that meeting. In the country it would not make much difference. There is an advantage in having it earlier in the week. It puts the lesson to soak, so to speak. I used to argue that you should begin the study of the lesson on Monday, but I have found that the lesson given on Monday, Tuesday, or Wednesday gets rubbed out. I would say, certainly not earlier than Wednesday, and I think Thursday or Friday is better yet, because then they have it fresh, and do not let go of it.

A Delegate.—That would seem to show that the teachers' meeting is chiefly for the study of the lesson.

Professor Sherwin.—It is both. The other work can be done on one end of the week as well as the other; but to get hold of the central truths of the lesson may be more needful.

The Rev. Mr. Sheppard pronounced the benediction, and the Session closed.

Havin Thee," w Rev. 7

Rev. V Annual

for the f was then beyond o Once n we are se us to lift

Twent

God's pre-Well : providence while wa prefatory would sti Father of The M

School M unanimou agement to under expired i At a la tion with

and adop Associati faction w occasions and char importan to the rea

FOURTH SESSION.

Having re-assembled at 2.30 p.m., Hymn 48, "Clinging close to T_{hee} ," was sung.

Rev. T. Wardrope led in prayer.

The Minutes of the Third Session were read and sustained.

GENERAL SECRETARY'S REPORT.

Rev. W. MILLARD, General Secretary of the Association, read the Annual Report.

TWELFTH ANNUAL REPORT OF THE SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION OF CANADA.

Twenty years ago the Sabbath School workers of Canada assembled for the first time for inspiration, information and communion. It was then the seed was sown that has become fruitful to an extent beyond our expectations.

Once more we meet in Christian conference, again expecting, because we are seeking, blessing on our deliberations. Surely it does behove us to lift up our hearts in gratitude and praise. Let us come into God's presence with a song, be thankful, and speak good of His name.

Well might we be joyful in the Lord, because of His bountiful providence to us as a people. Peace and plenty are crowning us, while war, pestilence and famine are desolating other lands; and as prefatory to any report of the proceedings of this Association, we would stir up one another to offer a special sacrifice of praise to the Father of mercies, our heavenly Father.

The Mission work formerly carried on by the Ontario Sabbath School Missionary Union, was, at the last Provincial Convention, by unanimous consent adopted by this Association. The Board of Management engaged Mr. C. Crassweller, the late agent of that Union, to undertake this mission work for a term of six months, which term expired in September.

At a late meeting of the Board, an expression of its entire satisfaction with Mr. Crassweller was given as follows: "That on receiving and adopting Mr. Crassweller's Report for the year, as agent of this Association, the Executive Committee unanimously record their satisfaction with the said report, as well as with those received on former occasions. They further express their warm approval of the amount and character of the work accomplished, realizing as they do the importance and duty of extending the operations of Sabbath Schools to the remotest parts of the Province."

That

ord.

her in

sum to

lock is

s time

wants

nd the eeting? ts. It eculiar

done.
in our
expethey
week

k the

itants.
Sature New
stry it
naving

Monlay, or earlier r yet,

meetone on of the

d the

It is not the time to enter into details of the work which has been performed; an opportunity will, we expect, be afforded for the agent himself to do this. We briefly report that he in the six months travelled 2,731 miles, visited 42 Sabbath Schools, having 344 teachers and 2,834 scholars. He organized 24 schools, with 95 teachers and 612 scholars; delivered 62 sermons or addresses, and gave from the Association \$34 62 worth of Sabbath School material. This work has been done for the most part in some of the very outlying districts of our Province, where neither travel nor entertainment are inviting but where he was welcomed as the Sabbath School Missionary.

This being the third year since it was attempted to collect the Sabbath School Statistics of Ontario and Quebec; also it being decided that next spring, at the Second International Convention, as complete statistics as possible shall be presented; printed schedules, with blanks for collecting the same, were supplied to the counties and cities. Where this Association has no county secretaries, the Public School Inspectors or others were applied to, to distribute the same to Sabbath School superintendents, and report the result. This has been done at a considerable expense to this Association, and with much work to faithful county secretaries. Any measure of success has only been gained by repeated effort. One secretary, Mr. Mont gomery, the Secretary for Durham, only succeeded by spending four days in travelling through the county, and calling upon parties connected with the schools; but by this means he did succeed, and he has reported every Sabbath School in the county.

Your Secretary regrets that, awaiting the county and other reports to him, this General Report has been so delayed; indeed, the majority of the reports received came late to hand, and in some cases only a few school reports have one by one been received.

Twenty-eight counties and cities only have been reported to your Secretary. These give the following statistics:

1,252* Sabbath Schools, though it is estimated that in these twenty-eight, were all reported, there are certainly 1,687 schools. The greater part are open all the year. 15,419 officers and teachers are reported; 125,842 scholars.

333 schools have teachers' meetings, principally for the lesson. The greater part use the International Lessons.

210 of the schools have reviews, principally quarterly.

233 schools have black-boards. Some counties, in addition, report black-boards, but do not state how many schools have them.

177,367 volumes in the school libraries.

44 Mi Besides to by them. 3,973

\$11,50 \$41,97 The C Schools,

1,713; a
The C
1,553; l
Toron

Toron North 29 sel reported

York an
It is r
beyond a
Schools
ture; in
and in a
ful year.

The rethe countries adv

Some held, ye teachers taken up these co Gladl present

Yet vertical deficience entertain provide, the exterment, vertical substantial definition of the substantial definition of the

^{*} It is reported to the Education Department that in the Province of Ontario alone there are 3,941 Sabbath Schools, with 236,590 scholars.

44 Mission Schools are supported either by the churches or schools.

Besides these, four other schools report that they are partly sustained by them.

3.973 have been received into the church.

\$11,501 24 contributed to benevolent and missionary operations.

\$41,979 67 expended on the Sabbath Schools.

The County of Wellington reports the largest number of Sabbath Schools, being 226; also the largest number of officers and teachers, 1,713; and scholars, 12,654.

The City of Toronto comes next in officers and teachers, having 1,553; but it has the largest number of scholars, being 14,041.

Toronto reports teachers' meetings, 38.

Toronto and Peel each report 50 schools reviewing the lessons.

North York comes next, having 49 schools that review.

29 schools only report having maps, though these are not generally reported; yet it is believed there is a great lack in this respect.

Institutes and Normal Classes have multiplied. Oxford, North York and Peel are prominent in this respect.

It is most encouraging to be able to state to this Association that, beyond all former years, the thirst for improvement in the Sabbath Schools of Ontario is most manifest. In school buildings and furniture; in the art of teaching; in study and preparation of the lessons, and in additions to the church from the schools, this has been a fruitful year.

The report your Secretary is able to render is only for a portion of the counties and schools, and therefore does but partially describe this advancement. The prospect for another year encourages us to consider that it will yet be far greater.

Some of the best and most enthusiastic Conventions have been held, yet Township Conventions are much needed. The majority of teachers do not attend the County Conventions. This needs to be taken up, so that all our Sabbath Schools may have the benefit of these conferences.

Gladly would we close this report without adding what duty and present necessity require. There has been a great deficiency of means to meet all the demands upon the Treasury.

Yet unpleasant as this is, it has to be looked at fairly, and the deficiency should be met honourably. It can be done; and we cannot entertain the idea that Canada, that has provided, and does so liberally provide, the means for sustaining the many excellent institutions for the extension of religious, benevolent, literary and moral advancement, will be wanting for the extension and advancement of its Sabbath School work.

1

has been he agent months teachers

hers and from the his work districts inviting,

the Sabdecided complete h blanks d cities.

c School to Sabhas been ch much cess has . Montling four

ties con-, and he r reports majority

es only a

to your

e greater eported; e lesson.

n, report

ne there are

If every county, by its Sabbath School Associations, will only follow the examples of North York, and which is only one riding of a county; or of Peel, which was the first to hold a County Convention and organize an Association, and last held its Nineteenth Annual Convention; or of the first Presbyterian Church Sabbath School in St. Catharines, that gives its \$50 annually* to the mission work of this Association, there will be abundance. This matter is affectionately commended to your decided, careful and wise consideration at this time.

We might mention noble instances of individuals who are annually liberal contributors; but there are yet many who we believe only require to be applied to, to liberally aid also in supplying all that is deficient and sufficient.

Before closing, it is our duty to report to this Convention that as the Second International Sabbath School Convention will be in Session in Atlanta, in the State of Georgia, next April, means will be required for the expenses of the representatives of Canada to and from that Convention. Let us well remember that it was Canada that requested the National Convention in Indianapolis to call the next Triennial as an International Convention, and that Canada accordingly has been united to the United States in this Triennial Conference, and that Canada must be in its place at Atlanta.

Respectfully submitted for the Sabbath School Association of Canada.

WILLIAM MILLARD, General Secretary.

Mr. D. Fotheringham, of Aurora: Having heard the Report, I beg to move its reception and adoption.

Mr. N. Watson, Belleville, seconded the motion.

Mr. D. McLean said either the whole of the amounts which were due ought to be in the Report or none at all. He then noticed what was owing to the General Secretary, but he had not put that amount in.† He (Mr. McLean) had great doubts whether anything was to be gained by having any of the amounts owing, in the Report.

Mr. Fotheringham said the Committee had insisted on Mr. Millard giving a statement of what was due him, but he objected to it. As the Financial Statement was to be presented as a whole by Mr. McLean, it might be well to omit any mention of the deficiency from this Report. He moved that the deficiencies be omitted.

Mr. Watson agreed to this amendment.

Rev. T. WARDROPE supported what had been said by Mr. McLean. He thought the whole statement of their liabilities should be made known—n
And he w
such word
but he tho
what migh
to clear of
mate estin
not be abl
others were

The GE the sums t

> The Pro The Ger Mr. Mc

Mr. Mc Report—t read the fo

To the Pres

BRETHR honour to

l. In a mittee of Belleville, certain se principal as financia Canvassing forth the above the Conversion of the conversi

This Asso workers of according t tions.

The object

2. The in 3. The ex

School worl

4. The or local Sabbar

^{*} We might have also added that the Northern Congregational Sabbath School in Toronto gave \$75 last year.

 $[\]dagger$ Some items of indebtedness were included in the Report, as read by the General Secretary. These have been left out here.

known—not printed or published, but made known in that house. And he would just throw out a suggestion: be wanted to avoid all such words as taxing the Convention or rating the Sabbath Schools, but he thought if their official members would kindly let them know what might be required from each Sabbath School, the whole amount to clear off their indebtedness could be raised at once, if an approximate estimate could be given. Though many of the churches might not be able to send more than a half or a third of what was stated, others would send twice or thrice as much.

The General Secretary asked if the meaning was that merely the sums that were owing were to be left out.

The President.—Yes.

y fol-

of a

ntion

nual

ool in

ork of

ction-

on at

ually

only that

hat as

ill be

and anada

ll the

anada

ennial

on of

ary.

ort, I

were

what

nount

as to

. Mil-

to it.

y Mr.

Lean.

made

Toronto

cretary.

The General Secretary's Report, as amended, was then adopted.

Mr. McLean, before presenting an abstract of the Treasurer's Report—the Hon. John McMurrich being prevented by illness—read the following

REPORT OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE.

TORONTO, October 8th, 1877.

To the President and Executive Committee of the Sabbath School Association of Canada.

BRETHREN,—The Finance Committee of the Association have the honour to report as follows:

1. In accordance with the recommendation of the Finance Committee of 1875 and 1876, adopted at the last Annual Convention in Belleville, the Committee endeavoured to secure the assistance of certain selected friends of the Association, who resided in the principal cities and towns of Ontario, and who were invited to act as financial agents for the Association in their respective localities. Canvassing books were prepared; and the following circular, setting forth the needs and urging the claims of the Association, was issued by the Committee:

SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION OF CANADA.

This Association is composed of the most carnest Canadian Sabbath School workers of all evangelical denominations. Every Sabbath School in Canada, according to its size, is entitled to send one or more delegates to its Conventional Canada, as the convention of the

OBJECTS.

The objects of the Association are :-

1. The awakening of a deeper interest in Sabbath School work.

2. The introduction of the best methods of teaching and managing schools.

 The explanation of the most advanced ideas in connection with Sabbath School work; such as Teachers' Meetings, Normal Classes, Uniform Lessons, New Apparatus, &c.

4. The organization and fostering of city, county, town, township, and other local Sabbath School Associations.

5. In addition to the above work, the Association, at its late Convention in Belleville, assumed the work hitherto done by the "Ontario Missionary Union," viz. the establishment of Sunday Schools in the back towaship and settlements of Ontario, where churches have not yet been established. This work was undertaken at the unanimous request of the "Missionary Union" Board, and it is most earnestly hoped by the Finance Committee that those who have been accustomed to give in support of each institution will give towards the support of the Association a sum equal, at least, to the sum formerly given to both.

WORK ACCOMPLISHED.

The work done by the Association can only be estimated by comparing the Sabbath Schools of to-day with those of ten years ago. What a revolution has taken place! What a magnificent organization has been wroughbout of comparative chaos! With new appliances, new methods, new plans, new aims, and new life, the Sunday Schools of the present differ in every essential feature from kindred assemblies of the past. This change is mainly due to the Sabbath School Association. Either directly or indirectly it has extended its influence throughout the whole country. Many who even speak of it disparagingly have gathered its fruits from their more enterprising neighbours.

NECESSITY FOR ITS CONTINUATION.

Some would have us believe that Sabbath School Conventions have fulfilled their purpose; that the work of the Association is done.

Has Sabbath School work reached a climax, beyond which it cannot go? We do not think so. New aids, better methods, and broader plans must ye be introduced. But, even if this were not so,' the Association would still have important functions. New and inexperienced teachers are constantly entering the ranks. They need to be trained, and those already in the service need constantly to be re-awakened, and lifted out of the "ruts" into which they so naturally fall. Public schools are more thoroughly organized, and more efficiently managed than Sunday Schools, yet the necessity for conventions, institutes, &c., was never more strongly felt than now. So long as Sunday Schools continue, Sunday School Associations will have duties to perform.

FINANCIAL ESTIMATE.

To perform its work properly, the Association will require annually about \$2,000

The chief items in the amount are :

- 1. Salary of the General Secretary.
- 2. Salary of the Missionary Agent (six months), with travelling expenses.
- 3. Representatives' expenses to International Lesson Committee.
- 4 Postare
- 5. Printing and Stationery.
- 6. Printing Annual Report.

A supply of these circulars and canvassing books were sent to the following gentlemen:—W. N. Hossie, Esq., Brantford; N. J. McCalla, Esq., St. Catharines; Wm. Edgar, Esq., Hamilton; James McLung, Esq., Bowmanville; J. R. Miller, Esq., Goderich; G. D. Platt, Esq., Picton; Wm. Craig, jun., Esq., Port Hope; J. Jamison, Esq., Woodville; W. L. Smellie, Esq., Fergus; Dr. McGuire, Guelph; P. Le Seur, Esq., Ottawa; A. Mutchmor, Esq., Ottawa;

C. W. Co Philp, St. monson, Esq., Kin

With t result of literally n

2. Finsatisfacto Executiv cities and oldest an in this ca will be p vinced th require t in all par only nece speedily believe th they res authorize salary or be best.

annual s
the most
fair amo
trust the
carry on
manner
4. Wi
money fo

3. The

have sub

money to discontinuthe Annuthey ear members day Scho 5. Th

aided in year. I yet they more th To this

C. W. Coate, Esq., Montreal; Hon. Judge Dean, Lindsay; Rev. J. vention in Philp, St. Mary's; J. H. McFaul, Esq., Brockville; Rev. J. B. Eddissionary monson, Columbus; G. W. Andrews, Esq., Kingston; A. Chown, townships tablished. Esq., Kingston. Missionary With the exception of the amount raised in St. Catharines, the nittee that

result of this action, so far as known to the Committee, has been

literally nothing.

2. Finding that this method of raising funds was not likely to be satisfactory, the Committee, in accordance with a resolution of the Executive Committee, employed an agent to canvass a few of the cities and towns convenient to Toronto. Mr. S. P. Irwin, one of the oldest and truest friends of the Association, kindly consented to work in this capacity, and the Committee is fully convinced that his labours will be productive of much good to the Association. His work convinced the Committee that the needs and claims of the Association require to be laid clearly and fully before the Sabbath School workers in all parts of the country by an authorized agent; and that it is only necessary to take such a course in order to place the Association speedily upon a satisfactory financial basis. So thoroughly do they believe the appointment of a financial agent to be a necessity, that they respectfully recommend that the Executive Committee be authorized to employ one to canvass for the Association, either on a salary or a per centage of the sum collected, as may in their opinion be best.

3. The Committee, in preparing canvassing books, arranged to have subscriptions given in two ways: either for one year only, or as The latter method they, of course, regard as annual subscriptions. They are gratified to be able to report that a the most satisfactory. fair amount has already been subscribed in this manner; and they trust that ere long a great proportion of the amount necessary to carry on the work of the Association may be subscribed in such a manner as to be relied upon as a fixed annual income.

4. While recommending the appointment of an agent to raise money for the Association, the Committee do not recommend the discontinuance of the taking up of collections and subscriptions at the Annual Conventions, at least for the present. On the contrary, they earnestly request a more liberal response than usual from the members of the Association, as individuals, or as representing Sun-

day Schools or local Associations.

5. The Committee desire to thank all those who so cheerfully aided in carrying on the work of the Association during the past year. It has been one of unusual closeness in financial circles, and yet they are glad to be able to report that the amount collected was more than \$500 in excess of that raised during the previous year. To this may be added a sum of nearly \$100 subscribed and not yet

y essential ly due to extended peak of it eighbours.

tution will to the sum

paring the

revolution

ght out of

plans, new

re fulfilled cannot go?

must yet still have ntly enterthe service into which nized, and or conven-So long as duties to

ally about

expenses.

nt to the N. J. Mci; James h; G. D. J. Jamie-McGuire, Ottawa; collected, but which the Committee hope to realize. The amount given by County Associations was much larger than in previous years. This is a hopeful sign.

6. In conclusion, the Committee confidently express the hope that by a general effort on the part of the members of the Association, and by the blessing of Almighty God, the time will soon come when the Association will be able to stand before the world, as all Christian institutions should stand, free from debt.

Respectfully submitted.

JAMES HUGHES.

Chairman, Finance Committee.

Mr. McLean then read the Abstract of the Treasurer's Report, as follows :

ABSTRACT FROM SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION CASH BOOK

D_{R} .			Cr.	
To Balance due Treasurer . § Rev. Mr. Millard	17 9 14 27	00 00 00 75 26 35 25 25	S. S. Associations. Sunday Schools. Private Subscriptions. Collected by Mr. Irwin D. McLean, Treas. late Ont. S. S. Miss. Advertising Reports sold Balance due Treasurer.	571 5 369 9 160 1
\$1,	,560	62	, 8	1,560 6

Mr. McLean said the Convention must know that they were at present at least a thousand dollars (\$1,000) behind. He thought they could raise that quite easily in this Convention. He thought if they appointed an agent he would get \$1,500 more, which would make them clear, and enable them to start well. He moved the adoption of the Report of the Finance Committee.

Mr. W. Edgar seconded the adoption of the Report.

The Rev. Mr Brock, of Guelph, said he would be in favour of the acceptance of the Report presented by Mr. McLean, with the exception of the part relating to the financial agent. If they could not pay the agents they now employed, he was seriously inclined to question the wisdom of appointing another.

Rev. Dr. Cochrane, of Brantford, said he felt great difficulty in coming to the conclusion that another paid agent should be appointed. In our churches the question of agency was rather being frowned

down; and of the mon Association \$2,000 coursecretary of money. Vit would b \$3,000.

Mr. Mc tical, but i as high as They found except by that position else. an answer money.

The GES admirable but they v ones. Mr. Mc

the matter and were s not otherw Mr. G.

Mr. Mc.

Rev. Mi look after

Rev. Mu to interfere

Rev. Mr very careful thing differ any agent appropriate in a position the church Convention amount
previous

ope that
ociation,
ne when
ll Chris-

ommittee.

H BOOK.

were at they if they d make adoption

vour of with the ey could lined to

culty in pointed. Frowned down; and, rightly or wrongly, they got the idea that a large amount of the money went to the agent and nowhere else. Now they (the Association) had two agents, and they needed them both. He thought \$2,000 could be raised every year without a paid agent. Surely the Secretary of the County could be held responsible to gather in the money. Why not tax all the schools of the counties? He believed it would be an utter failure to appoint another paid agent to get in \$3,000. If they could not get it otherwise, the loyalty of the people to Sabbath Schools was below zero.

Mr. McLean said all that had been said was right if it was practical, but it did not work in ordinary life. They had lifted standards as high as possible, but they could not begin to get money by it. They found the agent did good, and they had no idea of paying him except by a per centage on what he collected. The right man in that position would be able to accomplish a great deal more than any one else. At present, the Secretary could scarcely get a report or an answer from the county secretaries, much less get them to collect money.

The GENERAL SECRETARY said: Some of the county secretaries are almirable secretaries. Some of them he could not get an answer from; but they were going to improve, or they would have to get better ones.

Mr. McLean said the only desire of the Committee was to remit the matter to the Executive Committee; and if they thought it best, and were satisfied that the agent would be a paying institution, and not otherwise, then to engage him.

Mr. G. Bruce, of St. Catharines.—How long was Mr. Irwin employed, and how much did he collect?

Mr. McLean.—I cannot say. He only got a commission on what he collected.

Rev. Mr. Sheppard said he thought the General Secretary should look after the matter.

The General Secretary objected to interfere with the matter of finance, but he would do their work otherwise.

Rev. Mr. Sheppard said he did not think it would damage him to interfere with filthy lucre.

Rev. Mr. Andrews said the Committee had the matter under their very careful consideration, and he therefore regretted to suggest anything different from their conclusion; but it occurred to him that any agent engaged in establishing schools could be permitted to appropriate half the year to this work of canvassing: he would be in a position to move upon the Christian sympathy and liberality of the churches as no one else could. He should be very sorry for the Convention to employ another agent.

Mr. McLean said if they employed Brother Crassweller they must pay him. Now they only employed him half the year. The Committee did not recommend the appointment of any man; they merely asked the Convention to remit that matter to the Executive Committee.

Mr. Edgar said that last year, at the Convention in Belleville, when they found they were so much behind, he had undertaken to raise \$300 out of the City of Hamilton. When he returned home he got two members of the (Hamilton) Committee, with very great difficulty, to meet him, and they divided the money guaranteed by him among the schools. To some of these he had gone at least fifteen times, and he found other schools that sent representatives to the Convention were quite willing to give. Both paid their own expenses, and also to keep the Institution. One school gave \$20 instead of \$40; some, instead of \$10, gave \$5; but others, that were set down at \$5, \$7 and \$10, did not give a cent. When the gentleman sent by the Convention came he succeeded a little. These schools reasoned that if all the schools in Canada gave, \$2 would be about their amount.

A DELEGATE.—There are three hundred schools represented here. If each would give ten dollars (\$10) on an average, that would raise the required amount.

Rev. Mr. Lowry suggested that the Association should endeavour to ruise its funds as much as possible through the County Associations. He thought they could do it with a great deal more workable machinery, and at less expense than the Provincial Association. Perhaps they could manage at the time of their annual meeting to have as much in their hands as this association would expect from the whole of the particular county. It was really astonishing that three, and four and five years ago subscriptions had been promised at the Annual Provincial Association meetings which were not yet paid; and he thought that by handing this matter over to the County Association, that they were likely to get in the funds much more readily, and with no expense whatever to the Provincial Association

Subscriptions were then promised by the representatives of schools, and other members of the Convention, to the amount of \$723.

Rev. G. BRUCE moved that the Report (read by Mr. McLean) be adopted, with the exception of the clause relating to the financial agent; and that that clause be referred back to the Business Committee to report at some future meeting.

The amendment was carried.

Mr. Ede following I Association Toronto Su

Rev. M Schools, as The reso

applause, Instead of posed a conecessities questions : Q.—WI

class ?

Mrs. S.

Mrs. CI have it p all wet, bu the room the room think a b like pendt to elevate I would h of extra peanut sa than noth children, arrangeme your walls and a pla which ma

Q.—W.
Mrs. Cr
not health
down the

Q.—Do Mrs. Cr seating, as she ought

THE INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION OF 1881.

Mr. Edgar, on behalf of the Business Committee, submitted the following resolution: "That this Association invite the International Association to hold their meeting of 1881 in Toronto, provided the Toronto Sunday School Association acquiesce in that."

Rev. Mr. McEwen: 1881 will be the centenary of Sabbath Schools, as established by Robert Raikes.

The resolution was adopted.

PRIMARY CLASSES.

Mrs. S. N. Clark, of New York, who was received with loud applause, was then introduced to give an address on Primary Classes. Instead of teaching a primary class before the Convention, she proposed a conversation on primary class work, the methods and the necessities of the school. She would be glad if any one would ask questions as to primary class work.

Q.—What is the first thing you do when you form a primary class }

Mrs. CLARK -- We get a room to put them in, a decent room, and have it properly ventilated-not one of those cellars below ground. all wet, but with sufficient air; not too small, nor too large. Let the room be as attractive as it possibly can be. In the furnishing of the room too little importance is placed on the surroundings. They think a bare floor and high seats, where the children's feet swing like pendulums, is quite good enough. They are not. We endeavour to elevate the mind of the little children, and cultivate a refined taste. I would have a carpet on the floor. It gives the teacher a great deal of extra work when there is no carpet. If you only sew some peanut sacks together, and place them on the ground, it is better than nothing. Have the room seated with seats of a size for the children, graded according to the size; and take out the gallery arrangement altogether. Have them all on a level floor. Put around your walls mottoes and pictures. Have a book-case for the books, and a place to hang the hats on, and all those little conveniences which make a room so attractive and convenient for the teacher.

Q.—What are the advantages of the level floor over the gallery ?
Mrs. Clark.—The gallery makes the air much more stifled; it is not healthy. There is a great deal of trouble too in getting up and down the steps.

Q.—Do you get their attention as well on the level floor?

Mrs. CLARK.—Yes; better. It is not so much the manner of the seating, as the teacher herself, who holds attention if she teaches as she ought.

nted here. ould raise

endeavour

hey must

The Com-

y merely

tive Com.

Belleville,

rtaken to home he

great difed by him ast fifteen

the Con-

expenses.

nstead of

set down

man sent

reasoned

out their

ty Associators workssociation, neeting to pect from shing that promised re not yet the County nuch more ssociation, of schools, 723.

IcLean) be e financial iness ComQ.—Do you prefer one teacher for the whole school?

Mrs. Clark .- Yes; one teacher over all departments, if she has two hundred scholars. I would rather have three hundred scholars than be bothered with twenty teachers. Of course, she must have her assistants; but don't allow your assistants to speak out Let the teacher control the school herself. The subject of obedience is very important. The teacher must have the school thoroughly obedient, and that can be obtained by perfect silence the obedience of the child following the motion of the teacher, I do not think age has anything to do with it. Actual ability should be the guide. A child may be twenty years, and not know enough to go into the Bible class; and another may be ten years who can go there. Keep your children in your primary departments as long as you possibly can. I think it is outrageous for the superintendent to take out these girls because he wants to make a new class! Let the teacher of the school be the judge. When she says they know enough, put them upstairs; but keep them as long as you can for this reason. In the preparation of the International Lessons. the gentlemen of that committee did not publish an intermediate step. The scholar goes from the primary department to the other school, and there is a great gap that they do not know what to do with. The teaching is so different that the little children do not gain anything. They go back. There ought to be in all schools an intermediate step, and very few schools have it.

Q.—Would you have the primary class in with the rest of the school at the opening?

Mrs. Clark.—No; not at all. Let it seem almost like another school, but connected with the school; but let the teacher conduct her own exercises. Let the scholars say, "It is my school." We all help in my school. In my own school we have a regular opening service. It is responsive. The children take their part and I mine, and then we sing, and then I pray, and they say a little prayer. You can hear the clock tick.

Q.—How do you succeed in responsive reading when they do not know how to read?

Mrs. Clark.—It is not a reading, but a recitation. I have to teach it to them. It does not grow old. Some are always going out, and those who are in teach those who come in.

Q.—Do you hold yourself fixed to the responsive service in the same form all the time, or are you free to vary it?

Mrs. CLARK.—I hold mysely free, but I don't do it; because these children cannot read, and they could not remember anything new.

Q.—What would you use?

Mrs. Clark explained the opening exercises in her school, and read the prayers which were used. Q.—Do

Mrs. Codos not gaquiet so There is that she n who must ably. Do cannot co with a sel be very not shake Q.—Ho

Mrs. C
of the las
thing abo
children
phrase.
to be succe
their seat
the lessor
the golden
card. The
the numb
before I c
Mrs. C

what she
Q.—Do
quietly at
Mrs. C

Mrs. C They have reward as them, and half an half they want to be qui noisy whe them, the

Mrs. C are putting try, if po have a re them to v $Q.{\rm -Do}$ you find it possible to keep these little ones quiet during the school hours ?

Mrs. Clark.—Yes. A teacher who is prepared in her work, and does not give any time to play, or play herself, has no trouble about a quiet school. Keep them busy and you will keep them quiet. There is plenty of work. A teacher must know her lesson so well that she must keep them busy. There is sometimes an unruly boy who must be set aside peaceably. Everything must be done peaceably. Don't talk loudly. A teacher must control herself or she cannot control her school. (Applause.) You must do everything with a self-controlled feeling. You must not be agitated. You may be very nervous, and feel as if you could shake John; but you must not shake him.

Q.—How do you manage to get into the lesson ?

Mrs. Clark.—Before we commence our lesson we have a review of the last lesson, and the children must be expected to know something about it. We review our golden text and lesson phrases. The children when they go home are given a little card having a lesson phrase. You must use the International Lesson Series if you want to be successful. They have to recite these phrases before they take their seat. We give out also a lesson paper. After getting through the lesson of the day we read this paper. They have also to learn the golden text on the paper, and I punch two holes in the lesson card. They give me the number of the card, recite the lesson phrase, the number on the paper, and the golden text of last Sunday's paper, before I commence on this Sunday's lesson.

Mrs. CLARK then explained on the black-board how she conducted what she termed object work.

Q.—Do you find any difficulty in their coming in and retiring quietly at the opening and the closing of the school?

Mrs. Clark.—I do not ask them to be quiet for a short time. They have to get there and recite their lessons, because there is a reward attached to them. I have one hundred and ninety-nine of them, and we could not hear all these in a small time, so they come half an hour or three-quarters of an hour before. I let them do what they want during that time, and all I have to do when I want them to be quiet is to stand silent. There is wisdom in letting them be noisy when you don't want them quiet, and then when you want them, they will be quiet.

Q.—How long do you keep your school in session?

Mrs. CLARK.—From an hour to an hour and a quarter. If you are putting in much new singing, I generally extend the time. I try, if possible, to stop at the hour. In dismissing the school we have a regular system. I do not allow any confusion then. I teach them to whisper, and so on; but before the close of the school I have

she has

scholars

e must

eak out

subject

school

silence.

teacher.

ability

t know

rtments

super-

a new

he says

as you

essons.

mediate

e other

t to do do not lools an

of the

another

luct her I help in

service.

nd then

ou can

do not

have to

ing out,

in the

se these

nd read

to get them perfectly quiet. Then at the signal of the bell the boys take their hats. Then the outside sections rise, and at another signal move. I insist on their doing it orderly. I never use any bell, except in dismissal. I do not mortify any child by calling its name aloud. I go and speak to him. A teacher can do more in two minutes quiet loving talk with a child, than by mortifying him by exposing him to the whole school.

Q.—Do you ever have to speak and hold their attention with a story !

Mrs. CLARK.—No. If I cau't hold them with the lesson I will stop and go home. That is the worst thing a teacher can do. If you lose your children's attention, don't try to gain it again, because it will be a failure.

Q.—Your school is separated from the other part of the school Mrs. CLARK.—Yes; and I think that is far better.

Q.—Supposing there should be only ten or twelve in the class, how would you proceed i

Mrs. CLARK.—Just the same; only then the teacher can get their little heads round her knee, and use a slate instead of a black-board.

Q .- Would you ask for a separate room for a class of that size?

Mrs. Clark.—I do not know. You cannot call that a primary school. I hardly think I would ask for a separate room, unless it was easy to be had. If I had to be in the room where the other school was, I would divide it with a curtain, so that the eye would be protected from anything in the other part of the room.

Q.—Do you keep a roll, and how do you check their attendance!

Mrs. Clark.—Our roll and our collection are very intimately connected one with the other. We give out at the beginning of the conference year a package of fifty-two envelopes. They are numbered with a number from one to two or three hundred, and on them the word "present" is written. Then they are registered according to these numbers on my roll. I ask the parent to say how much she will sond towards the collection, and I have the amount before the name of each child. I tell them, if you don't put your envelope in the box, I shall mark you absent. It would take half you't time to call their names over. They enjoy slipping their envelopes into that letter-box. When the school is dismissed I check it off, and so I keep a record of the money and the accurate attendance of my school. There were \$319 raised by my primary department this year.

Q.—Do you find this successful in leading children to the Saviour Mrs. Clark.—The teaching? Yes; most successful.

Q.—Do you separate the sexes?

Mrs. Cr the boys f them in or Q.—We

Mrs. Cought to. church muthe truste and they and \$500 Q.—W

Mrs. C cause, an goes for t

Mrs. C able to be don't brin Mrs. C

Hymnof childre Rev. M the Sessi

The C

The R The M Profes

OUR

Rev. ments it was u been Mr the boys

er signal

ny bell,

ts name

in two

him by

with a

n I will

do. If

because

chool?

he class.

get their

a black-

size?

primary

inless it he other

e would

idance? .tely con-

g of the umbered

hem the

ording to nuch she

efore the

velope in

time to into that and so I

y school.

Saviour?

Mrs. CLARK.—If you have a very large school you might divide the boys from the girls; but generally, I think it is better to have them in one room—boys and girls.

Q.—Would you not prefer that the church support the school, and let the money go for missions?

Mrs. Clark.—Our church takes care of our school. Every church ought to. The church and the school are one. (Applause.) The church must take care of the school. We hand all our money in to the trustees. We raise \$1,200 in the upper school and \$300 in mine, and they give me the supplies. They give \$150 a year for my school and \$500 for the upper school.

Q-Would it not be an improvement to your interest in the school if the church would not ask you to give that money to it?

Mrs. Clark.—No; because we give \$1,200 a year to the mission cause, and the children understand that part of their contribution goes for the mission cause.

Q.—Are there are not many of your scholars unable to contribute at all !

Mrs. Clark.—I have not found any case where the child was not able to bring a cent, however poor they are. If they cannot, they don't bring it; but I have none on my roll that do not.

Mrs. Clark resumed her seat amid loud applause.

Hymn—"Jesus loves me, this I know," was then sung by a party of children.

Rev. Mr. McEwen, of Ingersoll, pronounced the benediction, and the Session closed.

FIFTH SESSION.

The Convention re-assembled at 7.30

Hymn 151-"He leadeth me."

The Rev. F. W. Dobbs led in prayer.

The Minutes of the Fourth Session were read and sustained.

Professor Sherwin sang as a solo, "My ain country."

OUR DISCOURAGEMENTS—WHAT ARE THEY, AND HOW REMEDIED.

Rev. Dr. Cochrane delivered an address on "Our Discouragements—What are They, and How Remedied." He said he thought it was unfortunate to put such a topic as this on the bill; but it had been Mr. Millard's choice, and not his. He would rather be in the

position of the Rev. Mr. Jeffrey, who he understood was to speak of encouragements instead of discouragements; because, looking around him, he thought discouragements the last thing to speak of He knew no branch of the church that had had so much success during the last half century as Sabbath Schools. Let them compare what was done now with what was done in the days of Robert Raikes and Fox, and they would see that not even the pulpit had greater cause to rejoice than the Sabbath Schools. But it would not be well if ther had no discouragement. As no exercise of the muscular power was required to sail down with the tide, so it was not good for churches or Sabbath School teachers to have no opposition to contend with He believed the Almighty allowed them, as Sabbath School teachers. churches and ministers, to meet with opposition to test their faith, and enable them to do greater things for the Master in carrying on His work in the world. Let them look back to the missionary movement in 1796. When it was proposed in a large assembly of ministers to send missionaries to India and China, the minister who proposed it only escaped being censured. It was then said it was madness to send the gospel to the heathen; they should civilize them first; they should send them the arts and sciences, and then the gospel. It was only within the last few years that their churches had been sending forth missionaries to the East, West, North and South to convert the world for Christ. In the same way they had a right to expect in spite of all hindrances and obstacles in the way of Sabbath Schools, that they would go on and prosper, until every hamlet and village in the land, and even in the world, would have its Sabbath School and its Sabbath School teachers. There were three practical discourage ments to faithful men and women in Sabbath School work.

First.—There was a suspicious attitude held by certain ministers and office-bearers of churches towards Sabbath School work. He did not mean to charge the church, as a whole, with being opposed to Sabbath School work. It was only here and there that they found a congregation or a minister who in any way opposed this great and glorious work of instructing the young. But while the evangelical church, as a whole, was with Sabbath Schools, praying for their success and for the outpouring of the Spirit upon them, it was nevertheless true that here and there they found churches, or rather ministers—because churches were very much what ministers made them—who looked with a suspicious eye upon Sabbath School teachers and the success following their labours. They had heard inuendoes as if Sabbath School teachers were infringing upon the proper work of the church, instead of being, as they were, the best co-labourers with the evangelical ministry at the present day. How often do they find such remarks as these: "That man is a fanatic in Sabbath School work; an enthusiast; he has Sabbath School on the brain;" as if the work of Sabbath Schools was altogether apart from the work of that for fait denying the selves in th about them, discouragen Sabbath Sch something o bath School teach all the the church from some i recognize th just as muc believe the of the chile (It ought ev every assist words to ex they might Sabbath Sc strength lay pulpit, the blessing of and civilize

> vidual profe to Sabbath in the work for his bret every man the Sabbatl they must The time w the same now requir man or we sat at the s rated His Christ. B how difficu saving sou their nativ young mer the civil a aided by th

Second.

speak of

g around

of. He

ss during

are what

ikes and

ter cause

ll if they

wer was

churches

nd with

teachers,

aith, and

g on His

ovement

nisters to

posed it

s to send

st; they

It was

sending

overt the

xpect, in

Schools,

rillage in

hool and

scourage-

ninisters

He did

posed to

ey found

reat and

angelical

for their

as never-

r rather

rs made

School

id heard

ipon the

the best

. How

anatic in

ol on the

art from

the work of the church for evangelizing the world. He thought that for faithful Sabbath School teachers, who were from day to day denving themselves many of the comforts of life, sacrificing themselves in the work of teaching others, to have these remarks made about them, instead of ministers bidding them Godspeed, must be a discouragement. 1st. The church, as a church, should recognize the Sabbath School as part of the religious machinery of society; not as something outside. 2nd. Every true church should foster the Sabhath School by giving the teachers the best place, where they could teach all the classes; not the basement, but the best accommodation the church could provide. And then—though perhaps he differed from some in this -3d. Every true church should not only foster and recognize the Sabbath School, but should sustain the Sabbath School just as much as it sustained the minister in the pulpit. He did not believe the church had any right to take the missionary contributions of the children, from Sabbath to Sabbath, for any other purpose. It ought every year to vote a sum for the Sabbath School, and give every assistance in carrying out its work. He could hardly find words to express his wonder and surprise to find ministers, though they might be very few, who privately or publicly spoke against the Sabbath School. Any such minister did not know where his true strength lay. Next to the pulpit, or rather on an equality with the pulpit, the church and the Sabbath School combined, under the blessing of God, was the great instrumentality designed to convert and civilize the world in its highest light.

Second.—The second discouragement was the indifference of individual professing Christians to Sabbath School work. He spoke not to Sabbath School teachers alone, but to many who had not engaged in the work, and these remarks were intended for them as much as for his brethren who taught from day to day. He did not say that every man or woman should be a Sabbath School teacher. Just as the Sabbath School attained a higher development from year to year, they must have better teachers. He believed in normal classes. The time would come, as in the public schools, when they would have the same graces and gifts required for the Sabbath School as were now required for collegiate schools and public schools. But every man or woman who professed to believe the Lord Jesus Christ, and sat at the sacramental table and took the elements which commemorated His death, ought to take a hand in evangelizing the world for Christ. But in many churches when appeals were made for teachers, how difficult it was to get people to volunteer for this great work of saving souls. If the call "To arms!" was made on the borders of their native land they would find hundreds, nay thousands, of their young men willing to rush to the front and sacrifice themselves for the civil and religious liberty of the country; and they would be aided by the prayers of the ladies, who stood on a par with them in

the matter of patriotism. But when appeals for volunteers for the Sabbath Schools were made for classes without teachers, how many never came into the Sabbath Schools; how many, instead of going forward, stood back and looked at the Sabbath School teachers as indebted to them for the privilege of working, instead of realizing that they are indebted to the Sabbath School teachers. When they had their Christmas festivals, when they would expect their churches crowded to look upon these happy gatherings, how few took an interest in them. When they had days for review lessons, how few of the parents came into the Sabbath School; how many were they who discouraged the teacher in the work, rather than help him for ward. Surely the least thing to be expected would be that they should hold up the hearts of the teachers, should pray for them, and encourage them from time to time, and look in upon them from time to time as they were with their classes, and bid them Godspeed in the name of the Lord. Carey said, "If you will hold the rope, I will go down into the pit;" and so, if they had not the gifts and graces given to themselves to teach in the Sabbath School, let them do what they could to uphold the hands of these teachers and bid them Godspeed.

The third and last which he would mention-one specially that teachers felt-was the slender results, as they thought, from the Sabbath School, proportionate to the labour expended. It was all very well to say, "Sow the seed, and God will be faithful to His promise. and He will give the results." We all say this as ministers, and we comfort ourselves in times of sadness by the thought that the time is coming when we shall see the result in another world. But still I hold that we should look for results now, as the husbandman looks for the harvest as the result of his seed. Every faithful teacher has a right to expect, if he is faithful in the preparation of his lesson, and goes to his work with an earnest love for souls—a desire to save them for Christ-to see some results. But if they did not appear all at once, he should not be disheartened. If they summed up in any church where there were faithful Sabbath School teachers the number of souls gathered into the church, into Christ, the result of faithful Sabbath School work was greater than the result of the work of the pulpit. Even if they spent twenty or thirty years in this work, and only knew they had saved one soul, they had achieved a great result:

"Know'st thou the value of a soul immortal?
Behold the midnight glories, worlds on worlds:
Redouble the amount, then thousands add,
Then weigh them all—one soul outweighs them all."

If they had been instrumental in saving one soul, they would find it enough reward in the endless ages of eternity. In one Sabbath School in Kentucky over thirty years ago, there was only an average of 27 scholars in attendance. There was not a church in the place, simply a teachers. hands of of these ministry, revolution church in bath Sch genuinel

Years said, "P they are name of go on sh man-a but thir London barbaria came do work of ing on had fini captain islands, these n own lar Let not reap in come w those t As t

downrihad go
tide of
Govern
chair t
descens
seraph
Let th
perfect
more e
were r
The A
confine
when
every

simply a school in a hamlet, attended by two or three faithful teachers. During these thirty years 429 scholars passed through the hands of these Sabbath School teachers. Now for the results 107 of these were genuinely converted. Three of these are to-day in the ministry, preaching the gospel to the heathen. In the time of the revolution, 28 enlisted on the side of liberty and freedom. With no church in the neighbourhood, the result of the labours of these Sabbath School teachers was that 107 out of the 400 were known to be genuinely converted.

Years ago a boat went to the Hervey Islands, and a young man said, "Put me on shore." The captain said, "No, it is certain death; they are barbarians and fiends." He said, "Put me on shore, in the name of God; with an open Bible, live or die, I am determined to go on shore." They lowered the jolly-boat, and sent this foolish young man—as they thought—on shore. Nothing more was heard of him; but thirty years afterwards a ship-load of Bibles and Testaments left London for those islands; and as they approached, these uncivilized barbarians, having had their hearts softened by the grace of God, came down and received them joyfully-all being the result of the work of that young man. Two years ago, Dr. John Hall was preaching on Bible dissemination, and he told this incident, and when he had finished, a military looking man came up and said, "I was the captain of the vessel that took that boat-load of Bibles to those islands, and you have not been able to describe the beaming joy of these men when they had the word of God in their hands in their own language." Oh, that thousands of such instances might happen. Let none of them be discouraged. If they sowed in faith they would reap in joy. They might go forth mourning, but the time would come when they would sing "Harvest home," and rejoice over all those they had brought to Christ.

He would simply say, there was nothing like As to the remedies. downright enthusiasm in the work for overcoming opposition. They had got over the worst, and now the Sabbath School was on the high tide of prosperity. It is now an honour to belong to one. As the Governor of Pennsylvania said, when he came from the governor's chair to teach his class, he thought it was rather going higher than descending. This was a work which might engage the most glorious seraph around God's throne. Let them endeavour to avoid offence. Let them endeavour to perfect the work, so that it should be the most perfect machine in connection with the Church of Christ. Oh! for more enthusiasm. Whenever a cause was successful, whenever there were results, the world came round and sung hosanna! hallelujah! The Abolition cause, the liberation of the slave, a few years ago was confined to Great Britain and a few men in the United States; but when it went forward and grew to success, all men came round it, everybody became abolitionists. The Bible Societies, Tract Societies,

ould find Sabbath a verage the place,

s for the

ow many

of going

nchers as

realizing

hen they

churches took an

how few

vere they him for-

hat they

hem, and

rom time

dspeed in

pe, I will

nd graces

do what

iem God-

ally that

the Sab-

all very

promise,

s, and we

ie time is But still I

nan looks acher has

sson, and

ave them

ear all at

o in any

the num-

of faith-

e work of

his work,

d a great

Temperance Reform, all these in their infancy received opposition; now they were supported by all the Christian world. And so it would be with Sabbath Schools. Dr. Duff was addressing the General Assembly of the Free Church of Scotland on the subject of Foreign Missions The old man of seventy-five, with a flowing beard, and the wrinkles in his brow which he had received in that far-off land where he had been preaching Christ, was so overcome that he fainted away when he was asking for volunteers. When he came to, he said, "Carry me back again;" and he cried, "Young men of Scotland, I appeal to you, Go to the banks of the Ganges, and preach Christ to those poor. benighted Hindoos. If you do not listen to me, I will go again and die there, and leave my bones as a protest against your coldness." (Applause.) This was the spirit that should animate Sabbath School teachers. Duncan Matheson, the noble evangelist, a noble power in the Crimea and in England and Scotland, said: "Oh, if I could learn to print;" and he went and bought an old second-hand press, and he knelt down and begged God to instruct him to set type, so that he might not only speak to thousands, but might throw tracts by hundreds of thousands to the people. But first he put on the press the words, "For God and eternity." Let them have those words in mind next Sabbath day when they were with their class. Every soul they spoke to was to live for ever, either in endless misery or endless happiness. During the Crimean war, an English chaplain came out, and went to Hector Macpherson, the bandmaster of the 92nd Highlanders. He said, "You are a great success in speaking to these men. How should I do it in order to be successful?" Hector said, "Do you see that smoke yonder? That is the smoke of Liprandi's army. That ammunition is the ammunition of the Russians. These guns are the Russian artillery. There is no child's play here. We are in dead earnest. Either you must crush the Russians or they will crush you; and here you must be in dead earnest, or you cannot save a single soul." This world was lying in sin and misery. While there was a single soul unsaved, a single child that knew naught of Christ-whether in our civilized land or on the banks of the Ganges, in Africa or in China-as long as there was a soul to save, let them work in dead earnest for the salvation of that soul, and then their discouragement would flee away, and they would take part in that glorious hymn of rejoicing, sung by angels in heaven and the saved on earth-"Hallelujah! the kingdoms of this world are become the kingdoms of our Lord and of His Christ." There was a Scotch story to the effect that when Napoleon was carrying everything before him at Waterloo, he kept hold of an old Highland piper, and he said, "Donald, play us a pibroch," which is a beautiful thing for those who like it. "Now, play us a march;" and he played a march. "Now, play us a retreat." "Na, na," said Donald, "I never played a retreat in all my life, and I never will." (Loud applause.)

Profess shall we accomplis Schools? know. tion, and opposite, we gathe Profess

Answer.Profes
there are
2. Those
deal. 4
who star

Profes definite. thing els parents, poor, sh special obetween in them in the cill. Old Inexper small ch. Profe

man wh Why ch Profe somethi Why ch 3. "Tra

Profe School church. are spe minds a young. sions la

Profe and you

WHO SHOULD BE SUNDAY SCHOOL SCHOLARS.

n; now

ould be

sembly

issions

rinkles

he had

when

rry me

to you.

e poor, in and

dness."

School

wer in d learn

and he

hat he

y hun-

ess the

ords in

Every

sery or

naplain

of the

eaking

oke of

e Ruschild's

ish the

n dead

ing in

e child

or on

re was

of that

would

heaven s world

ere was

every-

ghland beauti-

and he

onald,

(Loud

Professor Sherwin conducted a conversation on the subject of who shall we gather into the Sabbath Schools? Why these? and how accomplished? He said: Whom shall we gather into the Sunday Schools? You ought to know, but a good many people do not know. They say one thing and do another. They go to a Convention, and get red hot and say (things; and go home, and do the opposite, or more likely do nothing, which is worse. Whom shall we gather into the Sunday Schools? Auswer.—All.

Professor Sherw(s.—That is too general. We want the details.

Answer.—Begin with the children.

Professor Sherwin.—We will say then children generally, because there are many sorts of children. Answer.—1. The most ignorant.

2. Those willing to be taught.

3. Those people who know a great deal.

4. The neglected.

5. The members of the church.

6. Those who stand on our street corners.

Professor Sherwin.—It seems to me you are not getting this quite definite. There are rich and poor, ignorant and learned, and everything else. Let me give you a thought. Is there any reason why parents, business men, young men, women, poor children, neglected poor, should be sought for, with special reason for going for this special class? I would not give this pencil for all the conventions between this and the next centennial, unless you put practical work in them. Answer.—7. Business men. 8. Young men, strangers in the city. 9. Those who won't come of themselves. 10. Parents. 11. Old experienced Christians. 12. The heathen at home. 13. Inexperienced Christians. 14. Boys who smoke cigars. 15. Very small children.

Professor Sherwin.—Now, I am going to call for a reason. Every man who has mentioned a class is bound in duty to give a reason. Why children? Answer.—1. Because they need instruction.

Professor Sherwin.—That is too general, though true. We want something that will hug up tight; that would belong to everybody. Why children? Answer.—2. Because they are most easily taught. 3. "Train up a child in the way he should go."

Professor Sherwin.—Why should the children be in the Sunday School especially. Answer.—4. Because they are the hope of the church. 5. Their instruction is often neglected at home. 6. They are specially invited by Christ himself to come to him. 7. Their minds are more susceptible. 8. There are special promises for the young. 9. If you don't get them, the devil will. 10. Early impressions last longest.

Professor Sherwin.—Look amongst the old men and old women, and you will find their memory lies in layers; and as they throw off

in their old age one layer after another, the last one they come to is the first one they laid there. What you find in the old men's heart is what was put there when they were children. Now for the second question. Why the ignorant? Answer.—1. "My people are destroyed for lack of knowledge." 2. The methods of the Sunday School are suited to the ignorant. 3. Because they will learn the way of salvation. 4. Because they have most need. 5. Because "the fear of the Lord is the beginning of knowledge." 6. Because they will learn Christ, the light of the world, which they need.

Professor Sherwin.—Now for question three. Why should the people who know a great deal be brought into the Sunday School Answer.—1. To find out how little they know. 2. To unlearn what they have learned often. 3. If "the light that is in thee be darkness, how great is that darkness." 4. Those who think they know a great deal know nothing at all.

Professor Sherwin.—That statement is hardly a reason. However, a well-managed Sunday School is a good place to take the starch out of them. Why should business men be brought in? Answer.—1. To give prestige to the school.

Professor Sherwin.—A better word would be to help the school by their influence.

The President.—By their money. That is what it means. Answer.—2. By their presence to aid the school. 3. To change the current of their thoughts.

Professor Sherwin.—Why does it need change? Answer.—They are engaged in the world six days in the week.

Professor Sherwin.—Won't it combine the two to say to give restful change to their thought? *Answer.*—Yes. 4. Lay up treasure in heaven. 5.—Soul saving is high business.

Professor Sherwin.—Yes; but is it more for the business man than any other of these classes?

A Delegate.—Can you tell me what is meant by a business

Professor Sherwin.—Why, bless me, a man that is in business. (Laughter.) Answer.—6. It helps to punctuality and regularity in the school.

A Delegate.—Is every man in business?

Professor Sherwin.—The common acceptation of a business man, is not what you could grind right down. It means a man engaged in some special business of the mercantile line, or in that direction. We don't speak of a farmer as a business man; yet it is a farmer's business to be a farmer, and a minister's business to be about his ministerial work, and mine to attend every Sunday School Convention that I am asked to. You can spoil anything if you want to take it

all to pi We all u School s School?

Profes York fe

Profe

special o and ano bath Sc temptat Sunday means t fish for waters. another about t speakin speakin but wh sheep; using a with th up, and must g will be " Your Answer lost the

> not liv city. peril o how to of sou who go not er not en parent examp cause by the

Prof

of the

e to is

heart

econd e de-

School

vay of

e fear

y will

d the

chool }

what

kness.

great

How.

starch

ver.-

school

An-

ge the

-They

o give

easure

s man

isiness

siness.

rity in

s man.

ged in

ection.

rmer's

ut his

ention

take it

all to pieces; but don't do that. Take the ordinary acceptation. We all understand it, I think. Answer.—7. Is it that the Sabbath school should be better for the business man, or he for the Sabbath

Professor Sherwin.—We are trying to make this like a New York ferry boat—it goes either end equally well. Answer.—8. A basiness man would learn in the Sunday School.

Professor Sherwin.—And those special temptations, special trials, special drawings away from God which a business man has to meet and another man has to meet. (Hear, hear.) Then, is not the Sabbath School a place to help that man to bear against these special temptations and trials? There is not enough common sense in our Sunday School work. We do not use the same way of adapting means to ends that men do in their worldly affairs. You must not fish for every kind of fish with the same kind of bait, or in the same waters. A pickerel must be caught in one way and a trout in another, and a black bass in another. You must be a good while about the last too, for they have a collegiate education, figuratively speaking. We want that skill which Christ recognized. When speaking to the fishermen, He said, "I will make you fishers of men;" but when He got on the hill side with the sheep, He spoke about sheep; and when He was near vineyards, He talked about the vine, using all the same tact belonging to the God-man. But we start out with the same plan for our classes, and sometimes sit with our feet up, and wonder they do not come. For these different classes you must go with special reasons. When you see a special reason, you will begin to think how you will get them. The next answer was "Young men who are strangers in the city." Why them especially? Answer.—Because they are peculiarly liable to temptation, having lost the restraints of home.

Professor Sherwin.—Oh, if you could walk with me through any of the large cities your heart would bleed, and many of you who do not live in cities, and think it is a nice thing to send your son to the city. God keep him when you do send him there. There is not a peril on earth, I think, that is hardly equal, if equal. I do not know how to put it. It may be too strong to say that there is not a peril of soul on earth that exceeds the perils which await the young man who goes from a country home to city life. It is awful. There is not enough attention paid to it; and when they get there, there is not enough attention paid to guard them from it. Now, why should parents be brought into the school? Answer.—I. To set a good example to their children. 2. To get benefit themselves. 3. Because of their matured experience. 4. To encourage the teachers by their presence. 5. To learn to teach the children at home. 6. That they may be led to Christ.

Professor Sherwin.—But supposing they are in Christ already, you wouldn't leave them out of the Sunday School. Answer.—7. That they may rejoice with those working there already. 8. That they may be built up in knowledge.

Professor Sherwin.—There is not enough of this building up. If you bring the children to Christ, we sort of tie them up in a package, and go for somebody else. "Satan finds some mischief still for idle hands to do." And the reason we have so many weak churches now, is that there is not enough care taken from the point of conversion to build up in Christ. There is not enough feeding and caring for, and culturing. Many people talk about bringing to Christ and securing conversion, and never say a word about what is being done after conversion. You ought to take hold of it in your churches. Answer.—9. That they may be in sympathy with Christ in His work. 10. To identify the Sabbath School with the family. 11. They ought to know the instruction the children are receiving.

Professor Sherwin.—Why, men turn their horses out, and go to see them about once in three days—see if they are all right; but they put their children in the Sunday School, and never ask about them. Answer.—12. That they may be in sympathy with the teachers. 13. That they may know the wants of the school—

Professor Sherwin.—And contribute to help it along. (Hear, hear.) Answer.—14. And that they may know how to prepare the children for school.

Professor Sherwin.—The next class is experienced Christians, Why should they be brought in? Answer.—1. That they may benefit the school by their experience. 2. "When thou art converted, strengthen thy brethren." 3. To give inspiration to the teacher. 4. Their experience will be deepened and widened by the work.

Professor Sherwin.—Why should old people be there? Answer.—1. To encourage the young. 2. Because one is never too old to learn. 3. To break down their prejudices, if they have any. 4. Because they never ought to leave any of the spiritual food. 5. To improve well their last days. 6. That they may get young again. 7. Because they bring heaven very near to the school. They step out of the school into heaven. 8. Because the old, and young are very near in sympathy.

Professor Sherwin.—Why should inexperienced Christians be brought in? Answer.—1. That they may be made instrumental and experienced Christians. 2. Because they "stand in the way of sinners." 3. Instruction is sometimes simpler in the Sabbath School than from the pulpit. 4. If they don't go into the school, they are supposed to be opposed to it.

Professor Sherwin.—That is true of all the rest. Why should very small children be brought in—the little tops of the primary

class?
None a my lam sions.
church' is most genius

Profe —Beca souls.

A D

Ano
Prof
things
lives, v
this is
what
outcast
the po
loving
the re
more l

I belie

specim

came t

world

to the

adjust

than a

ever s

and th

Mr. under night had be work they I a larg been

gest t

class? Answer.—1. That they may learn to love the school. 2. None are too young to come to Jesus. 3. Christ said to Peter, "Feed my lambs." 4. To keep them in Christ. 5. To secure first impressions. 6. Lambs learn to drink milk when very young. 7. The church's heart will be drawn more to the weaker, just as the mother is most careful and tender of the youngest babe. 8. To develop the genius and patience of the teacher.

Professor Sherwin.—Now, why the heathen at home? Answer.

—Because they are very many, and there are few to care for their

A DELEGATE.—Who are the heathen at home?

ready.

r.-7.

That

ckage,

or idle

s now.

ersion

t and

g done

rches.

n His

. 11.

go to

; but

about

h the

Hear,

re the

stians.

enefit

erted.

acher.

nswer.

old to

y. 4.

5. To again. step

g are

ns be

nental

vay of

School

ey are

hould

imary

.

Another Delegate.—Those who are ignorant of Christ.

ANOTHER DELEGATE.—Those who waste the hours of the Sabbath.

Professor Sherwin.—I should say they are those who do the things that the heathen abroad do-leading godless, unprofitable lives, without God and without hope in the world; but I suppose in this is meant to be included those who are degraded; those who are what we call "hard cases;" those who are neglected children of outcasts; the children of pauperism and crime, that we haul before the police justice, and send to the reform school; when, if we put loving arms around them and brought them to the Sabbath School, the reform schools would not cost so much. If there is anything more like Christ that you can possibly do, as a mortal, than another, I believe it to be the reaching down to lift up some poor fallen specimen of humanity, and bring it to Christ. That is what Christ came to this earth to do-when He came down and engirdled this world of sin, and went back and fastened the other end of the girdle to the throne, that He might lift up all who trust in Him; and so adjusted it, that any one who tries to do that, is more like Christ than any engaged in any other work ever done on earth. There is ever so much of this topic yet left; but you can take this outline, and think it out, and do what God would have you to do about it.

Hymn-"Watching and waiting."

FINANCIAL MATTERS.

Mr. Fotheringham, of Aurora, said he hesitated very much to undertake the task which had been assigned to him, but he felt last night that a serious mistake had been made, that a golden opportunity had been missed. They knew very well that such conventions and work as this could not be conducted without a large expenditure; they knew that that expenditure had not been met; that there was a large deficiency in the treasury, or rather out of it; and he had been wondering whether he could not on three or four grounds suggest to them the necessity and the privilege of helping this cause as

it had not been helped before. First of all, they had received a very hearty welcome in Guelph—perfectly sincere and genuine, he was sure. in its Irish, Scotch, English, Canadian and Royal characters. They meant it all. These words are very hearty, and would they not give them a proof that they were sincere. Would they not show them that by their works they made them welcome; that they thought this Association was worth supporting, and supporting heartily, Would they not show them if Liberal Conservative Associations could produce funds to carry on any scheme whatever they took in hand, when churches could carry on their work at home and abroad so successfully, Sabbath School workers were able to do so just as well, and with as liberal a supply of funds; and if they had been reaping the benefit, as he knew they were in this town and in the neighbourhood, as the persons engaged, would they not show it? Was it not worth a dollar to each of them to have had this Convention here? Did they not think their ministers would preach better. their superintendents would be better, their teachers in the Sabbath Schools would be better and would teach better. Did they not want to show the people of Canada that they were in hearty sympathy with the influences that came out with all the delegates who came there. Would they not show that this Association was for Canada, as well as for Guelph and Wellington and the other counties? If they thought it was beneficial, let them show it by their giving. Above all, they professed to love Christ, who had done so much for them. It seemed to him that one dollar was a small way of showing their love for Him and His work. Supposing there were twelve hundred persons; supposing two hundred of them gave a dollarthere was \$200. If four hundred gave fifty cents, that would make \$400. Then they had six hundred more, and could run it up to \$600, which would make \$1,430 raised in Guelph. He begged them to give heartily, readily and cheerfully, and not to countenance Alexander the coppersmith.

Mr. Montgomery, of Port Hope, on being called on to say something on the same subject, remarked that he did not think he could add anything to what had already been said.

ORIENTALISMS OF THE BIBLE.

Mr. A. O. Van Lennep, a native Turk, and who was attired in Turkish costume, then delivered an address on the Customs and Geography of Bible lands. After a few remarks in Turkish, he said they meant by orientalisms of the Bible, all which in the Bible bore the oriental type. The Bible claimed to have been written not in Canada, nor in England, nor in Europe, nor in America, but in far distant lands—in those lands which they called Bible lands; and therefore, if it had been written there, it had been written in the

midst o what th its pag when 1 tioned : and Lo God. sent, he their lo annour on the said, " in the vears a young. thorou Bible known ductor had no orienta among to sho light c that he haps; in Dar son of and re parts o He we bosom the Tu that w in from comm he did got fr when Moun called mocki

groun

and h

sign o

the se

a very as sure. They ot give v them hought eartily. ciations ook in abroad just as d been in the ow it? onvenbetter, Sabbath ot want mpathy o came Janada, es? If giving. uch for howing twelve lollard make up to d them e Alex-

ms and he said ble bore n not in tin far ds; and in the

v some-

e could

midst of old scenes and people who lived and acted differently from what they did here. They would expect then to see constantly on its pages allusions to customs and habits of the people at the time when it was written, and also to see that the places therein mentioned are not Guelph, and Toronto, and New York, and Philadelphia, and London, but just those places which they found in the word of God. A few years ago, while attending a Convention like the present, he had been sitting behind two elderly ladies—he believed by their looks, good Christians, sincere women. The subject which was announced by the chairman was this: "Mr. So-and-So will speak on the Geography of Bible lands." One looked at her neighbour and said, "Geography of Bible hands! What next are they going to have in the way of Sunday School Conventions?" This was some ten years ago. He believed that every one present now, old as well as young, had found how much light it threw on the word of God to be thoroughly informed on everything connected with the geography of Bible lands. In those days maps in Sunday Schools were hardly known; now they saw them everywhere. After some further introductory remarks, Mr. Van Lennep proceeded to say that although he had not around him the surroundings of an oriental house and an oriental audience, he had selected a few things and a few topics among those he was accustomed to speak of in his lectures, in order to show them how in different spheres of instruction they could get light constantly in this line of subject. First of all, they would see that he was funnily dressed. They thought he was a harlequin, perhaps; and yet that was the gamment of many colours which was made in Damascus, and which very likely was like that worn by that good son of Jacob's, Joseph. This coat had a good many colours, green and red, yellow and blue, and so he could go into all the different parts of the garment and show that it illustrated scripture constantly. He would allude to a few of them. He would put his hand in his bosom. His dress had no pocket; the bosom was the pocket of the Turk; there they put their handkerchief, their purse, everything that was precious to them, because they could defend themselves better in front than anywhere else. They would remember that Moses was commanded by God to put his hand in his bosom. In his simplicity he did it, and he pulled it out and it was full of leprosy. Poor Moses got frightened, and God told him to put it back in his bosom, and when he took it out it was as nice as before. They found Elijah on Mount Carmel, after that grand event which took place, when he called on Jehovah for fire from heaven to come down, when he was mocking those priests of Baal. He went and he threw himself on the ground, prostrated himself with his head foremost, praying for rain, and he sent his servant to the top of the hill to see if there was any sign of rain. • Sure enough, there was a little cloud approaching after the seventh time. He sends word to Ahab to hurry; that there was the sign of rain. They had not had rain for more than three years. The rain began to come, and then Elijah girded up his loins. He tucked his coat into his girdle, and then he ran. (The lecturer here put the skirt of his gown inside his girdle to illustrate the meaning of girding un the loins.) We see Moses out in the wilderness, and suddenly he sees a bush on fire. He holds the shepherd's staff in his hand (taking a shepherd's staff), and suddenly he hears a voice : "Moses, put off thy shoes from off thy feet, for the place whereon thou standest is holy That was an oriental custom. (The lecturer then easily threw off his slippers.) In the East, when they went into the house of God, they invariably took off their shoes. In the divan, they invariably took off their shoes. They found Paul-he thought it was in the city of Lystra or Antioch-when the Jews drove him away from that city, and followed him like a bull-dog from city to city, until they thought they had killed him in Lystra; and Paul did what was constantly done in the East and was most expressive—he shook the dust from his feet. Shoes like those which he (the lecturer) was wearing were easily filled with dust, and there, now and then, they saw people shake off the dust. That was an oriental custom. It was constantly used to this day. Then there was a mantle. The one which he had now put on belonged at one time to an Arab chief. They would remember that Elijah was watching with Elisha, and he went from Bethel down to Jericho, and said, "You keep back; don't come with me." Elisha said, "I will go with thee." Then he went to Gilgal; then to the river Jordan, and the fifty men, sons of the prophets, were around looking on. Young men are as inquisitive as women. He went to the river and had been walking to it, carrying his mantle on his back, but just over his shoulder, and with it he struck the water, and the water separated. (The lecturer illustrated the incident by appropriate action.) Then there was the lamp. In one part of the scripture the prophet, in speaking of the Saxiour, said, "The smoking flax He shall not quench, and the bruised reed He shall not break." In olden days flax was the only thing with which the wick was made. (The lecturer exhibited a small lamp of considerable antiquity, probably, as he said, eighteen hundred years old.) The lamp was not put under a bushel, but on a candlestick. If he put it on the floor he could not see. He showed a candlestick, or more properly a lampstick. He sat on the ground, placed the lamp on that stand, and showed that then he could easily see to read. He then showed the bushel. He held in his hand two images. They were pocket gods. They were imitations of great gods which were found in the temples in India. Had they not heard of these small images being sold in Ephesus, and what a hullabaloo there was because the people were losing money. It was the same now in India. Here was Mr. Siva, and the Indian people pot him in their pocket when they wanted to pray to him. They put him down and

prayed to especially were ever by sending thought in

Rev. I Mr. V fashioned that unle go off at meant w plough, a showed a thousand little sha and two larger, b to carry change I an illust

Profes to him: Sunday most for the lesse at the ic good ma -a star particula teachers synonyn amongst could br people 1 or lot i Sunday

> Mr. V said the was one

prayed to him. That was just as the Ephesians did to their gods, especially Diana of the Ephesians; and it was reported that there were even some good Englishmen who drove a very lucrative business by sending idols to India to sell to these poor deluded people. He thought it was a scandal. Did Brother Millard believe it?

Rev. Mr. MILLARD.—Yes.

s. The

ked his

e skirt

ing up

nly he taking

out off

is holy

easily

house

n, they ight it

e him

city to

aul did

ve—he

cturer)

then.

ustom.

. The

chief.

and he ; don't e went

of the

tive as

rrying

vith it

r illus-

as the

ing of

nd the

ie only

pited a

ghteen

but on

showed

round.

leasily

nd two

at gods eard of o there

now in

n their

vn and

Mr. Van Lenner proceeded to exhibit the model of an old-fashioned plough. If they tried to plough with that, they would see that unless their eye was on it constantly, they would be likely to go loff at a tangent; so they could understand what the Saviour meant when He said, "that any man who puts his hand to the plough, and looked behind him, was not fit to be a ploughman." He showed a small busket, and reminded them of the food of the five thousand ong the shores of the Sea of Galilee: how there was a little shaver who came with his basket, in which he had five loaves and two fishes. This was the kind of basket. Sometimes it was larger, but almost everyone used these baskets as a kind of pocket to carry their provisions. Mr. Van Lennep then retired, in order to change his costume, as he said he had been requested to give them an illustration of the shepherd in the word of God.

Hymn-"Saviour, like a shepherd lead us."

COLDNESS OF LADY TEACHERS.

Professor Sherwin said the following question had been sent up to him: " How shall we cure coldness among the lady teachers of a Sunday School? they scarcely recognized one another except in the most formal manner, thereby excluding interchange of thought on the lesson or Sabbath School work." /Some, he said, would laugh at the idea of such a question being sent up; yet he had known a good many schools whose life had been crushed out by just this thing -a standing upon rules of etiquette; a niceness of all the little particularities and customs of society. First of all, Sunday School teachers should be polite. Politeness and etiquette were not always synonymous terms. A cup of tea was a wondrous means of grace amongst such people. If by tea-meetings and a loving way they could break down that caste, they had done much good. If not, such people had no business in the Sunday School, for they had no part or lot in the matter. They did not know the first principles of Sunday School work, or how to do it. (Applause.)

"ORIENTALISMS OF THE BIBLE."

Mr. Van Lenner then returned in the costume of a shepherd. He said the girdle was used by almost everybody. The one he now had was one of those girdles that could easily tie the feet and hands.

,

This was the garment of the shepherd. He does not dress up in silk and other such affairs. He must have garments suited to the business in which he was engaged, poor fellow. He had to rough it in the fields; he had to sleep on the ground, without the ordinary tent; and so the garment had to be made such as to withstand the rough treatment of the weather. His garments were therefore made of sheepskin. They sometimes thought the shepherd must look very handsome, because they had such beautiful pictures of the shepherd's This, however, was his cloak. It was very different from The wind could Elijah's mantle. There was not even a hole in it. not go in and out, and it was an excellent covering for the shepherd. (The speaker then showed the manner in which the cloak could be used, as a protection against wind and rain, and even as a tent.) The shepherds, he said, were very fond of their sheep, and especially tender-hearted towards the lambs; and they would see these rough men ready to kill a man, but with tender hearts towards the little creature that came and asked shelter and protection. In the spring of the year, when the lambs were born, the nights were cold; and they would see the good shepherd go, and seeing a little fellow hardly able to walk, his heart was moved with compassion towards it, and he took it up as we took our children, and kissed it as we kissed our children. "He taketh the lambs in his arms, and carrieth them in his bosom." He could never look at a scene like this, or think of it. without being reminded of that precious lesson which the word of God taught-that just so was Christ. They could trust their lambs to the Good Shepherd. If these hard-hearted men were so tender hearted towards these little mute creatures, could not they trust the Saviour with their precious lambs? He had been travelling on horseback in Turkey-for there they had no railways at that timeand he was dressed in what they called European garments, with a stovepipe hat on his head; and the boys and girls thought it very strange-just as his present audience thought the garments he now had on were odd-because he was dressed all in black. They said, "Look at that fellow with a black thing on his head, dressed all in black." They called him a crow. (Laughter.) He went on, and came to a road quite narrow, and there was a shepherd dog watching him carefully to see who this fellow was coming: it was some distance from the city where he lived-Smyrna-and he thought the dog had sinister motives, and he started at him with such a bark that the horse nearly threw him off his back. He had a long whip, and he gave him one cut and he went off; but, very much to his (the speaker's) annoyance, some fifteen or twenty dogs, hearing the howl of this dog, came to the rescue, and he was surrounded with them. What was he to do? He had a pistol with him, but he said, "I know you are doing your duty." At last, he noticed some shepherds, and he called out to the shepherds to call off the dogs. They whistle men ar itself t than th an old water and br He pla (Mr. V sheep hear. knew nothir lead t learne alone satisfy had to mittee

> the St Rev and th

and g

The Mr Af

It

amou

Mı E. B

missi said in th Mr. agair show silk

ness

the

ent:

the

nade

very

erd's

rom

ould

erd.

l be

The

ially

ough

ittle

ring

and

rdly and

our

m in

of it, rd of umbs

nder t the

gon

ne-

ith a

very

now said,

ll in and

hing dist the

that

and

(the

wl of

 $_{
m hem.}$

l, "I

erds,

They

whistled, and the dogs went away; and he came up to these young men and thanked them, and went on. Ah, what a sight presented itself to him. There was the company of sheep, more in number than the people present that night, and in the midst of the fields was an old-fashioned well, with a stone, and the shepherds were drawing water to water their sheep. An old man came and welcomed him, and broke bread, as their Saviour did. He called his sheep by name. He played on a flute, and all the sheep came round him. (Mr. Van Lennep) called them, they would not follow him. "The sheep hear the voice of the shepherd, but a stranger, they will not hear." The sheep followed the shepherd; they knew his voice. They knew that if they did not follow the shepherd, they would have nothing to eat; and the business of the shepherd and the dogs was to lead them to pastures where they would live. Had his hearers learned that their true wisdom was to follow their Saviour where alone they could find food to eat, and those pastures which would satisfy their souls? There they would learn the lessons which they had to teach to those immortal beings. Thank God, they were permitted to do something in His name; permitted to show their love and gratitude to Him for all He had done for them, by working in the Sunday School.

Rev. G. Bruce, of St. Catharines, pronounced the benediction, and the Session closed.

THIRD DAY-SIXTH SESSION.

The Convention reassembled at 9 o'clock.

Mr. Edgar took the chair in the absence of the President.

After devotional exercises, the Minutes of the Fifth Session were read and sustained.

It was announced that the previous evening's collection had amounted to \$80 58.

Mr. Edgar having to retire with the Business Committee, the Rev. E. B. Ryckman took the chair.

THE MISSION WORK OF THE ASSOCIATION.

Mr. C. Crassweller was called upon to give an account of the mission work of the Association in which he had been engaged. He said the statistical summary of that work had been presented to them in the report read by their very able, earnest and energetic Secretary, Mr. Millard. It was therefore unnecessary for him to refer to that again, but rather to go into some of the features of the work, so as to show what had been done and how the work had been carried on.

He should have to enter somewhat into detail, and some of the incidents might appear trivial, but they must bear with him in that because that was the only way in which he could show the way in which the work had been done. In the winter time-January, Feb. ruary and March-his work had been in the old settled Counties of Grey and Bruce-counties that were, so far as he could learn, well looked after as regards Sabbath Schools. Lying north of the County of Bruce there was what was called the Peninsula, a much more nawly settled part, extending for stifty, sixty or seventy miles north of Owen Sound, having the Georgian Bay on the east and Lake Huron on the west. There some of the most interesting work had been done in some of the roughest parts of the year. In the snumer time his work had been in medsure in the old settled parts of the Counties of North Ontario and Victoria. These counties were, more or less, well supplied, having here and there, however, vacant spots which had to be filled up and schools planted. He was also led into the newly formed County of Haliburton. There, from various causes. Sabbath School work had been at a very low ebb indeed. From the information he received, he found that it was really because the ministerial activity and interest in the work was low as well. There were many vacant spots where, with the least trouble imaginable. Subbath Schools, healthy and vigorous, might have been established if only some effort had been made for that purpose. After referring to some incidents of the rougher parts of his travel-having been weather-bound on one occasion for four days, and on another having his vehicle upset—he went on to say that the work had been accomplished in two different kinds of neighbourhoods—the old settled and the new. In the old settled it was the hardest kind of work to do. When he came into neighbourhoods that had established schools and discontinued them, and re-established them and re-discontinued them. over and over again, the work became very hard. There were these stations in numbers throughout this country, and he might tell them with pain that they were identified with church organizations; but it might be said of them as of Sardis, "Thou hast a name that thou livest, and art dead." This was not universal, but prevailed to an alarming extent in some places. He would give two or three instances by way of illustration. He had gone into a neighbourhood where there were two churches within a mile of each other, and the resident minister within a reasonable distance, where there were services every Lord's day, but where they had not had a Sabbath School for years. When he went there first, although he held two meetings, it was impossible to get them to take up the work. In another neighbourhood he went twice by appointment. There was the church with a membership of eighty, and yet, because it was a little late in the year, they could not take up the work; they did not see their way clear, and so it went on for a long time before they took it up. He went

last w and t addre settle had g the c went " Do said, dren had 1 given they them lower induc was] of th Only to th many from of G teach adop with the s than neig frien the s estal they bring Som they Once had mate

> Ir orga or fo they they

kind



the

hat.

y in

Feb-

s of

well

inty

ore

orth ake

had

mer

the

nore

pots

into

ises, the

the

here

ble.

hed,

ring

een

ving

com-

and

do.

and

iem,

hese

hem

but

thou

ò an

nces

here

dent

very

ears.

was

our-

th a

year,

lear,

went

last winter by appointment twice or three times to a neighbourhood, and the last time he was to succeed the minister in giving a short address to induce the people to take up the work. It was a fairly settled village, and when the minister left, before he (Mr. Crassweller) had got twenty words out of his mouth, the people were filing out of the church and going away—fathers, mothers and children. He went into another neighbourhood. He went to a minister and said, "Do you know any work in this neighbourhood of this kind?" said, "No; all our appointments are filled up." He met some children going from a day-school some distance away, and they said they had no Sabbath School there or in the other direction. It had been given up some time ago. In the school-house to which he was going they had not had a Sabbath School for five or six years. He tried them. The minister was to preach on a certain evening, and he followed him in a short address, and he tried to set forth the work and induce them to take it up. The school-house was crowded, and it was put to the vote. It was a new neighbourhood, where a number of the children could not go to the school because of the distance. Only two hands were held up for that work. He did not want them to think that this state of things ran through the whole country; but many of their outlying districts required a different kind of education from what they had in the past as to their responsibilities in the sight of God. He believed that if there was less preaching and more Bible teaching, it would be better. If Parson's (of Boston) plan were adopted, more work for the Master would be the result. He turned with a great deal of pleasure to the newer settlements. Oftentimes the soil was virgin and more easily worked, and better attended to than the older sections. He could take them to many and many a neighbourhood, where it would do their hearts good to see the interest friends had shown in the work; how they had come out and crowded the school-houses and chapels, or churches, to have a Sabbath School established. Oftentimes the school-houses were not lighted, and if they watched the people they would find them one and another bringing lamps and lanterns, and candles to light up the building. Sometimes they would stick a candle up against the wall; sometimes they would cut a turnip in two and stick a candle in each part. Once he saw two men try to read a little hymn-book together. They had no lamp, and they struck a match and sang by the light of matches, lighting one as the other went out. That showed what kind of interest these people took in this matter.

In some of the back country places where there is no church organization, the people have service, it may be once in two or three or four weeks; and if the once in four weeks happens to miss, then they go for two months without any. In one place on Lake Huron they had not had a service of any kind for over twelve months, and they cordially joined in the work and established a school, which

had been going on increasing from that time to this. Many of the neighbourhoods that he had visited had old schools—some for one some for two, five, ten and twenty years, and some during their life. time. One school was eleven miles from the nearest post-office, and they had not a preaching there all the summer, but they took up the work very gladly. In one place, they gave him a warm Irish recention, and gathered in numbers to meet him. He heard that there was in that neighbourhood a local quarrel, which had arisen out of a lawsuit. At first, they thought he would not be able to establish a school there; however, he did. A few days afterwards a young lady at a house where he was staying said to him, "You appointed a superintendent conditionally on his accepting that position, as he was not present at that time, and he agreed the next day to do it on condition that that quarrel should be made up; and that quarrel which had been so bitter, dividing the neighbourhood, was made up simply and solely through the establishment of the Sabbath School. and hands were shaken in token of reconciliation." If the Association had done nothing more, it had, by its mission work, done something in binding these people together, and winning them for Jesus. The difficulties of the work were various. Dr. Cochrane had taken hold of some of them in a forcible manner, when he spoke of the indifference of persons. Another great hindrance was the denominational proclivities which always cropped up. Here they stood hand in hand, and did not know what denomination each belonged to; but in the country neighbourhoods, everybody knew everybody, and it was hard then to carry on this work. Another great difficulty was in procuring proper superintendents He had gone into one old settled neighbourhood, where the farms were large and the men were rich. and they said, You may travel the whole length and breadth of this section, and you won't find one praying man. The only thing to do. then, was to import a superintendent from the neighbouring section. He should have liked to have referred to the ministers who so kindly helped him in this matter. It was so cheering to find ministers to take one by the hand. He could mention many, but one especially. the Rev. Mr. Rickley, of Wireton, who gave nearly a week, driving through the Peninsula, visiting Sabbath Schools that were already established, and aiding in establishing others. Thus the work had been going on in sunshine and in storm, sometimes encouraging, and sometimes discouraging. He asked them to pray for the success of the work in future.

In answer to the Rev. Mr. Burns,

· Mr. Crassweller said that whenever he began to speak to the people, he always went upon the clearest basis he possibly could. He said to them, "Friends, you know your own neighbourhood. If you have a church strong enough to support a school, make it denominational; but if not, you must do as you please, and make

it a un biassed denominated properly, express them.

Rev course would mende distric to the Very cure n

Metho Rev

Rev

invari

Re it mi Sabba no me people denon left er Union flow i idea, had a place only, that ! but i it to play woul Crass deno

much

speci

it a union school." But that he always left to the people. He never biassed them by the shade of a shadow. In previous reports, various denominations had been represented at these meetings, and various denominational schools had been established, though the union schools had predominated. In this journey, although he had not biassed the people, all the schools had been union, and some of them by the express wish of the ministers, who had come and taken part in them.

Rev. Mr. Burns said he thought if all the churches took the same course that the Methodist church did in regard to books, schools would more readily be established in rural districts. They recommended that old libraries which had been used in schools in old districts should be sent to a central point—Toronto—and sent thence to the rural districts where they were not able to procure libraries. Very likely the agent had found difficulty in not being able to procure new libraries.

A Delegate asked if these books were only for the schools of the Methodist church itself, or for union schools also.

Rev. Mr. Burns.—I am not sure of that.

of the

or one.

ir life

e, and

up the

recep.

t of a

lish a

young

pinted

as he

do it

arrel, de up

chool, iation

ething

The

n hold differ-

tional

nd in

out in

it was

vas in

ettled

rich,

f this

to do.

ction.

indly

ers to

cially,

riving

ready

k had

g, and

ess of

o the

could. d. If ike it make Rev. Mr. Andrews.—They are sent to the Methodist schools invariably.

Rev. Mr. MILLARD said the instructions to the agent or agents, as it might be now, of this Association, and formerly of the Ontario Sabbath School Missionary Union, had been most decided, that in no measure or respect should they bias or direct the mind of the people present at the meetings called, as to what the character, denominational or union, of the schools should be. It was to be left entirely to the people. The Ontario Sabbath School Missionary Union had one agent, and it was so uncommonly easy for water to flow into its own channel, that it was very difficult not to have an idea, or an opinion, or a wish; and it was thought that that agent had acted a little unwisely, as he had given more attention to the place of meeting of one denomination; giving his addresses there only, he was considered to have acted unwisely; but he did not know that he did it intentionally to aid his own denomination particularly, but it had that appearance, and there was a complaint made about it to the Board. If they had an idea that their agent was trying to play into the hands of any one special branch of the church, they would be exceedingly sorry; but they had every confidence in Mr. Crassweller that he was acting correctly, and he thought the various denominations might have the fullest confidence in Mr. Crassweller as much as in himself (Mr. Millard); and God knew he did not want specially by this mission work to build up any one party.

THE CLAIMS OF MISSION WORK UPON MINISTERS

Rev. A. Andrews, Strathroy, said the beautiful lesson of scripture. "It is more blessed to give than to receive," is not always the earliest learned, nor the most heartily welcomed. Indeed, the advocate of the very best cause often finds it necessary to proceed cautiously in advancing its claims in order to ensure success. In no department is it more necessary to be "wise as serpents and harmless as doves" than in making appeals for moral and material support for our great Christian and benevolent enterprises. It is rarely the case that such advocates are entreated as Paul was by the Macedonian-"Come over into Macedonia, and help us." It is hard to persuade an audience that we confer a favour upon them by presenting the opportunity of their helping others. And this is our duty to-day. We find that in proportion to the freshness and warmth of our Christian life, and the strength of the claims presented to us, so is our willingness to respond to appeals which may be made from time to time. The first condition. so far as the present occasion is affected, is certainly hopeful, and it was wise to delay this subject until our hearts should have been warmed into greater ardour, as they have been by the inspiriting services in which we have engaged for the two past days. Let us now consider what are the claims which the mission work of this Association has upon ministers and churches. A claim is a demand made on the ground of right and justice; it is not an appeal for a gratuity or undeserved favour. If the cause be not worthy of support, then we ask not a farthing. If it be worthy, we hopefully turn to the friends of this cause for the help we need.

We base our claims on the nature of the origin, agency and accomplishment of this missionary work.

1. Its origin. This movement had its rise in what was felt to be a great destitution in the line of Sabbath School organizations. Notwithstanding the lively interest taken in many localities in Sabbath School work, many hundreds, if not thousands, of places could be pointed out as having no Sabbath School in existence, where it was desirable to have one established. It would be impossible to give exact figures on this subject, yet an approximate idea may be formed by the following facts. Even so late as 1875, the best estimate that could be made gave us only 4,401 schools, with 271,381 scholars in the whole of Canada; while in Ontario alone, there were at the same time 4,834 public schools, and 474,241 registered pupils. The rest of Canada would surely have given us 5,000 more, making 9,834 public schools, with nearly a million of pupils. But why should there be fewer Sabbath Schools than public schools; and yet we find more than twice as many day schools as Sabbath Schools. Besides this, we know that there are a large number of private schools, in all our cities and in many of the towns, whose aggregate

attenda: Schools shews of provisic overlood during the Sab day sch

one say

Does th

may be

taken l employ and chi this wa by the instruct us the not bel Method her mi directio 898 the without Lookin travel t taken a Sabbatl Taking ministe preachi two an accomp Let the up negl eternity society.

View sionary possible Associa able to that the the que unanim attendance is quite large. Beside the scholars attending our Sabbath Schools, there is a large number of adults in attendance, all of which shews us that there must be great destitution in Sabbath School provision in many parts of our country. Then we must not here overlook the fact that a very large number of schools are still closed during six months of the year. It is safe, I think, to conclude that the Sabbath School work is not more than one-third as efficient as the day schools of the country are in this view of them.

ture,

liest

f the

y in

ment

ves"

great

such

over

ence

y of

at in

l the

pond

tion. d it

been

iting

t us

this

and for a

port,

n to

com-

t to

ons.

s in

aces

here

e to

v be

nate olars

the The

king

why yet

ools.

vate

gate

Here, then, was the necessity felt of something being done. But one says, "Let the churches do this work." Who hinders them? Does the employment of one single agent, no matter how brave she may be and how almost ubiquitous, prevent this work being overtaken by the churches? What church has ever employed, or now employs, a Sabbath School missionary but through her pastors and church officers. True, much has been and is now being done in this way; but there is need of more. Even on the ground occupied by the churches, many places are destitute of schools for religious instruction of the children. I know of only one church that gives us the data that now serves my purpose. But I take it she is not behind the rest of the churches of this land. I refer to the Methodist church of Canada. Of the 2,971 congregations where her ministers preach, only 1,585 have Sabbath Schools under her direction, and of these but 845 are kept open the whole year. In 898 the International Lessons are used. 1,386 congregations there are without schools, except that in some instances there are union schools. Looking over the ground where a Sabbath School missionary might travel to good purpose, I find that on thirty home mission stations, taken as they come, there are 187 preaching places, but only 77 Sabbath Schools, or one school to two and a half congregations. Taking the returns of another church as they come, I find that thirty ministers report 58 schools, 88 churches, probably as many more preaching places, giving about the same result-one school to about two and a half congregations. Surely, until the churches can accomplish more than is done at present, it does not avail to plead, Let the churches do this work. The fact is, the children are growing up neglected in many places, to their own great loss for time and eternity, and to the damage most materially of both church and civil

Viewing, then, this great want, the Ontario Sabbath School Missionary Union was formed on the most catholic and liberal basis possible. Last year it was judged best to adopt this work by this Association. I do not know how I should have voted had I been able to attend the Belleville Convention last year. I might have felt that the two societies would have been better apart. But that is not the question to-day. Fairly, and after full discussion, and almost unanimously, it was resolved to enter upon this work; and I can do

no less now than acknowledge that it comes fairly before us to demand the support of ministers and churches. The expression is a little peculiar. It reminds me of an invitation issued not long ago in a circular announcing an important Sabbath School convention. It ran something in this way: "A most cordial invitation is hereby given to all ministers of the gospel and Christians to attend." Here the claim is on ministers and churches. I find no fault with the heading, but I want to leave the impression that the minister is nothing without the church, and the church is not complete without its minister. We are one. Oh, that the barriers were broken down that prevent us feeling that we are one. There is a fitness in this distinction just now. Ministers, as such, are invited to attend our conventions, and take part in our proceedings. Churches, through their Sabbath Schools, have the right to send delegates here to aid in carrying on the business of the Association. That all ministers do not come, we grant; that all churches do not send delegates is true; yet not a minister in this land, nor a church in this country, can be found who is not more or less indebted to this Association This is the great parent of all Canadian county and town and town ship associations, and until these started no church in the land held conventions on Sabbath School matters. Now we see sessions set apart by synods, assemblies, conferences, district meetings, and other religious gatherings, for conversations and action on Sabbath School subjects. Among her other calls this Association has undertaken the mission work, and it now claims our support. For it is, after all, the outgrowth of the church through representatives of various branches.

2. We appeal, in the second place, on the ground of our agency. Not that I would enter into any extravagant adulation of Mr. Crassweller and his faithful attention to his work; yet it is at least matter of thankfulness that he has so well satisfied the executive as to lead to a very hearty resolution of appreciation being passed by them. We have in our mind now rather the instructions under which the agent labours. These have been distinctly set forth by the report, showing that the schools established are not to be in the interest of any particular church; but without bias, the parties in the several localities are to decide what church shall have the oversight of the schools; and where, from the sparseness of the population, it is thought well to establish a union school, it is done.

We must certainly approve of the purpose of the executive to secure the very best agency they could. The time has passed when we could accept the position that anyone can teach a Sabbath School, or perform work in connection with the Sabbath School. We now acknowledge the necessity of devoting the very best agency to this part of our Lord's work. Missionary work has often suffered at the hands of second-rate agency. How different was the opinion of the

early chi tour was and Sau the fore bath Scl Philadel ferring Gibson, Church gational their su Sabbath and Iow tion tha the past When t do he w his dene now rej called to ing a cl the littl agency support

> North (forty-ty miles t per we means : and tes very go fifteen one of as sixte been b months who m School. workin tinued. inspire in dist powerf

3. A

six mor

schools

early church from that held now by some. When the first missionary tour was to be mader the Holy Ghost said, "Separate me Barnabas and Saul for the work whereunto I have called them." So to-day in the forefront of the world's great workers we find many noble Sabhath School workers—John Hall, of New York; Dr. Newton, of Philadelphia; Newman Hall, of London, England, and others. Referring more particularly to this work, we notice that Dr. J. M. Gibson, formerly of Montreal, but now of the Second Presbyterian Church of Chicago, and Rev. Albert Bushnell, D.D., of the Congregational Church, Sterling, Illinois, have both spent a large portion of their summer vacation in visiting the regions where the American Sabbath School Union missionaries have been at work in Nebraska and Iowa. Among many other fruits of this visitation, we may mention that in a place called Tekoma, at a grand gathering of the schools, the pastor said he had to make a confession and offer a thanksgiving. When the missionary came there and told him what he was going to do he was not friendly, because he feared it might be detrimental to his denominational work. The missionary did not heed him, and he now rejoices that he did not; for in one of the schools he had been called to lead in a revival, and forty-eight persons had united in forming a church. All, with one exception, attributed their conversion to the little Sunday School that the missionary had planted. With an agency so catholic in its aims, it does seem that the small meed of support necessary should be cheerfully furnished.

3. As to work actually done. It must be remembered that only six months' labour has been given and paid for, yet twenty-four new schools have been established, mainly in the Counties of Grey, Bruce, North Ontario, Peterboro' and Victoria. Mr. Crassweller also visited forty-two schools, and delivered sixty-two sermons or addresses. miles travelled, nearly 2,800, during the period, averages over 100 per week; and this, be it remembered, where travelling is by no means an easy work. Compared with the work done by the tried and tested agents of the American Sabbath School Union, this is a very good showing indeed. One missionary, named Love, in about fifteen months had established fifty-three schools in Iowa. Twentyone of these assembled to hear Dr. Gibson, one school coming as far as sixteen miles. Over 1,200 people came together, all of whom had been brought into Sunday Schools by this one missionary. Eighteen months before, some of the young people then present did not know who made them; now they were regularly taught in the Sabbath School. In one neighbourhood the men had been in the habit of working on Sabbath, but through the Sabbath School it was discontinued. Of the result of his visitation, he said he had never been so inspired as during these days. These schools have been established in districts where as yet no church could reach, and have taken a powerful hold of the community, and are centres of gospel light

emand little o in a n. It

Here
th the
ster is
ithout
down
in this
id our

rough

to aid nisters ites, is untry, iation. town-

d held ons set l other School rtaken s, after

arious

gency.
Crasst least
tive as
sed by
under
rth by

in the in the ersight tion, it

when School,* Te now to this at the of the where there are no other means of reaching the people. The missionaries of the American Union plant annually an average of 1,200 Sabbath Schools in the destitute places of the land.

Of course, of our work in this country less glowing accounts have been given, for it is yet in its infancy. What we want for it is the warm support of the ministers and Christian churches of our land What support do we want? We want the thought of these Christian people to be directed to our work. Let them consider that frontier now means front to-morrow. It is only about forty years since two little boys were lost in the unbroken forest in Dorchester, about two or three miles from London. After four days one was found; the other, a fine little fellow of five and a half years, was never found although the search was continued for three long months; but two years after, his blanched and whitened bones were discovered in the dense forest where he had wandered. Yet now all that is changed The grand forest city has been built; railways branch off in every direction. So it must be of every part of this land. We must then see that these regions are not neglected. We want sympathy, and we want money. As the most important part of a lady's letter is what is in the postscript, so in my last observation—we must have money to carry on this work; and to you we appeal for the necessary support, which we believe we have a right to expect from the ministers and Christian churches of Ontario and Quebec.

A DELEGATE.—Is this missionary work confined to Ontario, or does it include the other Provinces?

Rev. Mr. Andrews.—The work has been carried on in Ontario entirely.

Hymn-"O think of a home over there."

REVIEW OF THE LAST QUARTER'S LESSONS.

Mr. A. Marling, M.A., Inspector of High Schools, Rev. George Grafftey, of Kingston, and Rev. G. Bruce, M.A., of St. Catharines, gave specimen review exercises in an able and interesting manner. Each reviewer differed in some respect from the others; and collectively, a very large amount of helpful and instructive information was given to the assembly.

THE TRUE PLACE AND PURPOSE OF THE SABBATH SCHOOL

Professor Sherwin conducted a conversation on the true place and purpose of the Sabbath School—showing what it was not and what it is—in the course of which he pointed out that it was not a substitute for the preaching service, which had been ordained of God. If they could only have one, they should take the preaching service.

Veither meetings that dep is taught up souls was no t The mai proclaim School t many of heads. held up. thing or was in t church, pletely r organiza should b best tead could, fu highest : How m word of ought to lesson. in the p thing. but the richly in one anot ing up s of the S It was done a That wa their con

> should c Rev. Session

> to Chris

the time

Veither was the Sunday School a substitute for the other religious meetings of the church. Dr. Vincent said, "The Sunday School is that department of the church of Christ in which the word of Christ is taught for the purpose of bringing souls to Christ, and of building up souls in Christ." Some ministers said that implied that there was no teaching done from the pulpit. It did not imply that at all. The main purpose of the pulpit was to preach, and preaching was to proclaim. Preaching was not necessarily teaching. In the Sunday School the object was not preaching but teaching. Would to God many of their Sunday School teachers could get that through their heads. Then, was it a department of the church of Christ? (Hands held up.) That was unanimously accepted. Then it was not something outside with some sort of connection with the church, but it was in the arms of the church. Then it was under the control of the church, and if so, that church was thoroughly and wholly and completely responsible for it as to its maintenance, establishment, proper organization, support, as to what should be taught there, and how it should be taught; and the church was responsible for securing the best teaching there, for providing all necessary means, doing all it could, furnishing all that was necessary to bring that school to the highest state of efficiency, "In which the word of Christ is taught." How much was taught in their Sunday Schools that was not the word of Christ, that bore no possible relation to the truths which ought to be taught there, and had no legitimate connection with the lesson. All these helps were valuable, but when they put the help in the place of the thing it was to help, they prostituted the whole Whatever threw light upon the lesson was a valuable help, but the lesson was God's word. The word of Christ was to dwell richly in them, so that in all wisdom they might teach and admonish one another. "For the purpose of bringing souls to Christ and building up souls in Christ." Some people talked as if the only purpose of the Sunday School was to secure the conversion of the scholars. It was not so. When a soul was brought to Christ, they had only done a part. They were to be built up and cultured in Christ. That was just as plainly taught in scripture as that they must secure their conversion. They should see that they not only brought souls to Christ, but trained them up so that the Sunday School should all the time be merging into the church, so that the trees in the nursery should come up fruit bearing. (Applause.)

Rev. Mr. Christopherson pronounced the benediction, and the Session closed.

e mis-1,200

s have
is the
land.
ristian
contier
the two
it two
l; the

found,

in the anged.
every then y, and tter is

essary minisrio, or

ntario

have

George arines, anner. collecnation

HOOL. ce and what it a subf God.

ervice.

SEVENTH SESSION.

From half-past one o'clock until half-past two, Mrs. Clark, of New York, gave an hour's instruction, with great acceptance, on Primary Class Teaching, using the black-board, &c.

The Convention re-assembled at 2.30 p.m.

After devotional exercises, the Minutes of the Sixth Session were read and sustained.

Professor Sherwin sang, by request, "The ninety and nine."

DIFFICULTIES OF SUPERINTENDENTS AND TEACHERS.

Professor Sherwin conducted a conversation on the Difficulties of Superintendents and Teachers. He said: We had better take in the whole batch of difficulties. Take the pastors in—(hear, hear) because the pastors are beginning to have difficulties there which they didn't use to have, because they did not use to be there; but now they are there, and now this highly respectable Convention has decided that the Sunday School is a department of the church. the pastor comes in for consideration. Let us make this a conversation. First-What are the difficulties of pastors-practical difficulties which pastors find in Sunday School work? I will give a little key, a sort of tuning-fork pitch. In some places the superintendent ignores the pastor. In some places the Sunday School is all managed with a sort of jealousy in regard to the pastor; and if he is recognized at all, it is in a sort of perforce way, not willingly: in other places, they do not allow him to do anything but a certain specific thing. They do not allow him to come in as part and parcel and general father of the whole. Answer.-1. Not allowing the pastor to be the head of the school. 2. Pastors have to preach three times on Sunday, and cannot come there at all. 3. Superintendents relying on the pastor to do part of their work. 4. All not working unitedly.

Professor Sherwin.—That is not specific enough. What special difficulty does the pastor have? Lack of unity would affect everybody. Answer.—5. Working from party views, or separate considerations. 6. Difficulties of accommodating themselves to the circumstances. 7. Crotchety superintendents. 8. Want of proper material of teachers and officers. 9. Jealousies between teachers.

Professor Sherwin.—Wouldn't this come more properly under superintendents' difficulties? Answer.—10. Ministers sometimes find it difficult to persuade their superintendents that they require a weekly teachers' meeting. 11. Difficulty in persuading educated men of the flock to take up any Sunday School work. 12.—Difficulty in

making making Prof Answer

2. Wa part of 5. Lac 7. War on the parents 12.—I

drink,

Prof the pa over t retaini Prof are rea taken

to sear

particu

allopat

Prof on the scholar the cla 5. Not teacher to com

Prof superir chance the sa Answer withou

effect o

Prof —Not difficul Prof

Prot school making the teachers believe they ought to study. 13. Difficulty in making the church understand that the Sabbath School belongs to it.

Professor Sherwin.—Now for the superintendent's difficulties.

Inswer.—1. Want of earnest, intelligent labourers in the work.

**2 Want of previous training.*

**3. Want of true co-operation on the part of teachers and officers.

**4. Want of punctuality in teachers.

**5. Lack of money.

**6. Lack of co-operation on the part of pastors.

**7. Want of enthusiastic teachers.

**8. Lack of sense of responsibility on the part of teachers.

**9. Lack of co-operation on the part of parents.

**10. Meddlesome teachers.

**11. Too sensitive teachers.

**12.—Inconsistency on the part of teachers—I mean teachers who drink, smoke, play cards, and go to dancing parties.

Professor Sherwin.—That is, want of consistent Christian life on the part of teachers. Answer.—13. Teachers who have no control over their class. 14. Want of self-control. 15. Difficulty in retaining the older scholars.

Professor Sherwin.—Now for the difficulties of teachers. There are real practical difficulties in the way, which need to be carefully taken up, and which can be remedied if we have grace and patience to search for the remedies. It requires them to receive medicine, particularly if it is in the allopathic style, and this is in the old allopathic style. What are the teacher's difficulties? Answer.—1. Want of home preparation.

Professor Sherwin.—Oh, that is his own fault. Answer.—I mean on the part of scholars; want of home preparation on the part of scholars. 2. Unnecessary interference on the part of others with the classes. 3. Want of normal classes. 4. Irregular attendance. 5. Not realizing the effect of Sabbath School libraries. 6. Lack of teachers' meetings. 7. Scolding superintendents. 8. Want of power to command the attention of the scholars.

Professor Sherwin.—That is his own fault. Answer.—9. The effect of cheap periodical literature, 10. Superintendents consuming too much time in reviewing. 11. Long prayers.

Professor Sherwin. Is there not a difficulty of too talkative superintendents? They talk forever, and do not give the teachers a chance of teaching their lesson. One of the worst I know, is one of the sanctified talking style. He is all grease and no axletree. Answer.—12. Superintendents adding to or taking from the class without consultation with the teacher. 13. Careless and listless indifference on the part of pupils in regard to the lesson.

Professor Sherwin.—Now then for the pastor's difficulties. First—Not allowing pastors to be the head of the school. Is that a difficulty? Answer.—Not common.

Professor Sherwin.—Should the pastor be at the head of the school? Answer—1. It was stated that the pastor was responsible

of New Primary

on were

RS. culties of ke in the hear) e which

ere; but tion has church, convercal diffil give a se super-School is ; and if

illingly; a certain ad parcel ving the ach three tendents working

t special ct everyrate cons to the f proper achers.

imes find equire a ated men ficulty in for what was taught in the school; if so, I claim he should be regarded as head in that sense; and in some schools he is not so regarded, and only as a visitor. If he says anything, he does it as a matter of sufferance. 2. He should be the general overseer, but not the official head. 3. I think we would split hairs on that to very little benefit.

Professor Sherwin.—You will not find five contiguous schools in the country agree as to the position of the pastor. If we can have a general idea of the position of the pastor, you will do good. I gather from certain casual remarks that it is probably the sense of the Convention that the pastor should not necessarily be the superintendent of the school, but that he should occupy the position a father of a family occupies, as chief counsellor, and head over all in difficulties, while the oldest boy manages at other times. The head of a railway company is the president of the company, not the conductor of the train; but when the president is on a train, he does not conduct the train. If the conductor does wrong, he can call him to account, but he cannot interfere with the systematic running of the train. The president of the school is the pastor; the superintendent, the conductor of the train. The pastor, if he sees the superintendent doing a wrong thing, should stop him, and tell him of it, or make some other provision; but he should not interfere with the running of the train. The pastor is in that sense the head of the If he does not want to be there, he is not right himself. If they don't want to have him, they are not right. There are hundreds of schools where they won't admit that at all.

A DELEGATE.—That is the case with a union school.

Professor Sherwin.—Union schools are altogether an exception; they are little kingdoms of their own.

Rev. Mr. Andrews.—Suppose a minister of the neighbourhood went into a union school and found anything wrong, might he not mention something to the superintendent, without its following that he should be officious?

Professor Sherwin.—Is that right? (Loud cries of "Yes.")

Professor Sherwin.—Second difficulty. Too much other work to attend to. If that is so, that the pastor cannot be in the school, it is not his duty to be there. A man ought not to be anywhere unless he ought to be there; and if he ought to be there, there is no reason why he ought not to be there.

Rev. Mr. Andrews.—Could we not say sometimes, "Let us have a Sunday School to-day instead of a sermon, and I will be with you once in a while." (Hear, hear.)

Professor Sherwin.—The time will come when there will be less preaching and more Bible reading; when the pastors will not be com-

pelled
Third of his
the pa
from the short
to take
They a

the past the chi to do, so connect got wr with a

may se them t only a intende pastor Rev the pas

so inva

can, bu

Prof true po the sup comes stands are mo and dis the sup place t

of Sab by the will co School

Fifth Mr.

Prof

pelled to grind out two sermons a week, whether they like it or not. Third difficulty. The superintendent relying on the pastor to do part of his work. The superintendent should do his own work, and let the pastor do his own work; but when the pastor wants any help from the superintendent, or the superintendent any from the pastor, he should get it. A great portion of all the refusals of the pastors to take hold, is, because they are not approached in a right way. They are approached in a supercilious manner.

Rev. Mr. Ryckman.—Sometimes the superintendent tries to make the pastor do all the praying, and give out the hymns, and talk to the children. A superintendent sometimes thinks a pastor has nothing to do, and he is very busy; and if there is any work to be done in connection with the Sabbath School anniversary, or if a teacher has get wrong, he wants the pastor to do all that work, and the same with a hundred things.

Professor Sherwin.—The pastor who has skill, and studies how he may set every man, woman and child at work in his church, will get them to do things which will gradually relieve him; and, secondly, only a lazy superintendent will do that by a pastor. If a superintendent is too lazy to work things up, he will throw them on to the pastor if he can.

Rev. Mr. Burns.—Some superintendents have so much respect for the pastor, that when the pastor comes in they step aside. It is not so invariably. I can preach a better sermon than the superintendent can, but I cannot teach the lesson as he can.

Professor Sherwin.—Every one to his own business. When the true position is ascertained of pastor and superintendent, it is found the superintendent is the pastor's right hand man. When the pastor comes in he should be reasonably treated, but if the school understands that the relations between the pastor and the superintendent are most cordial, and the pastor is a man of good sense, judgment and discretion, he will see that he cannot increase his popularity by the superintendent stepping aside from what he has in hand, to give place to the man who has it not in hand, and does not want it.

Fourth difficulty. That of accommodating themselves to the work of Sabbath Schools. That is mainly because pastors are not trained by the process of education to this peculiar form of work. The time will come when they will be trained as much to manage a Sunday School as to write a sermon.

Fifth difficulty. Crotchety superintendents. What are they?
Mr. Marling.—Some superintendents have hobbies.

Professor Sherwin.—What shall be done with such an one ? Answer.—Put him out.

9

ould be not so it as a but not to very

hools in

on have

he does eall him ning of e superees the him of ere with d of the

ception ;

he not

ing that

self. If

undreds

s.") work to ool, it is e unless

o reason us have vith you

be less be comProfessor Sherwin.—You would make no attempt to reform him?

Answer.—Yes; encourage what is good in him.

Professor Sherwin. Then, if he won't become converted, put him

A Delegate.—Who is to correct this man?

Professor SHERWIN.—The Sunday School has been voted by this Convention a department of the church, subject to the church, under the oversight of the church. The pastor is the leader of the church; the pastor and the church, therefore, are to have a hand in saying who shall be and who shall not be superintendent and teacher. They may delegate it to a committee, or to one man or a dozen men, but the power is in the church. That is sound doctrine, I am certain.

Sixth difficulty. Want of earnest and enthusiastic and intelligent workers. There is one thing will cure a great many of these—a good, well managed, judiciously cared for meeting, spiritual in tone, regularly held; that will cure more of these difficulties than twenty other remedies. Of course, it may be said that supreme love of God and consecration to Him will cure the whole. It ought to cure everything, but it don't.

Seventh difficulty. Want of co-operation on the part of the pastors.

Eighth difficulty. Want of sense of responsibility on the part of teachers. There is an old saying, "Like priest, like people." A church is oftentimes what the minister is, and the Sunday School is more emphatically what the superintendent is. Put a warm-hearted, judicious, earnest worker, who has fact and skill, and tries to acquire tact and skill, and knowledge to manage wisely and well, and that man is sure to gather the best workers around him, and gradually to infuse them with a spirit like his own, as the magnet is to draw iron filings. You cannot put a red hot staff anywhere and not have it warm the things next to it; and so with a warm, earnest Christian. If he lets his fire go out because the camp-meeting is over, or shuts up during the summer or deep snow, he will have no time to get up his fire, and won't warm many.

A Delegate.—What will you do with the quiet, easy-going super-intendent ℓ

Professor Sherwin. - Stir him up.

A Delegate.—How !

Professor Sherwin.—That depends on what his occupation is. Some people are like nice Shaker women; others can't understand that it is not the steam-whistle that draws the train, they make so much noise.

The time allotted for this subject had now expired.

Mr. I mitting for the Mr.

ness Co
"The
bring the
tion, in
Mr.

The there s unpleas vention Rev.

Rev. the term Mr.

consangand sail have a Association?" tions a should bath S which County liberal

Mr. Rev raising The

ing as

Rev

APPOINTMENT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE.

Mr. Edgar presented the Report of the Business Committee, submitting a list of names proposed to form the Executive Committee for the year 1877–8, as follows:*

The adoption of the list was moved, seconded and carried.

Mr. FOTHERINGHAM moved the following resolution from the Business Committee:

"That the Executive be empowered to adopt such measures as will bring the Sabbath Schools into organic connection with this Association, in view of obtaining a systematic and continuous revenue."

Mr. Edgar seconded the motion.

The Rev. C. Fish, of Cobourg, said it was very important that there should be a systematic arrangement, which would save the unpleasantness of bringing these financial difficulties before the Convention from year to year.

Rev. Thomas Keough, of Cooksville, asked for an explanation of the terin, "Organic connection."

Mr. Fotheringham said it was not easy to explain it. It meant consequences or blood relation. They went to County Associations and said, "We want money," and the County Associations wanted to have a good reason for it. They went to the County Sabbath School Association, and the latter said, "Why, as we don't attend your Association meetings, should we be asked to support your Association? Sabbath Schools should be so related to the County Associations as that it should be to their interest to contribute. There should be some means by which County Associations could help Sabbath Schools directly and have a direct influence, and some means, which do not now exist, for this Provincial Association to control County Associations, and make it to their advantage to supply funds liberally, and systematically, and continuously.

Rev. J. M. Cameron inquired whether there was any understanding as to when the \$750 subscribed yesterday was to be paid.

Mr. EDGAR said a report would be brought in on that subject.

Rev. Mr. Andrews submitted a resolution in reference to the raising of funds, but did not press it.

The resolution from the Committee was then adopted.

Hymn-" Precious promise God hath given."

NORMAL CLASSES.

Rev. J. McEwen, of Ingersoll, delivered an address on Normal Classes. He said: Mr. President, in connection with Sabbath School

him?

it him

under nurch; ng who They en, but

cain. lligent i good, , regu-

twenty ove of to cure

part of e." A chool is

of the

earted, acquire all that ally to w iron ave it

ristian.
r shuts
get up
gsuper-

ion is. erstand ake so

^{*} The list will be found at the commencement of this Report.

work, we meet with strange things in unexpected places. There is a passage in no less an important book than the Bampton Lectures. 1876, that runs in this way, where the reverend and learned lecturer is exhorting his audience to a certain course in reference to the Book of Psalms, in order that these institutions—which are nothing but dry bones—called Sabbath Schools may be delivered from certain sad consequences that will follow the neglect of instruction. Now that is about the last idea that any intelligent man, who gives any thought to the subject, would ever think of Sabbath Schools in these days: and if there was any such man—this man did exist, it appears, last year-he ought to be transported, or rather his passage paid to Chatauqua, or the Thousand Islands, or to the Guelph Convention (hear, hear)-and he will find the bones rattling and life getting into them, and flesh coming on them, and all on the way for an exceeding great army to fight the battles of the Lord. The subject assigned to me is Normal Classes. Well, I understand and wish to define this term. Normal classes describe teacher training in Scotland; Institutes describe the same in England; and I think they describe the same thing very much in America. So when we use that term you will understand the sense we attach to it. So that our subject is teacher training, teacher preparation, the preparation of the teacher. I begin first in this way, and desire to be very clear and distinct. I think in the subjects to which our attention has been called as a Convention, we have gone on by the process of accumulation; and I think it could be shewn that this matter is really the key of the interests of our Sabbath School system at present, namely, the necessity of teacher preparation, general preparation. We were first addressed on the method of Christ's teaching; next on the aims the teacher ought to have; and next, an important subject, was the teachers' meeting; and the next was the substitutes that teachers are apt to put in the place of study, or instead of study; and then we had one or two discouragements; and last night we had the "whys" and "hows" of things. Professor Sherwin likes the "whys" and "hows;" and to-day we had capital illustrations of methods of procedure and of review. This must impress any one who has given attention to the subject, that the way these subjects have been presented to us-heartily, faithfully, clearly and concisely-presupposes a certain amount of training on the part of the teacher himself that he has not and does not know how to get. For example, does not any thought of obtaining the very treasure of Christ's methods of teaching presuppose a study of heart and a training of mind not possessed by the teachers? and the aims presuppose that grasp of the objects we have in view, and perhaps the teacher's heart has not yet been spened to grap anything of the kind. As to the teachers' meetings: there is no one but must have felt that the illustration Professor Sherwin gave presupposed an amount of general training that is not

in this co ing, as i and that ments. discoura discoura the reali grapple often of only sur ing for t people and "he they do right th corner a haps no a corne Conven events, normal name tl want to ciation tinual s and mo when t that th of that a long peculia them a dom of in Mor was pu land in who fo Fraser, town. in St.

In 1 had a 3 I have groping This w

subject

e is a

tures,

turer

Book

g but

in sad

that ought

days:

s, last

id to ion—

etting

or an

subwish

ng in

they

e use

at our

on of

clear

been

mula-

y the

mely,

were

n the

, was

chers

en we

hvs"

' and

f pro-

given

n pre-

oses a

at he

t anv

teach-

sessed

bjects

been

tings:

fessor

is not

in this country at all events. As a matter of fact, the teachers' meeting, as illustrated, presupposes a specific training on specific lessons, and that presupposes this general training. And then the discouragements. The training is needed to surmount these; and there are discouragements stronger in my mind than were presented to usdiscouragements between the theory of Sabbath School teaching and the reality. It is easy to talk in Convention; it is a difficult thing to grapple with the Sunday School in practice. The difficulties are often of such a character that you cannot remove them; you can only surmount them; and that presupposes an amount of skilful training for the work, not possessed. As to the "whys" and "hows," the people generally, and teachers generally, do not like these "whys" and "hows." And the reason is, that when they make a statement they do not know why they do it, but they instinctively creep to the right thing; and when men like Professor Sherwin put you in a corner and say "why," perhaps you stumble on the right reason, perhaps not, because for want of the right training you do not see round a corner. All through, in the subjects we have had before us in this Convention, this has been presupposed, and it does not, with us at all events, exist to any very general extent. Hence the necessity of normal classes and Sabbath School Institutes. I do not care what name they go by, provided we can get the thing. The next point I want to make in this connection is this: the history of this Association for the past twelve years has been from year to year a continual groping and feeling, and desiring, and surmising, and supposing, and moving and backward moving, on this very subject. In 1865, when the Convention met in Hamilton, some perhaps will remember that this question was discussed at great length. It was the question of that day-"How shall we retain our older scholars?" And after a long discussion, and an endless discussion, Dr. Ormiston, in his peculiar way, got up and gave this recipe, "Get men that will hold them as well as draw them." Well, that was thought to be the wisdom of the day, and so it rested. In the next Convention, in 1866, in Montreal, up cropped this same subject again, and Dr. Cochrane was put up and gave an address, setting forth his experience in Scotland in reference to David Stowe's work in teacher training, the man who founded the first normal school in Her Majesty's Dominion. Fraser, of Paisley, his biographer, was held forth as a success in that town. Well, that satisfied them that year. The next Convention was in St. Catharines, and still a heavier speech was made on the same subject; and we all went home, and thought we had made advance.

In 1871, Toronto took a move in advance in this direction—they had a Sabbath School Institute. It met for four successive evenings. I have no doubt good was done, and seed was sown. We were groping our way along, and we came to the Convention in Montreal. This was in 1872. A paper was read by express arrangement on this

subject—" Competitive Examinations for Sabbath School Teachers \cdot^{n_i} and any of us who are acquainted with the subject, or who were there, will remember what a discussion arose on that -what a warmth was excited on that. I never knew this Association to be at white heat until that subject came up; and the result of the matter was that the paper, if not voted down, at all events was voted out: and, in order to convince some of the men who opposed the onward movement in teacher training that it was practicable, that it was safe. and that it could be profitable, the author of that paper started a normal class in the city of Montreal, and had a series of sessions. fifteen (15) in all, attended by 300 teachers. That was a practical answer. It was productive of good in this direction, in the city of Montreal. But in the meantime a committee was appointed to consider this subject; and the committee reported through its convener. Mr. D. Fotheringham. The old fire had not gone out of the old opposition; and the thing came up again, and very much as we saw before, not quite so white, only a little red hot. On matters went, and another committee was appointed; and they recommended a series of text-books for normal class study. They drew up a series of rules to guide normal class teachers and classes; and the matter was brought to the table, and it was discussed with the usual fervour, but it was deemed best not to take action then. Now, the matter has gone on in that way, and here we are, and the time has come-and I say it with deference to the Convention, expressing my own conviction-when this matter of general preparation of Sabbath School teachers will neither lie under the table nor on the table. It is bound to be out into the churches, and into all the communities where there is any general and special Sabbath School work. I hold that this historical resumé of the subject shows just what might be expected. The training of men in the work of education is one of the up-hill questions in study and in the church; but still it works its way, to show that it is practicable, that it can be done. My next point, and I state my own experience in connection with the matter. About a year ago it was proposed by the Sabbath School teachers, in the town where I live, that I should take charge of the normal class, composed of all the teachers of the various churches. After some degree of consideration and hesitancy, I consented to do so. We drew up our first programme of ten lessons, and went through them; our second, of ten lessons, after Christmas, and went through them. They have been drawing up a third programme, which is now before them, and we begin the third class on Tuesday By this common method of uncommon work, confessedly difficult, both for those under instruction and those who instruct, we have been favoured with great encouragement, and we have been encouraged with very great results. In a small town, with not quite 5,000 inhabitants, there was not a single meeting without seventy

earnest present matter vention out si though take c the res actual places, maker we su teache session Blenh factor to kno done, teachi the le Wher only 1 teach: and a bodin subse cent they: And up th have this (may

on the Retailer the Legistrian.

inde assig class hers ;"

were

hat a

be at

matter d out;

nward

is safe,

rted a

ssions,

actical city of

o con-

vener, he old

as we

ended

up a

d the

usual

w, the

ne has

ng my

abbath

table.

unities

l hold

ht be

one of

works

th the

School

rge of

ırches.

to do

went

went

amme.

iesday

ssedly

ct, we been

quite

eventy

My

200

earnest, hard working, thinking Sabbath School teachers being present. (Applause.) At the County Convention at Norwich, this matter was taken up. The Business Committee through the Convention, or the Convention through the Business Committee, mapped out six or seven of the hardest places in the county where they thought it would be well to hold such classes, and appointed men to take charge of those classes. It is easy to put that on paper; but as the result of that in the County of Oxford, five out of the six have actually been held thus far; and all that, in these specially difficult places, and in the rural districts, with the blacksmith's shop, a shoemaker's shop, and two or three stores. Only by extended intimation we succeeded. We began at ten o'clock in the day with forty teachers, continued in session three times in the day, two hours a session, and continued next day. This was in the Township of Blenheim, and the work there has been for the summer very satisfactory; and they say, "We want more of it; we have only began to know the value of it." In two other places the same thing was done, and in all these cases with similar results. First, let us lay down this as a settled condition of Sabbath School work, "that a teaching church must be a learning church;" and when you give up the learning, it is only a matter of time till you give up the teaching. When you give up the learning, you get into the position that you only pass on in routine. The great Eton teacher, Dr. Arnold, kept on studying and learning, that he might be a living flowing river of teaching to his students. What is the Thousand Island Parliament, and all other such assemblies ! They are just temples for the embodiment of that one idea, making everything else as far as possible subservient to it, or by the side of it. It is quite true that Dr. Vincent and Professor Sherwin and others rule these institutions; but they are ruled by the importance of training Sabbath School teachers. And so I think the time has come in Canada when we should take up the work right heartily ourselves, with all the inspiration they have given us and the help they are able to give us; and I hope this Convention will not rise until it has done something, as far as may he done, in this matter.

The Chairman introduced Mr. James McNab, of Toronto, to speak $_{\circ}$ on the same subject.

Rev. Mr. Millard said Mr. McNab was the Superintendent of the East Presbyterian Church Sabbath School, Toronto. From him he had received the papers he had been distributing in the Convention. Mr. McNab was also joint conductor of a normal class in connection with the East Presbyterian Sabbath School.

Mr. McNab said it was to Dr. Vincent that the Convention was indebted for the papers that had been distributed. It had been assigned to him to give them an exhibition in words of a normal class. His friend, the editor of the *Presbyterian Record*, headed a

good article with the words "Normal Sabbath Schools." What then was a Normal Sabbath School? It contained a primary class, a iunior class, a senior class, Bible classes, a normal class, and a permanent class, which carried out the idea of Mr. McEwen of a teaching church. It was the East Presbyterian Sabbath School and normal class that he was to endeavour to picture to the Convention. Eight years ago there was only a Mission Sabbath School there, and from that school came the East Presbyterian Church, of which the Rev Mr. Cameron, who was present, was pastor. He (Mr. McNab) had been to Chatauqua, and Mr. Cameron had been there also. He had heard of the normal class idea in 1874, and he went to Chatanqua in 1875, 1876, and 1877. He little thought, however, that there would be a normal class in connection with the East Presby. terian Sabbath School in the year 1875. However, in the report it was his duty to read in 1876, he stated that there were some in the school speaking of the need of a normal class. It was to a lady teacher that they were indebted for this normal class. She took the idea. and presented it to the minds of the teachers, and they asked their pastor if he would undertake to conduct the normal class. He was glad to say that Mr. Cameron at once promised that he would. This class numbered 33: made up of teachers, 14; from the Bible class, 10; senior scholars, bright boys and girls, well advanced in secular schools, mentioned in the papers every time as winning certificates, 7: from the congregation, 2; making 33; besides 15 intelligent people in the congregation, who were regularly supplied with the course; making 48 members. Of the 33, 20 were ladies, and 13 gentlemen. There were 4 elders in the class. Sessions of the class, 18; lessons of the class, 13—Chatauqua Course of Lessons. Time of study, Monday evenings, and occupying 75 minutes; followed by the regular Sabbath School Lessons Class, 75 minutes. That was an hour and a half for Sabbath School work, and for the normal class and teachers. They had frequent reviews; the number of questions submitted for competitive examination, 57. On account of this examination paper, they could not finish in one night. On one night they examined six lessons, and on the other the remaining seven. Two hours and a half were spent, perhaps, each of these evenings. Of the 57 questions, they found some answer as many as 50 and 52, and the least number of answers was 30. Dr. Vincent told him (Mr. McNab) that he would give certificates to every one of these scholars. They studied the Chatauqua Course of Lessons, dividing into two parts—the Bible part and the Sabbath School part. He was sorry to say the Sabbath School part did not receive as much attention from the students as he hoped it would by and by. The course was, the Bible as text book. They took it as a divine book; they examined the evidences of it and the inspiration of it; they examined it as a book of geography, as a book of history and chronology the Bil the org lesson superin lighted when ! and par every t the gen board, was, th them f it woul pump v before there w as the 1 seen fre a time one day they ha spirit 1 creased remain a bette to get not to they ha Bible v by ther with re was cl then b from S scholar at once Solomo the sar time w in relat of God and th

help th

be born

that pr

it then

lass, a

perma-

aching

normal

Eight

l from

Rev.

) had

hatau-

, that

resby.

ort it

in the

eacher

idea.

their

e was

This

class.

ecular

tes, 7;

eople

urse ;

emen.

essons

Mon-

gular

hour

s and

s sub-

xami-

they

Two

Of

1 52.

him

these

iding He

much

The

ook:

they

chro-

nology; and then they examined the Bible class on the theory of the Bible, the relation of the school to the home and to the church, the organization, the management, the classification of scholars, the lesson systems in the schools, and the offices of the teacher and the superintendent. He was glad to say that they were perfectly delighted with the spirit which pervaded the class at every session when the class met, every one bringing Bible, hymn-book, pencil and paper; and after devotional exercises, they are all called over every time, and their roll would bear inspection as compared with the general roll of Sabbath Schools. Then, by the help of the black hoard, they gave lessons which they were glad to learn. The trouble was, they did not know how to get the information which was given them for themselves. But other times might come, however, when it would not be necessary to give all this information; but, as with a pump which had long been dry, they must pour down the water first before they can get any up. Once get the connection made, and there was no more need of the water. Then they had maps as well as the black-board; they were also helps. Now, what fruit had they seen from these classes? They commenced in February. There was a time to sow and a time to reap. They could not expect to sow one day and reap the next; but the pastor and he were glad to say they had found fruits in this class. They had found the Berean spirit manifesting itself in the searching of the scriptures, and increased spirit in the school and in the teachers' meetings. Many remained there who never used to attend the teachers' meetings, and a better spirit was evinced there. They had found it very difficult to get teachers, as, when asked, they said they wanted to learn and not to teach; but now they had learned, and they came. One thing they had learned was their ignorance. Their ignorance about the Bible was astonishing. It was a mine which never could be explored by them. They grew their teachers now; they came to the school with readiness, and the great gulf between the school and the church was closed. They went from the school into the normal class, and then back again into the school. A superintendent wrote to him from Stratford that he wanted to form a normal class, and his scholars wanted to go through the first, second and third grades all at once. They asked what good it would do them to know when Solomon's temple was built. They would not like to be ignorant in the same way as to the accession of Queen Victoria, or as to the time when the Normans invaded England; neither should they be in relation to the scriptures, for all scripture was given by inspiration of God, and was profitable. Once let them begin to study the Bible, and they might expect that in this study the Holy Spirit would help them, and let the words of Christ be in them, and fruit would be borne. If people would begin to study the Bible, they would find that preaching was benefited, that the listeners gave better attention, that the heart was open to the reception of the Word because it was studied at home, and they were hungering and thirsting for more. He hoped many would be stimulated to form these classes, which could be as easily taught as a teachers' meeting.

The Rev. Mr. McEwen submitted the following resolutions:

In view of the necessity for a general preparation of Sabbath School teachers, and of the increasing interest taken in this part of the Sabbath School work—Mored,

First.—That a statement of the work done during the past year, as far as can be ascertained, be embodied in the General Report, and commending the work to the special consideration of the Sabbath School workers.

Second.—That the Executive of this Association take into their consideration, at an early day, the matter of presenting, through some Canadian medium, a scheme of Normal School Lessons, for the guidance and encouragement of any who desire to fit themselves to become teachers of normal classes.

Third.—That the Executive be requested to draw up a respectful statement on the importance of this work of teacher preparation in the Sabbath School, and present it to the consideration of the authorities of our theological institutions and ladies' colleges, with the view of their incorporating some shot scheme of study in their course.

Rev. Mr. Fish moved the adoption of the first resolution, which was seconded and carried.

Rev. Mr. McEwen moved the adoption of the second resolution, which was seconded by the Rev. Mr. Andrews.

Dr. Nichol asked why the Chatauqua Lessons should not be used. Rev. Mr. McEwen.—Our Canadian people want to have the thing pushed out before their eyes by some Canadian paper.

Rev. Mr. Burns asked if it would not do to get the matter from Dr. Vincent.

Rev. Mr. McEwen said it was desirable if they were going on with this work to make it a Canadian work.

Dr. Nichol said they had an International Lesson Series. Would it not be well to have this International also?

Rev. Mr. McEwen said the Lesson Series came from the International Committee.

Rev. Mr. Millard said that very likely the subject would be brought up at the International Convention to be held at Atlanta, Georgia.

Mr. Fotheringham said he did not understand the resolution to forbid the introduction of Dr. Vincent's series, or any other, but to leave it open to the Executive Committee to do it through a Canadian channel.

Mr. McNab said the Chatauqua scheme was not got up by Dr. Vincent, but by a committee of ten, appointed by the Chatauqua assembly of all denominations; and the topics, to the number of forty, might be taken and filled up by any church or person. As

one of tion to

Professional series from a was curguidar taken, the ide home class was pecial

The Rev He sa most I they cat sea said, vof the Rev

Revenue Q — tired Q — to Q — to Q — Q

Q.A.—T superior
Q.A.—Y succee

Q.cards no ma one of the committee who drew up the topics, he asked the Convention to take those topics and fill them up.

Professor Sherwin said they must understand that the Chatauqua series was itself international, because it was made by a committee from all over the land, meaning Canada as well, of course. Then, it was customary everywhere for persons to look to that for general guidance, for very seldom, comparatively, was the entire scheme taken. They could take lessons here and there. He had supposed the idea was for the Executive to take what they thought best for home use. He had purposely avoided to-day any reference to normal class work, because two gentlemen were to follow him on that subject specially.

The resolution was carried.

e it was

or more.

s, which

ool teach.

h School

ar, as far

mending

deration

nedium, a

nt of any

tatement

Schools.

ical insti-

me short

1, which

solution, be used.

he thing

ter from

going on

Would

e Inter-

rould be

Atlanta,

ution to

, but to

Canadian

by Dr.

ataugua

mber of

on. As

18:

Rev. Mr. McEwen moved the adoption of the third resolution. He said it was thought that their training as ministers was for the most part specific training for pulpit and pastoral work; and when they came to deal with this matter of special teaching, they were all at sea; and he thought the time had come, as Professor Sherwin had said, when the men who were to have the moulding of the opinions of the country should take that of the times into their course.

Rev. Mr. Andrews seconded the motion, which was carried.

QUESTION DRAWER.

Rev. Mr. Andrews then answered the questions which had been put into the question drawer during the course of the day.

Q—What is a congregation to do with a minister they are all tired of, because he will not study? A.—Am no bishop; have had no experience in disposing of ministers. Yet, ticket of leave will do. But pay his expenses to a Provincial Convention, stipulating for a report before a public meeting on his return, say on a Sabbath evening, instead of a sermon.

Q.—What would you do with a pastor who wants to be president, conductor, brakesman and everything else in his congregation? A.—Let him run on; need not throw anything in his way. He will soon find out that his train will be wrecked. Boy and mouse trap.

Q.—Who should lead in prayer at close or opening of the school A.—Talk about this matter in the teachers' meeting. Usually the superintendent, or whoever he may think best; he must decide.

Q.—Should the superintendent review the lesson of the day? A.—Yes; unless he has confidence that some other person will succeed in that work.

Q.—What would you do with a superintendent who drinks, plays cards and dances ? A.—No man can serve two masters. Will judge no man.

- Q.—Should a superintendent suspend the regular order of the school out of deference to visitors l .—No.
- Q.—How can a pastor induce the staff of teachers and officers to come to a teachers' meeting? A.—Let him be well prepared with his work, and then invite them personally. Feed trough.
- Q.—Should the scholars be taken out of the class to form classes, until the teacher is satisfied they are fully qualified? A.—Superintendent must decide this. Yet he should be very careful in extreme cases.
- Q.—Should a superintendent frequently ask a teacher to take his place in the review of the school? A.—Not often.
- Q.—Are promotions in the Sabbath School beneficial? A.—Should endeavour to promote teachers and scholars together.
- Q.—Should the superintendent address the school every Sabbath? How much time should he occupy? Should the teachers, if able, ever be called on to offer prayer, or address the school? A.—He must decide that matter. If he can devise a better substitute, let it be done.
- Q.—How are you to get teachers to attend teachers' meetings?
 A.—Already answered.
- Q.—Is dancing consistent with Sabbath School teaching? A.—Not as I view it.
- Q.—What would you do in your teachers' meetings with teachers who persist in whispering to each other during the progress of the exercises \(\begin{align*} \ A.\$\)—Must arise from thoughtlessness. Speak to them privately—never before the other teachers—and then tenderly.
- Q.—Is it expedient for Sabbath School labourers to be total abstainers from strong drink to be successful \(l \).—Yes; moderate drinkers now are all too late for this century.
- Q.—Would you prefer a professed Christian who uses tobacco, in preference to a non-professor, outwardly moral, who does not use tobacco, for a Sabbath School teacher! A.—Difficult to decide this matter. "He that doubteth is damned if he eat," (i.e., condemned)
- Q.—What is the best means of getting money for a Sabbath School A.—Let church officers provide it.
- Q.—What is the proper use of the *Chicago Teacher* or *Sunday School Times*, and the lesson papers, in connection with the teachers meetings! A.—Do not take them to the meetings.
- Q.—How would you keep only suitable books in your Sabbath School library? A.—Turn out all unsuitable ones. Get good ones.
- Q.—What shall a "Backwoodsman" do, who is superintendent of a union school, four miles from the town (on Lake Huron), who feels his inability to "keep ahead" of the school. Shall he turn it over

to one obelongs to turn benefit Respec elsewho

Q.— Sabbat ages to

Q.—
should
should
class sl
that th

year's throug Q.—
school, only at Q.—

doing s Rev closed.

> The Prof Rev The

The
"Our
and fo
all like
they g
one th
account

of the

icers to

ed with

classes.

-Super-

eful in

ake his

A .-

bbath?

if able.

1.—He

e, let it

etings?

A .-

eachers

of the

o them

e total oderate

icco, in

not use de this

emned)

abbath

Sunday

eachers'

Sabbath

od ones.

dent of

ho feels

it over

to one of the denominations in town, when the children from families belonging to other denominations will be withdrawn? Is it proper to turn over what has been given to a union school, to go for the benefit of one denomination? A.—If you are doing well, go ahead. Respect the rights of property in Sabbath School management as elsewhere.

Q.—How many scholars should constitute a Bible class? A.—As many as you can hold in the room.

Q.—How can we retain the larger or advanced scholars in the Sabbath School! A.—Get good teachers for them. Encourage all ages to come. Newly married people.

Q.—Do you think that Bible classes of grown up young people should open and meet with the general school, or do you think they should remain in their own rooms, as Mrs. Clarke thinks the infant class should ! A.—Yes; there is an advantage of having them feel that they belong to the school.

Q.—How would you conduct competitive examination on the year's lesson! A.—By means of written or printed questions, and through the classes.

Q.—If a child is very troublesome, should it be turned out of the school, for fear of corrupting the other pupils? A.—Rarely, and only after every effort has been made with him.

Q.—Should we insist on our pupils learning a passage of Scripture every Sunday ! A.—No; but would heartily encourage them in doing so, and give them merit cards who have learned verses.

Rev. Mr. Cameron pronounced the benediction, and the Session closed.

EIGHTH AND CLOSING SESSION.

The Convention re-assembled at 7.30 p.m.

Professor Sherwin sang, "Rescue the perishing."

Rev. R. Torrance led in prayer.

The Minutes of the Seventh Session were read and sustained.

OUR ENCOURAGEMENTS-WHAT ARE THEY?

The Rev. J. M. Cameron, of Toronto, delivered an address on "Our Encouragements—What are They?" He said: Mr. Chairman and fellow-teachers, our encouragements—what are they? We all like to read the papers, and many of us like to read them when they give an account of what goes on in the Old Country. There is one thing I always like to read—it stirs your blood—and that is the account of the University boat races at home. We all know that in

these races a great deal depends upon a fair start, and anyone who has witnessed one of these races knows how often they have to try and try again, so that each boat will get a fair start, because a fair start has a great deal to do with the ultimate success of the race, As teachers in the Sunday School, we have this to encourage us, that in dealing with the minds of the children we at least have a fair start. Take the black-board used here this morning. There was not a mark upon it at first. It was all smooth and plain, and you could fill it up with whatever you liked. So with the children in the infant class, and the other classes under teachers. Those of us who have been teachers in a day school know that the hardest battle is to get the children to unlearn something amiss which a foolish teacher or want of training, has allowed to occupy the mind of the child; and then, when that is unlearned, you have a better chance to teach them what is right. Is it not a great encouragement to know that we get them in the Sabbath School with the minds unoccupied, when the mind is young? The mind is like a sheet of paper without mark upon it, and you can make it beautiful if you are careful, or if not you can mar it very much. "Take this child and nurse it for me, and I will give the thy wages." Would that parents would take that home to themselves, for they have, after all, the fairest start with the children. Some of the farms we see overgrown with thistles, How would you like to take a farm like that? You would not like it at all. When a minister comes to deal with the young men and young women, he has not half as fair a start in dealing with them that the teacher in the Sabbath School has; and in that respect the teacher has this encouragement, that he has a fair start. In my own school a few Sabbaths ago, one of the neighbouring ministers came in when I was with my class. I did not know he was there. It was a mixed class-young men and women. The text was, "When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them." He asked me, "Do you make your class repeat verses every Sabbath?" I said, "No; but one verse." Very often it is not in the lesson and has no connection with it, but I make it a point carefully to have one verse for the grown-up young men and women to learn. He remarked that the verses which he had learned in the Old Country when he was there a child he could repeat without thinking, but the verses he had learned to-day he could not. See the advantages of teaching the children early, on the principle of David, when he said, "Thy word have I hid in mine heart, that I might not sin against thee." And, like bread cast upon the waters, after many days the passages in the minds of these children will bear fruit, in some thirty, in some sixty, in some an hundred-fold.

Another source of encouragement is sympathy. I know sometimes we hear superintendents complain, and teachers also, of want

of sym on the been in encoura and all all, in s We hav from m in a lar School large, u. had to they the place w to go re myself Toronto they ha to use nection of the 1 it is the rainy d about 3 wards, was qui superin not a m out the next ve way of sympat our wor had not would y of sym regards have a if the 1 the peo and get expecta much fr assume God cor

me, and

ne who to try a fair ie race 18, that r start. a mark d fill it infant o have s to get cher, or d; and h them we get en the t mark if not, me, and ke that rt with histles. ot like ien and h them ect the ny own rs came re. It · When tongue ael will repeat v often ike it a en and learned t withld not. ciple of

ill bear

, that I

waters,

of sympathy. My connection in Sabbath Schools has always been on the other side, and I do not remember the time when I have not been in connection with the Sabbath School. We have this to encourage us as teachers, that we have the teachers of the church and all the parents, even though perhaps they do not go to church at all in sympathy with us. We have it well manifested in this way. We have it manifested in their liberality towards us. I am speaking from my own experience. My first experience as superintendent was in a large Union Sabbath School where there had not been a Sabbath School for ten or twelve years before; and we grew and grew very large, until we had about 200 children, and sometimes over that. We had to get a library; and I remember when we began to think of it, they thought it was no use trying, we would not get anything. This place was near Hamilton. Two of the young ladies were appointed to go round, and they got between \$5 and \$6; and another man and myself went round among the farmers and got \$70, and came to Toronto and got a library for \$70. Since I have been in Toronto they have sent me \$50, another time \$75, another time \$70, for me to use in selecting a library to send them. My experience in connection with that Sabbath School testifies that we have the sympathy of the people, as shewn by their liberality. In our school in Toronto it is the same. Our pic-nic in Toronto last year happened upon a rainy day, but there was a large number of people there. We had about 300 children to tea, and gave the grown people their tea afterwards, and came out, after paying all expenses, \$30 in debt. That was quite an item to us; but what was our happy fortune when the superintendent brought from one of the friends in our congregation. not a member of the church, \$30—from one man, unasked—to wipe out the debt, and give the Sabbath School a fair start again for the next year. We could give several examples of encouragement in the way of liberality. Another kind of encouragement is by way of sympathy. We have that in the expectations that are formed from our work and position, and I hold that is a very great deal. If you had not expected much from this Convention, some practical benefit, would you have been here? I say we have encouragement by way of sympathy from the expectations formed on the part of parents as regards the work of the teacher, and that is a great deal. When we have a great man coming to town, a great singer coming to Toronto, if the name is paraded in the papers and in other connections, when the people expect something, there is no trouble in selling the tickets and getting the hall filled. But there is a great deal in satisfying expectation, and there we often fail. Sometimes people expect too much from us as teachers. Too often they expect that you and I will assume the whole responsibility, and they forget that the authority of God comes to them and tells them, "Take this child and nurse it for me, and I will give thee thy wages." In expecting this they expect too

much, and I do not know how parents at the Great Day will answer for dereliction of duty here. Again, children come to the Sabbath School whose parents do not go to church at all. There are many of them in our school. My own church was formed from a Sabbath The parents are poor; they do not know the minister pro-School. bably. With a large congregation and a large Bible class, the minister has not half the chance to become acquainted with the children. So they do not expect the minister when they are sick, but they do expect the teacher to visit their children. I have been often pained to find that when I have been sent for to see a child, when the child had for all these weeks been speaking about the Sabbath School teacher, and the parents had been expecting him, and the house had been kept in better order for him; but the heart grew sick, and they said, "No man careth for my soul," for the teacher did not come. I hold it gives you and me, as Sabbath School teachers, a far better start in dealing with the children and the parents—the thought that sympathy is manifested in the expectation that we will visit these children when sick. Do we keep track of them when they are away from

I would not give up our Monday evening teachers' meeting in my own house for any meetings we have. A little time ago, Mr. Affleck. the great temperance lecturer, volunteered a sermon for me. He said he would rather do it, and if he had a day vacant he would do it again. Why? He said, For my own growth in grace and growth in spirituality, I need to preach the gospel. Professor Caven said the other day, "I could not keep my own spirituality unless I studied the Bible every day devotionally." You will appreciate that when you know that he studies it critically in the original Hebrew every day with his students. But in our teachers' meeting, with Mr. McNab as its manager and teacher (for I am only a scholar in it). there is so much interest, there is so much to develop all that is noble and good in the true man, that you go away from the meeting a far better and purer Christian; and I can start my studies next-morning far better, from the views I had at the meeting that night. Take, also, the encouragement that we have in our normal class, and in our

The third encouragement is the example of good and great men. Where have you heard of a truly noble man in the church, in former or modern times, who has not been a man of a loving heart, one who has taken great interest in the church. I should have said, also great and good women. Every one of us here knows that Her Majesty, every Sabbath afternoon, gathers the children of her own household, and carefully and prayerfully teaches them the Bible. (Applause.)

Further, we have for our encouragement the example of our blessed Master—"Suffer little children to come unto me, and forbid them not." See what an interest He took in them. How He took them

in his
to hear
and ca
in wh
carries
the dis

classes
in Ha
came i
he war
heard
impres
strong
I coul
meetin
noon;
you w
norma

Finand gament!

Horyours,
Millar
found,
come of
come
present
livery
In
School

with vencour by bei form feeling creatu yourse Sabba ing as for the lit in for

raised

will fi

in his arms, and blessed them. I am sorry I was not here last night to hear Mr. Van Lennep shew how he took the lambs in his arms, and carried them in his bosom. That is a representation of the way in which the Good Shepherd folds the children in His arms, and carries them in His bosom. In this respect, surely, it is enough for the disciple that he be as his lord, or the servant as his master.

Then we have the encouragement of results. Look in your own classes; look at the result of your own teaching years ago. I was in Hamilton a few days ago, and a young man, with a full beard, came in and said, "I am so glad to see you." I did not know who he was. He had been one of my scholars fourteen years ago. I heard from him words of great encouragement, tracing back to good impressions made upon his mind years and years ago. I came away stronger for those words of encouragement. I can remember when I could not get Mr. McNab to the Sabbath School or to a prayermeeting. He wanted to have a smoke and a walk on Sunday afternoon; but now he puts life in our Sabbath School in Toronto; and you will miss your mark if you do not learn from him to form your normal class, and keep up your teachers' meeting.

Finally, let us remember that "he that reapeth receiveth wages, and gathereth fruit unto life eternal." Is not that an encouragement!

Hon. Vice-Chancellor Blake.—I promised my good friend and yours, and the friend of all Sabbath Schools in the Dominion—Mr. Millard—to say a word or two here, if it were possible. I have found, up to the last moment, that it was impossible. I have just come off the train at 7.30 o'clock, and have to leave at 9.30; and I come to drink in a little of the good, Sabbath atmosphere which is present here. I have not had time, as you see, to take off my livery; for I came here straight from the train.

In regard to the particular matter, "Encouragement to Sabbath School Teachers," which is now under consideration, I entirely agree with what Mr. Cameron says, that the first, the main, the grand encouragement is the immense benefit every one obtains for himself by being a Sabbath School teacher. No one can endeavour to perform rightly his or her duties as a Sabbath School teacher, without feeling an immense benefit to self. If you are nothing but a selfish creature, you will become a Sabbath School teacher, and test it for yourself. On the Sunday evening take the lesson for the coming Sabbath, and try to get the lesson from it; and take it every morning as you are dressing, and see what lesson you can learn from it; for there is nothing so elevating, nothing which will raise you above the littlenesses, the meannesses of the world, as the lessons you drink in for yourself. As you read and study these lessons, you will feel raised above all that this world can offer or tempt you to do. You will find that the little derelictions of duty to which, without that

answer

Sabbath

many of

Sabbath

ter pro-

minister en. So

o expect

l to find

had for

ier, and kept in

d, "No

hold it

start in mpathy

children

ay from

g in my Affleck.

He said d do it

owth in

aid the

studied

at when

w every

th Mr.

in it),

is noble

ng a far

norning

Take,

l in our

at men.

former

ne who

o, great

lajesty.

isehold,

plause.)

blessed

d them

k them

strong food which you have been taking, you would be subject, will sink before your vision. So the great encouragement is the grand strengthening of yourself by becoming a Sabbath School teacher. It gives motives, encouragements, promises of that higher order, which are very necessary to us who are engaged in so much in this world which is likely to draw us away from what should be steadily before us. That is the grand encouragement which is given to a Sabbath School teacher.

Then consider the encouragements we have in our classes. Nothing perhaps can better bring that before the notice of the parent and the teacher, than the little anecdote which was told some nine or ten years ago as having really happened, and which has been repeated of late on many occasions. You recollect the anecdote of what happened in the town of Clifton, where a child and his parent wandered out to the green on the Sabbath afternoon. The parent was amused by his child, of some three years of age, bringing flowers to him. The parent falls asleep. He awakes after half or three-quarters of an hour, and the child is not to be found. He seeks to find the child, but in vain, He approaches the edge of the precipice, and there sees the form of the poor little boy. He goes down, takes the lifeless form in his arms, and exclaims, "I have murdered my child." There was no murder; but there was neglect on the part of the parent. And if your aim as Sabbath School teachers does not reach to the giving of the children life, you are pursuing your calling in a manner which is below the object of Sabbath School teachers. You will be responsible, and you will be a murderer before the great white throne, unless everything has been done to present the children to the Lamb of God. Coming from that to what I tell you is the greatest encouragement to Sabbath School teachers, I know nothing that sent my blood flowing through my body so much as a letter from a Sabbath School child. He did not like exactly to tell me the whole, but he said, "I am rejoiced to tell you that at length I am safe in the arms of Jesus. God has been good to me, and has given me much undeservedly, many, many blessings." I know nothing that afforded me such lasting joy as that. If you want encouragement, there it stands before you. What we want in regard to this is that we should approach the class Sabbath after Sabbath pervaded with the lesson. Bring no note-book or memoranda: it is an insult to the children to do that. If you have not sufficient interest in the children to prepare yourself at home, give up the class. Go there with the lesson so taken into yourself, that out of a great well, as it were, you can give forth your lesson. You have nothing to do but the great, grand thing-in some form to present the message, and witness for the Saviour. Teachers so going before their classes need never complain of inattention. You go there pervaded with the lesson, having asked God to bless it, having insisted that each child should make it a subject of prayer that the the min." of the strengencouries may the g

serva Pr Re ment Scho word agem of th ing t fond than us to which make great some see t meno the s I ha last 1 no s "Ha perm bretl great shall part upon wish

but

have

you

any

ct, will

grand

er. It

which

s world

before

abbath

Tothing

ind the

or ten

ppened

out to

by his

parent

ur, and

n vain. form of

in his

was no

if your of the

hich is

onsible,

unless

amb of

ourage-

blood

School

aid, "I

Jesus.

rvedly,

lasting

re you.

e class

te-book

u have

e, give

lf, that

orm to

going

ou go

having

at the

You

lesson, by God's Holy Spirit, may be brought home to its heart. Then you will never lack encouragement. We want more faith, more of the message of our Master, "Launch out into the deep, and draw it in." You may have been fishing without looking to Him. The arm of the flesh is poor and miserable, wretched and weak; with the strength from above, we shall be strong indeed. Seek not those encouragements which, if they be not given you, will drive you back from the path of the Sabbath School teacher. It is not success which is made the test of reward in the Great Day. Standing before Him, the great Rock on which we can never be shaken, the message is not to the successful, but it is, "Well done, thou good and faithful support the successful, but it is, "Well done, thou good and faithful support the successful, but it is, "Well done, thou good and faithful support to the successful, but it is, "Well done, thou good and faithful support the successful, but it is, "Well done, thou good and faithful support the successful, but it is, "Well done, thou good and faithful support the successful is the successful that the successful is the successful that the successful is the successful that the successful that the successful is the successful that the succes

Professor Sherwin sang, "Christ the water of life will give."

Rev. Mr. MILLARD said it is so good to be reminded of encouragements; to us who are engaged in Sabbath School work and Sabbath School Convention work; and as my brethren were speaking, these words came into my mind-and, after all, these are our great encouragements—the assurances given by God in His word, the promises of the faithful and the true witness. I will mention one __ "Knowing that your labour is not in vain in the Lord." Now, we are fond of looking for signs, and judging and walking by sight rather than by faith; but faith is what God would bring us into, and cause us to exercise. I had very great pleasure in preparing the mottoes which are at either end of the church, for this Convention, to help to make it bright and pleasant. I felt great pleasure, because, after a great deal of thought and some prayer that I might be directed to something that would preach profitable truths to those who should see them, those mottoes were given to me of God. They were commended to me as suitable; for He will instruct us and teach us, let the speakers be whomsoever they might. They are God's own words. I had thought-I had not much time, for I was working up to the last moment, when I had to take the train, and all night, for I had no sleep the night previous-I had thought of another motto-God's promise is what we should have faith "Have faith in God." in. Your labour is not in vain, but it must be in the Lord. I asked permission to say a word this evening to my fellow-workers and brethren who are county secretaries. I am afraid there are not a great many county secretaries here after all; but I hope this year we shall have more frequent correspondence. After all, the principal part of the association work—pen-work and head-work—devolves upon me; and sometimes I do feel a little of the weight of it. I wish I could always do what is right and best and most productive; but I am labouring in the Lord, and I am trying to have faith, as I have been recommending to you to-night; but I would be obliged to you county secretaries if you would correspond with me respecting any efforts you are making, and especially the conventions you are

intending to hold, so that if possible I might be at every County Convention. The only cost would be my travelling expenses. Then, again, do get township organizations. The county meeting is very valuable; the provincial assembly is a most important one; but neither the Provincial nor the County Conventions meet what is wanted. The multitude do not get to our larger conventions; the multitude know nothing about them, except what may be whispered in their ears. There should be a one-day meeting in every township of one or two sessions, if possible. It is also desirable that the county secretaries should become acquainted with the position of every Sabbath School in the county, and the person of every superintendent of every school. The township secretary can easily compass all the schools in the township. I do not know that I should say he is good for nothing if he cannot do that; but I do not think he is good for very much if he cannot visit them once a year. If the township secretaries do that, and report to the county secretary, then the county secretary will be able to report the Sabbath School state of his county without much trouble. Then I wish the township secretaries to report to the county secretary, and the county secretary to report to me. If they have not reported yet, I wish they would do it. I, and others, have to be at Atlanta, in the State of Georgia. next April; and we cannot report as we ought about our Sunday Schools unless county secretaries report to me; thus we are dependent upon you. Another thing: if you have not a county organization, try to get up one. We have somebody in this Convention that we think is an honourable specimen of what a county secretary should be. He spent four days in going to every Sunday School in his county; and that was a county we thought before had no proper Sabbath School Association life in it.

RESOLUTIONS.

As no sufficient invitation for the next Provincial Convention had been received, it was resolved to leave this matter with the Executive.

Mr. Edgar, from the Business Committee, reported and moved a series of resolutions.

Mr. Montgomery seconded the resolutions, which were as follows:

The thanks of the Association are tendered to Professor Sherwin and Mrs.
Clark for their valuable assistance.

To the Christian people of Guelph for their generous hospitality.

To the Trustees and Pastor of the Norfolk Street Methodist Church for the use of their fine and commodious building.

To Mr. Marcon and the active boys associated with him, for their kind and assiduous attentions to the delegates.

And to the railway companies for reduced fares.

—Carried.

Rev supplie \$5 pai The

Protions,
Q.—
that it day is
Q.—

Find of Q.—
result scolding will be horner as your management of the property of the property

with readir thing The Re-

Pro

give : Hon.

Bri The Christ a liste sweet have

had to and upon this land-

Rev. Mr. Andrews moved that all subscribers of \$5 should be supplied with a copy of the Report; and an additional copy for every \$5 paid by them.

The motion was seconded by Mr. Watson, of Weston, and carried.

Professor Sherwin said he had been asked to answer some questions, which were as follows:

Q.—Can you find Sunday in the Bible? A.—I do not recollect that it is in the Bible, nor do I remember that Wednesday or Thursday is there.

Q.—Is the Christian or heathen name most appropriate? A.—P.—Ind out which is really Christian or really heathen, and judge yo.

Q.—Should a superintendent often scold, and what would be the result A.—He should never scold; and the result of continued scolding will be to get all the teachers to scold, and the result of that will be to get all the children scolding, and it will be a regular hornet's nest. The superintendent should learn to control himself. "Be ye angry, and sin not."

BIBLE READING.

Professor Sherwin then conducted a Bible reading, prefacing it with the remark that they should have point and plan to a Bible reading as much as in the making of a sermon, or a book, or anything else.

The collection was then taken up.

ounty

Then,

; but

at is; the

pered

nship

t the

on of

super-

mpass

ay he

he is

f the

then

state nship

etary vould

orgia,

inday

ndent

ation, at we hould

n his

roper

n had itive.

ved a

ows:

Mrs.

or the

d and

Rev. Mr. Andrews made an appeal for a liberal contribution, and stated that cards had been prepared, on which those who could not give at once might promise to give what they chose, payable to the Hon. John McMurrich, in Toronto, by the first January next.

Professor Sherwin, by request, again sang "Rock of Ages."

FAREWELL ADDRESSES.

Brief farewell addresses were then delivered.

The Rev. J. A. R. Dickson, of Toronto, said: Mr. Chairman and Christian friends, I have been since I came to this Convention simply a listener with many of my brethren. I have been drinking in the sweet, cheering, stimulating atmosphere which it has breathed, and have sympathized with the different brethren in that they have not had time to develop the different themes, or do themselves justice; and I felt that all the more when I was promised not to be called upon till the end of the meetings. I think there are some things in this Convention which cannot fail to make it a real power in our land—a loving, stimulating, beneficent power in our land; and the

first is. that this Convention, from the beginning to the end, has been thoroughly practical: no time has been wasted, so long as I have been here, in mere talk or idle theorizing; on the very contrary, the Convention has been occupied with living issues. It has been dealing with the actual wants of our Sunday School life. It has been seek. ing to mend the wrong and supplement that which is wanting, and lead it to a higher grandeur, and higher life in our Sunday Schools: and I think it has attained this. If I rejoice in anything in this Convention, it is in its thoroughly practical character. I have been exceedingly pleased by the emphasis which has been placed upon this by Professor Sherwin; how he has manfully stood against mere theories, and called us back to practical issues. Again, I have been pleased to see that the foremost place has been given to God's own word. Of course, we know the Bible is the one book of the Sunday School, and the Convention by every action has given emphasis to this; and it has pleased my heart that, from the beginning to the end. no whisper has been breathed against the inspiration of God's word. against the divine authority of God's word, against it being a finality; and when I think of this, I am led to say, "Let those words which create doubt and fear in the minds of many of God's people issue from one or two pulpits in our land as they may, so long as our Sunday School teachers are sound on this question, our land is safe." (Applause.) The Bible is the bulwark of our country (hear, hear): and so long as we believe it is God's own word, divinely inspired of divine authority and final, giving the law to our consciences now and to be the law of the final judgment, we have a power here that has no superior on earth or in heaven. I remember a story of a woman with a large family, whose father was an infidel. All the children, however, were leading Christian lives, and the mother said in answer to a question, "The reason is, that I keep the Bible open on the table. and that no doubt creeps into their minds. I bring them to the table when they are in any trouble, or there is any darkness upon their minds. I do not speak to them, I allow God to speak to them, and that is the reason why they are all leading Christian lives to day." And so long as we keep the Bible in this place—the highest place of all—there is no fear for the youth of our land, no fear for the future of our country, no fear for the church of Christ. The germ of the church of Christ is in the Sunday School, and thus we, in ministering to the upbuilding of the Sunday School, are the teachers of our country. I rejoice then in this feature of the Convention. I have been very much pleased with the illustrations of the Bible by Mr. Van Lennep; and by the unfolding of the Bible and the exposition of it by Professor Sherwin; and our friends who reviewed the lessons of the past quarter; and by the exemplification of the spirit of the Bible in all the sittings of the Convention-the brotherly love and Christlike spirit which has been manifested. Compared with

some delight cross has been result in the the source Jesus Is the

and our we sum teac to y in y of that

we i

well con of mer suit know frie foll I who oth in

jus as ha us a l

th of s been

e been

e Con-

lealing

seek.

g, and

hools;

in this

e been

n this

e been

s own

asis to

e end

word,

which

issue

r Sun-

safe."

hear):

red, of

w and

at has

voman

ildren.

nswer

table.

to the

upon

them,

o-day.'

lace of

future

of the

minis-

iers of

on. I

ble by

exposi-

ed the

spirit

y love

with

some of our ecclesiastical gatherings, these meetings have been most delightful and excellent in their character. There has not been a gross word spoken or an improper feeling manifested. Everything has been in the sweetest, kindest, tenderest, Christian spirit possible. How shall it tell upon our future? I believe all the teaching has been concentrating upon present immediate action, and what is the result upon our minds? Is it not to give ourselves again to Christ in the spirit of a higher and fuller consecration. I believe that, if the right end is gained, every one of us to-night will reconsecrate ourselves to the service of Christ in the bringing of the little ones to Jesus and in the upbuilding of those who have already come to Him. Is this our purpose? Let us see to it that this is our purpose, that we do give ourselves entirely again to Christ, so that every day, fall and winter, we may have a glorious revival of God's work all through our country. I believe if a revival is to begin in real earnest, and if we are to be blessed in this country of ours, it must begin in the Sunday School, and before that in the hearts of the Sunday School teachers. Your hearts have been cheered and blessed here. Go back to your schools carrying the living fire, and with it teach every heart in your class, that all may be set on fire for Christ, and then the result of this Convention will be seen throughout eternity in thousands having been brought to Jesus. (Applause.)

Rev. Mr. Brock said: Mr. Chairman and Christian friends, I hardly know the object of my being called upon, except to say a farewell word to the friends who have come to this town as delegates in connection with this Convention. I am in a position to know a little of the fears that were indulged by some who have had the management of this Sabbath School Convention here, as to our ability to suitably provide for such a gathering. I am in a position also to know the feeling of expectation in the minds of some of the good friends in this town, as to the spiritual and other results which might follow the holding of the sessions of this Convention in this town. I would not like to give utterance on behalf of others to a feeling which might not meet with a response in the minds and hearts of other people; but for myself, and if I am not very greatly mistaken in regard to the sentiments of others, I shall give expression to a feeling of regret that we have reached the last session and the last moments of the exercises of the Convention. I wish that we were just at the beginning, under such impulses and feelings and advantages as we now enjoy when we have reached the close of the services that have been so interesting, and I believe so profitable and inspiring to us all. I do wish, Mr. Chairman, that we could keep this Convention a little longer in Guelph. I have been a little surprised that no invitation has come from any other city or town in Ontario or Quebec with reference to the next Convention. I have somewhere met with this definition of the word "gratification"-" an earnest expectation of favours to come." It seems to me that if we had an opportunity

of consulting together here in Guelph, we might be able to get up another invitation twelve months from now, if no other place has desired to secure the benefits and blessings of the Convention next year. (Applause.) There has not been very much difficulty after all in making the necessary provision for this Convention in Guelph. I believe the difficulties twelve months from now, or three, five, ten years from now, will be much less. Such have been the benefits and blessings we have received from your presence, and the councils addresses, and all the words of instruction and edification to which we have listened from your lips, I wish we could keep some of you, at any rate, here all the year, and have your services in our churches, Sunday Schools and homes. We have very greatly enjoyed your presence in our midst, and I believe we shall share, for the rest of the year, the advantages we have reaped in our Sunday Schools. and prayer-meetings, and churches. I believe the exercises of this Convention will result in great benefit to our schools here. I take the opportunity to say a farewell word to you, and in the fullest and deepest sense of the word, I wish you farewell. On your way to your homes I trust you will fare well, in your work in the church of God, and in the Sunday Schools you help; that you may fare well all the way in your life here on earth; and when your work and my work is accomplished here, in due time I trust we may hear the Master say to us at last, "Well done, good and faithful servant; enter thou into the joy of thy Lord." (Applause.)

The President announced that the collections and subscriptions during this Convention had amounted to \$1,010-28.

Rev. Mr. MILLARD said a paper had been put into his hand, asking if Kingston would be a good place for the Convention next year. He thought the Convention would be a capital thing for Kingston. He did not forget that Kingston was the place where Sabbath School Conventions in Canada were born. He could not say, however, where the Convention would be next year, as no direct invitation and positive promise of support had been received. They could not go where they did not know they would be thoroughly welcome. Let them have half a dozen invitations, and they would take the one they thought the best.

The President then introduced Professor Sherwin as the last speaker of the evening.

Professor Sherwin first sang, "The sweet by and by," and then spoke as follows: Mr. President and fellow-workers, I always dread just this point. It used to be the style with people that Sunday School Conventions must end up with a sort of fire-works display. They used to save up all the wit and fun and jollity for the closing addresses; and now, how changed. Thank God, that it has been put into the hearts of the Christian workers, that as they draw towards the close of the Convention the tone of spirituality seems deepened,

and hear and are again wi just this possible, be done that ther pressure and crow closing : which d pure gra make of instructi of heart. going to the seats the fragu you take the spir man's wa over the teach the of, and Him; a your Su fluences Sunday unfit to unfit to various School, proper i classes, Our Sur ever. V plication taught 1 School, 1 home ci that was be wond

you. I

I do not

have ha

almost a

et up

e has

next

after

telph.

e, ten

s and

neils

vhich

ie of

our

oved

rest

ools,

this

take

and

y to

h of

well

l my

the

ant;

ions

king

ear.

ton.

hool

here

osi-

here

hem

hey

last

hen

ead

day

lay.

ing

rds

ied,

and hearts grow tender and loving, and lean up against each other, and are thereby in unison; and they feel a consciousness that not again will they all face each other here; it is impossible that ever just this assemblage should be gathered together again. It would be possible, but it has not the slightest shade of probability, that it could be done to morrow, much less a year from now. And so it has come that there comes with the closing of the Convention a tremendous pressure upon the heart that sets home to the soul every good thing, and crowds out that which is only chaff, retaining the wheat. The closing session of a Convention nowadays is a winnowing mill, which drives out that which is light and worthless, and drops the pure grain into the garner for use. And what use are you going to make of this Convention, with all its sweet influences, with all its instruction, with all its songs, with all its lessons, with its touching of heart, with its kindling enthusiasm, firing of zeal-what are you going to do with it? Leave it here as you leave the hymn-books in the seats? That is too often done. I beg of you that you gather up the fragments, that nothing may be flost which is worth saving; that you take them with you, and then do your best, praying to God in the spirit of these mottoes, "Teach me Thy way, O Lord"-not man's way; and then looking to the golden promise which is written over there on crimson, of Christ's blood, "I will instruct thee and teach thee." So He will. But for all these things He will be inquired of and He will not instruct thee and teach thee unless thou askest Him; and you need to ask continually. Go from this place, then, to your Sunday Schools and to your homes. Don't confine these influences to mere Sunday School work. Whatever is fit to use in our Sunday School, is fit to use in our Christian work; and whatever is unfit to use in other Christian work, I beseech you to remember, is unfit to use in this part of religious work. It has been thought that various means and appliances might be introduced into the Sunday School, of a secular nature, on the Sabbath, which would be very improper in what would be called a religious meeting; and in many classes, if you speak of a religious meeting, they would stare at you. Our Sunday Schools need to be made religious meetings more than ever. With the spirit of consecration in teachers, add prayer and supplication daily, and diligent application to all the truths God has taught us. So go from this place, carrying into not only the Sunday School, but into your prayer meetings and church meetings, into your home circle, by the fireside, everything that you have found here that was of value; and then the reflex influence will be great, it will be wonderful. I have enjoyed this Convention more than I can tell you. I always enjoy Canada Conventions. I say it from the heart; I do not say it to curry favour with Canada people. Thank God, I have had no occasion to curry favour with them. They have borne with me, and forgiven me for saying pretty sharp things. I was almost amazed that they did forgive it; but somehow they take stock

in a fellow once in a while in a way that does me good, and I won't say what I was going to, it would be egotistical—I think you try not to misunderstand a man who is in dead earnest, and does not palaver about it. In some places you have to walk in velvet slippers. but you let a man go doublesoled, with nails in his heels, and it is no effort to walk with you. Sometimes I wish I lived further north and sometimes I do not. (Laughter.) You have not heard me say much about this side of the line and that . I am getting to forget it. I wish you would forget it. When I saw those flags intertwined but one you put above them, the blood-stained banner of Christwhat cared I about Niagara's roar. We have a suspension bridge there, and one here sufficient to carry the whole cataract and bridge away, and not make them tremble—a suspension bridge of brotherly love, of a cable of God's manufacture, one which never needs examining. Send your prayers, and tears, and sympathy over to us, until we become truly and really one in Christ Jesus; and may we meet in the "Sweet by and by." It is easy to sing, "We shall meet on that beautiful shore." Are you sure of that? Have you made it certain? Do you go out from this place to work for God, or to work for self? If you go to work for God, "We shall meet on that beautiful shore;" if you work for self, you shall not. Good-bye.

SABE

County

County

County County

County County

Zion Ch

Knox P Norther

Northe

Jarvis !

Richmo

Richmo Cooke's

Cooke's

West E

Central

Gould

East E

Knox (

Berkel

Centra

Bond S

Alexar

St. Jar S. S. 1

John I

Daniel

A. Mil

E. Coa James

James

Georg James

W. T.

R. Wi

The PRESIDENT said: Some of the pleasantest memories of my life cluster around gatherings like this. I have never had friends billeted with me yet that the time did not seem too short, and it seemed almost as if my family were going to be broken up when they were going away. I am satisfied the families in Guelph have been more than repaid for any little inconvenience they may have found in providing for delegates. I am glad so many have come up, and that the friends from a distance have professed themselves easily satisfied; and though belonging to different denominations, I should like any one to tell me in this congregation who is a Methodist, or who is a Presbyterian, or anything else. We are one in the Lord Jesus Christ. Let us not forget the motto of a great Sabbath School teacher-"The world for Jesus." Our Father in heaven sets the example of that when Jesus said, "God so loved the world that He gave His only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth on Him should not perish, but have everlasting life." I feel more love than I ever did for this work. I hope when we go hence, we shall think it to be our duty to speak not only to children, but to every man and We are eternity-bound creatures. The place that now knows us may soon know us no more forever. And oh, let it be said of us when we go hence, that we did what we could for the Master. I wish you all farewell.

Professor Sherwin sang, "We shall meet beyond the river."

Rev. T. Wardrope pronounced the benediction, and the Convention closed.

CONTRIBUTIONS

TO THE

SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION OF CANADA

RECEIVED BETWEEN OCTOBER, 1876, AND OCTOBER, 1877.

NAME.	RESIDENCE.	AMOUNT.
County of Peel S. S. Association		\$25 00
		50 00
		50 00
County of York, Kotth County of York, E. & W. Ridings, S. S. Asso'n.		20 00
		10 00
County of Huron S. S. Association		10 00
Zion Church Congregational S. S.	Toronto	10 00
Knox Presbyterian Church S. S.	"	25 00
Northern Congregational Church S. S.	"	20 00
Northern Congregational Church S. S.	"	50 00
Northern Congregational Church S. S.	"	15 00
Jarvis Street Baptist S. S. Richmond Street Methodist S. S.	"	5 00
Richmond Street Methodist S. S. Richmond Street Methodist S. S.	"	10 00
Richmond Street Methodist S. S	"	12 00
Cooke's Presbyterian Church S. S	"	6 00
Cooke's Presbyterian Church Mission S. S	"	20 00
West End Presbyterian S. S.		10 00
Charles Street Presbyterian S. S	"	10 00
Central Presbyterian S. S		10 00
Gould Street Presbyterian S. S		10 00
East End Presbyterian S. S		10 00
Knox Church Presbyterian S. S		10 00
Berkeley Street Methodist S. S		0 00
Central Mission Congregational S. S		10 00
Carleton Street Primitive Methodist S. S		20 75
Bond Street Congregational S. S		10.00
Alexander Street Baptist S. S		00
St. James' Cathedral S. S		F 00
S. S. Martin		0 10
John Hallam		F 00
N. W. Spellar		
Daniel McLean		20 00
A. Miller & Co		
E. Coatsworth		
James McNab		10 00
James Hughes	"	
George Eyvell		10 00
James Paterson		
W. T. Currie		
John N. Lake	"	
R. Wilkes	"	6 00
	٥	

, and I nink you does not slippers, l it is no er north, me say

me say
forget it.
wined—
Christ—
on bridge
d bridge
protherly
examin-

us, until we meet meet on made it to work at beauti-

f my life

s billeted t seemed ney were een more d in prothat the satisfied; like any who is a rd Jesus h School sets the that He n should n I ever ink it to man and

r." nvention

hat now let it be for the

NAME.	RESIDENCE.	AMOUNT,
G. Murray		
J. Bruce & Co.		\$ 2 00
Rev. J. M. Cameron.		1 00
John L. Blaikie		1 00
W. B. McMurrich.		5 00
Hon, G. Bro n		4 00
J. Gordon Brown		10 00
Dr. Hodgins		5 00
W Finch & Son	"	2 00
W. Finch & Son J. Turner & Co		2 00
Friend	"	2 00
Friend Friend		0 50
Alayandan & Starl	"	0 50
Alexander & Stark	- 11	4 00
W. D. Matthews & Co.	"	3 00
W. Walker	"	5 00
C. Page & Sons.		2 00
John D. Nasmith	"	1 00
A. Farley & Son.	"	2 00
Bessions, Cooper & Smith	"	5 00
r. G. Close & Co	"	5 00
HOH. W. MCMaster		10 00
Hazleton Avenue S S	"	5 00
L. C. I cake (last year's subscription)	Yorkville	10 00
L. C. Teake, 1877	"	10 00
	Toronto Township	25 00
Timilive Methodist S. S.	Gore	3 00
Egington 5. 5	Eglington	4 00
willow Grove S. S., Rev. J. Brooks.	Etobicoke	
Willow Grove Congregation Rev. I Recoled	"	7 50 2 50
Pine Grove Congregational S. S. W. Wallie	Pine Grove	
Oily of Hamilton S. Schools (list not furnished)	Hamilton	5 00 72 50
A. Macallum	"	
Cayuga S. S	Cayuga	5 00 2 00
Halloway	Halloway	
Pelham	Pelham	1 00
remam, Baptist	"	0 75
	"	
rarringdon S S	Brantford	1 00 10 00
	Galt	
W. D. Grant	"	10 00
James Loung, M. P.		5 00
	King	5 00
Newmarket Methodist S. S.	King	5 00
Newmarket Presbyterian S S	Newmarket	2 00
Aurora Presbyterian S S	Annone	2 00
Newton Brook Methodist S. S., W. W. Cummer.	Aurora	2 00
	Newton Brook	5 00
	Fangus	5 00
Ebenezer U. S. S.	Fergus	5 00
	Edmonton	20 00
	Woodstock	10 00
1st Presbyterian S. S.	St. Catharines	10 00
W. J. McCalla	"	50 00
	"!	50 00

Emil Was A. Beaver John Orch Arthur F Small Sur Knox Chr John McC James Mi Wm. Crai L. H. Co J. Marsh Thos. Sho M. E. Ke R. Lawri James No J. K. Bla C. E. Ha Cash . . . A. J. Non A. J. No Miss Car John For J. B. Mc J. B. Mc J. F. Ed West Be A. Chris J. H. Sw Miss Mo Rev. S. Frank H Mrs. Tel Dr. Wils J. H. Mo J. Robel R. S. Cr R. S. Cr Port Co Hampto Guelph Colings Dayton Browns Madoc E. Dick

Platt H John Si

Thomas S. S. B W. R. . R. R. E A. Cho W. C. O AMOUNT.

NAME.	RESIDENCE.	AMOUNT.
		A 1 00
emil Wasman	St. Catharines	\$1 00
mil Wasman	"	0 50
A Beaver	"	1 00
	"	0 50
	"	1 00
	"	80 00
	"	2 00
	"	2 00
		1 00
	"	2 00
	"	0 50
	"	5 00
4 17 II come	"	1 00
	"	1 00
Vin	"	2 00
	"	1 00
a ri Hamilton	"	1 00
. 1		2 00
		10 00
A. J. Northrup, Presbyterian Church S. S	"	15 00
Campon on the case of the case		1 00
John Forin.		5 00
J. B. McGanu	. "	1 00
J. B. McGann		1 0
7 D Edmunds		10 0
West Belleville Meth. S. S., per J. N. Yeomans	. "	10 0
A. Christie	. "	1 0
J. H. Swayzie	. "	1 0
Miss Morton		1 0
Rev. S. P. Rose		5 0
Frank Hynes	. "	2 0
Mrs. Terrill	"	
Dr. Wilson.	"	5 0
J. H. Meacham	"	
J. Robertson		2 0
R. S. Crothers.		
R. S. Crothers. for Croon S. S	. Northport	. 5 0
Port Colborne Presbyterian S. S		
Hampton Can. Meth. S. S., Rev. E. Barrass		
Guelph Can. Meth. S. S., H. Harley	. Guelph	
Colingsby Primitive Methodist S. S	Colingsby	
Collingsby Frinklive Methodist S. S		
Dayton S. S., R. B. Fossett		
Brownsville S S., J. W. McGee		
Madoc Presbyterian S. S., A. T. Wood	Dundas	. 5
E. Dickie		
Platt Hinman		
John Smith		
Thomas and Mrs. Coates		
S. S. Brintnell	Millpoint	
W.R. Aylesworth		
R. R. Bird.	Kingston	
A. Chown	1 20 1	

NAME,	RESIDENCE,	AMOUNT
Mrs. Coates		84 00
John A. Heath S. Parish	Harold	100
J. A. Turnbull	Farmersville	1 00
John Riddell		5 60
Samuel Bigham	Etobicoke	5 00
Mrs. Sing	Canifton	3 00
Rev. Mr. Wellwood	Cannton	1 00
William Craig, sen	Port Hope	3 00
Rev. W. F. Dobbs	Portsmouth	20 00
William Watson	Weston	2 00
D. Ross	Leith	3 00
G B. Platt	Picton	10 00
Kev. J. Kenner	Cobourg	1 00
J. J. Tomblin.	Springdale	2 00
R. Thompson.	Heathcote	5 00
W. H. Austin	Trenton	2 00

SABBA

Adair, Jo Alexande Allen, M. Andrews, Andrews, Andrews, Andrews, Andrews, B. Andrews, B. Andrews, Argo, Jat Barber, J. Bardwell, Barnett, A. Bearber, J. Bardwell, Barnett, A. Bentser, J. Bardwell, Barnett, A. Bentser, J. Bardwell, Barnett, A. Bentser, J. Braugh, A. Branbala, R. Bake, R. Bake, P. Branbala, P. Branbal

Burns, Burton,

DELEGATES AND VISITORS

PRESENT AT THE

TWELFTH ANNUAL MEETING

OF THE

SABBATH SCHOOL ASSOCIATION OF CANADA,

OCTOBER, 1877.

NAME.	DENOMINATION.	POST OFFICE.
Burton, Miss E		Toronto.
Butt, Rev. W. H.	Bible Christian	Palmerston.
Cadow, Miss M. E	Presbyterian	Toronto.
Cameron, Rev. J. M		Toronto.
Cameron, Rev. D. B	Presbyterian	Acton.
Campbell, Joseph	Methodist Episcopal	Campbell's Cross
Campbell, Rev. P	Methodist	Albion.
Carter, Joseph	Methodist	Fairfield Plains.
Castle, Rev. J. H., D.D Caswell, Thomas	Baptist	Toronto.
Christopherson, Rev. H	Presbyterian	Toronto.
Clark, H. J.	Methodist	Kincardine.
Clark, Mrs. S. W	Congregational	Toronto.
Clarke, Rev. Richard	Methodist	New York.
Clarkson, George	Methodist	Lloydtown
Clarkson, Mrs	Methodist	Islington
Clemens, M. B.	Mennonite	Islington.
Clement, Rev. B.	Methodist	Winterbourne.
Clutton, Wm	Baptist	Waterford. Goderich.
Cochrane, Rev. W., D.D.	Presbyterian	Brantford.
Cooley, J. W	Methodist	Stratford.
Courter, Miss E. A	Methodist	Islington.
Crabbe, J. J.	Methodist	St. Mary's.
Cranston, A.	Presbyterian	Galt.
Crassweller, C	Baptist	Rosseau.
Crawford, John S	Methodist	St. George.
Cream, Miss F.		Toronto.
Croll, Rev. R. M.	Presbyterian	Claude.
Cummer, W. W	Methodist	Newtonbrook.
Cummer, L. A.	Methodist	Waterdown.
Culton Pow J. W.	Methodist	Waterdown.
Culter, Rev. J. W	Methodist Episcopal	Petrolia.
Dalgliesh, Miss Damenworth, John	Presbyterian	Galt.
Davis, Charles	Baptist	D. I
Day, John	Bible Christian	Palmerston.
Deacon, Charles	Methodist	Washington, O.
Dennis, Isabella	Methodist	Wallace.
Devitt, Joseph	Evangelical Association.	Weston. Berlin.
Dickson, Rev. J. A. R	Congregational	Toronto.
Dickenson, H	Presbyterian	Stratford.
Dobson, Rev. John	Primitive Methodist	London.
Dobbs, Rev. F. W	Church of England	Portsmouth,
Dodd, Miss	Presbyterian	Erin.
Duff, Charles	Congregational	Hamilton,
Duff, Rev. C.	Congregational	Speedside.
Laton, George Y	Methodist	St. Mary's.
Eaton, J. L	Methodist	St. Mary's.
Edgar, W	Congregational	Hamilton.
Edgar, Miss	Congregational	Hamilton.
Edwards, Rev. S	Methodist	Holstein.
Eidt, J. L	Evangelical Association	Phillipsburg,
Elgar, Thomas	Congregational	Yorkville.

Elsley, Erb, W Fairclot Faries, Ferguse Ferguse Ferrier Finch, Finch, Fish, R Flemin Forin, Formar Fother Foulste Fraser, Freema Freema Freema Gibson Gilchri Gilchri Goodsp Graffte Grahai Grahai Gray, Gray, Grimsi Grose, Hall, Hall, Harlid Harris Harris Harris Harris Harris Hartn Healy Heral Hill, Holg! ·Hoope Hossi Howe Howi Hump

NAME.	DENOMINATION.	POST OFFICE.
Elsley, William	Methodist	D1 1-1-
p.a. William	U. Brethren	Bloomingdale.
	Methodist	Toronto.
Roy F. W	Presbyterian	Ottawa.
Parenteon J. H	Methodist	Brampton.
D M188 F.,	Methodist	Brampton.
Dannier J C	Methodist	Islington.
	Methodist	Toronto.
Finch Mrs. C. S	Methodist	Toronto.
Fish, Rev. Charles	Methodist	Cobourg.
Floming, William	Presbyterian	Napier.
Forin John	Presbyterian	Belleville.
Forman, Rev. R. J	Methodist	Mount Forest.
E-thoringham D	Presbyterian	Aurora.
Paulator W N	Methodist Episcopal	Oriel.
Frager, Rev. R. D	Presbyterian	Toronto.
Freeman, Rev. J. W	Methodist	Erin.
Freeman, A. D	Methodist	Listowel.
Freeman, Mrs. A. D	Methodist	Listowel.
Gibson, Samuel	Presbyterian	Goderich.
Gilchrist, J. C	Presbyterian	Woodville.
Gilchrist, Mrs	Presbyterian	Woodville.
Goodspeed, Rev. C., M.A	Baptist	Woodstock.
Grafftey, Rev. G	Baptist	Kingston.
Graham, Miss Barbara	Presbyterian	Dundas.
Graham, D	Methodist Episcopal	Claude.
Graham, Thomas H	Methodist Episcopal	Claude.
Gray, R. A	Methodist	Lansing.
Gray, W. M	Methodist	Seaforth.
Grimshaw, Mrs	Methodist	Edmonton.
Grose, W. S	Primitive Methodist	Goldstone.
Hall, E. A.	Methodist	
Hall, James	Presbyterian	Winterbourne
Halliday, Jesse E		
Hardie, J. S		
Harley, Hugh		
Harris, James	A STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	
Harris, Rev. H.	TO 2 242 34 41 - 12-4	
Harris, John	34 (3 3) 4	
Harrison, James	24 2 2 1	
Harrison, Mrs		
Hartley, David		
Hartman, H. J.		
Healy, J. C		
Herald, C. F		
Hill, Miss		
Uill W H		
Hill, W. H		
House Por W		
·Hooper, Rev. W		
		0 11
Howell, Rev. J		
Howie, James		Guelph.
Humphries, C	. I memodist	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

FICE.

n.

Cross.

rne.

ok. n. n.

n, O. -

Hurdon, H T Hurdon, Mrs Hurdon, Mrs Hutchinson, Miss E J Presbyterian Hutt, James E Presbyterian Hutton, Alexander Jackson, Miss M A Jackson, John Jackson, John Jackson, T Jeffery, Rev. T W Metholist Jeffery, Mrs Johnston, Miss J Metholist Episcopal Keeing, Charles Reeing, Charles Reeing, Charles Reeing, Charles Reeing, Charles Reeing, Charles Reeough, Rev. T S Metholist Reough, Rev. T S Metholist Reough, Rev. T S Metholist Reough, J Metholist Cooksville Rerr, James F Metholist Reifer, H Metholist Reough, J Metholist Rerr, James F Metholist Reifer, James F Metholist Reifer, James F Metholist Revillman, R Robert Respectational Rribs, Lewis P Roore Revilled Rerry Roore Revelled Revel	NAME.	DENOMINATION.	POST OFFICE.
Hutchinson, Miss E. J. Presbyterian Crosshill. Hutt, James E. Presbyterian Crosshill. Hutton, Alexander Methodist Episcopal Brampton. Jackson, Miss M. A. Methodist Jackson, John Methodist Guelph. Jackson, T. Methodist Toronto. Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Methodist Toronto. Jeffery, Mrs. Methodist Toronto. Jeffery, Mrs. Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keeling, Charles Presbyterian Salem. Keefier, H. Lutheran Maple. Keenth, James Methodist Farifield Plains. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keenth, James Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keenth, James Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Methodist Moorefield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Hespeler. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist Gueiph. Lambert, R. G. Methodist Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian Seaforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B. D Mackie, Rev. J. B. Baptist Port Colborne. Mailland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Septerian Elora. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Septerian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Septerian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Septerian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, Charles. Monton, Morton, Charles. Montodist Methodist Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, Charles. Montodist Morton, Morriston. Morton, Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Aversian. Montodist Morton, Morton, Methodist Montreal. Montreal, Presbyterian Hespeler.	Hurdon, H T	Mathodist	V
Hutchinson, Miss E. J. Presbyterian Crosshill Hutton, Alexander Methodist Episcopal Jackson, Miss M. A. Methodist Episcopal Jackson, T. Metholist Methodist Methodist Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Methodist Jeffery, Mrs. Methodist Johnston, Miss J. Methodist Episcopal Keays, T. S. Methodist Episcopal Keeling, Charles Presbyterian Keffer, H. Lutheran Maple. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Episcopal Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Episcopal Kent, James Methodist Episcopal Keelng, Charles Presbyterian Keffer, H. Lutheran Maple. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Fairfield Plains. Keough, J. L. Methodist Methodist Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist Methodist Methodist Keough, J. L. Methodist Methodist Moorefield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Hespeler. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist Methodist Gueiph. Lambert, R. G. Methodist Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O. M. A. Methodist Methodist Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O. M. A. Methodist Maddlul, James Presbyterian St. Helen's. Presbyterian Brantford. Law, James Presbyterian Brantford. Law, James Presbyterian St. Helen's. Presbyterian Methodist Maddlul, James Presbyterian Gueiph. Mackie, Rev. J. B. D. Methodist Maddlul, James Presbyterian Gueiph. Madolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Malland, John Presbyterian Gueiph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Stantord. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Stantord. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Stantord. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Paris. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Doraten. Methodist Drayton. Methodist Drayton. Methodist Drayton. Methodist Drayton. Methodist Drayton. Methodist Drayton. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Paris. Montgomery, James A. Methodis	Hurdon, Mrs		
Hutto, Alexander Hutton, Alexander Hutton, Alexander Jackson, Miss M. A. Methodist Episcopal Jackson, T. Methodist Jackson, T. Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Jeffery, Mrs. Jeffery, Mrs. Johnston, Miss J. Methodist Episcopal Keefing, Charles Presbyterian Keffer, H Lutheran Keffer, H Lutheran Keffer, H Lutheran Maple Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Keough, J. L. Methodist Keough, J. L. Methodist Killman, R. G Kirk, Thomas Kirk, Thomas Congregational Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Lambert, R. G. Lambert, R. G. Methodist Lambert, R. G. Methodist Lambert, R. G. Methodist Lambert, R. G Methodist Lambert, R. G Methodist Lambert, R. G Methodist Law, James Presbyterian Leask, Mrs. Law, James Presbyterian Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D Mackie, Rev. J. Maddlock, W. P Methodist Maitland, John Presbyterian Maitland, John Presbyterian Maitland, John Presbyterian Macholm, G. H Congregational Manche, Rev. W Mapiton Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Methodist Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Methodist Presbyterian Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Presbyterian Presbyterian Elora Millard, Rev. W Baptist Toronto. Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Morton, Morriston. Morton, Morriston. Monfooner, James A Methodist Morton, Morriston. Morton, Morriston. Monfooner, James A Methodist Morton, Morriston. Monfooner, James A Methodist Morton, Morriston. Monfooner, Methodist Monfreel, Association Morton, Morriston. Monfooner, Methodist Morton, Morriston. Monfooner, Methodist Monfreel, Methodist Morton, Methodist Monfreel, Methodist Morton, Met	Hutchinson, Miss E J		
Hutton, Alexander Jackson, Miss M. A. Jackson, John Methodist Jackson, John Methodist Jackson, T. Methodist Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Methodist Jeffery, Mrs Jeffery, Mrs Johnston, Miss J. Methodist Johnst	Hutt, James E.		. Crosshill.
Jackson, John Jackson, T. Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Jeffery, Mrs. Jeffery, Mrs. Jeffery, Mrs. Johnston, Miss J. Keeling, Charles Keeling, Charles Keeling, Charles Keeling, Charles Keent, James Keent, James Keough, Rev. T. S. Keough, J. L. Keough, J. L. Keough, J. L. Kerr, James F. Keltholist Kerr, James F. Ketholist Koough, Rev. T. S. Keough, J. L. Kerr, James F. Ketholist Keough, J. L. Kerr, James F. Ketholist Killman, R. G. Kirk, Thomas Congregational Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Law, James C. Law, James C. Law, James C. Law, James C. Leask, Mrs. Lewry Rev. T. Lumsden, Robert Maddonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Maddill, James Maitland, John Presbyterian Maidll, James Maitland, John Presbyterian Madill, James Maitland, John Presbyterian Marshall, Stephen Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Mason, L. A. Methodist Methodist Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Presbyterian Paris Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association Morton, Charles Monfood, J. C. Evangelical Association Morton, Charles Monfood, Ayr. Methodist Methodist Monfreel, Methodist M	Hutton, Alexander		
Jackson, John Jackson, T. Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Jeffery, Mrs. Jeffery, Mrs. Johnston, Miss J. Metholist Metholist Newtonbrook Keeling, Charles Keeling, Charles Keefier, H. Lutheran Keffer, H. Lutheran Keffer, H. Keough, Rev. T. S. Metholist Episcopal Metholist Keough, Rev. T. S. Metholist Keough, J. L. Metholist Keongh, Rev. T. S. Metholist Kerr, James F. Metholist Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham North Pelham North Pelham Toronto. Hespeler. Metholist Newmarket. Seaforth. Newmarket. Seaforth. Newmarket. Seaforth. Metholist Minterbourne. Seaforth. Metholist Marshall, John Presbyterian Metholist Marshall, Stephen Metholist Metholist	Jackson, Miss M A	Mothaulist	
Jeffery, Rev. T. W. Methodist Toronto. Jeffery, Mrs Methodist Toronto. Johnston, Miss J. Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keavs, T. S. Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keeling, Charles Presbyterian Maple. Keening, Charles Presbyterian Maple. Keening, Charles Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keening, Charles Presbyterian Maple. Kenth, James Methodist Farrield Plains. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist Cooksville. Kerr, James F Methodist Cooksville. Kerr, James F Methodist Mooreield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association. Kribs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist Harriston. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist Newmarket. Lambley, Rev. O, M. A. Methodist. Lambley, Rev. O, M. A. Methodist. Law, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Seaforth. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Seaforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Presbyterian Seaforth. Maddock, W. P. Methodist Guelph. Madill, James Primitive Methodist Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Geleph. Madloclm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Seotland. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Seron. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Merloodist Gaelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Sington. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Sington. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montoon, L. A. Methodist Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, Charles. Methodist Montrolo. Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Montreal. Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Montreal. Morton, Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Methodist Montreal. Methodist Montreal. Methodist Montreal.	Jackson, John	M. 41 1: 4	
Jeffery, Mrs. Metholist. Toronto. Johnston, Miss J. Metholist Episcopal (Claude. Keays, T. S. Metholist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keeling, Charles Presbyterian Maple. Kent, James Metholist. Fairfield Plains. Keough, Rev. T. S. Metholist. Fairfield Plains. Keough, Rev. T. S. Metholist. Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Metholist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Metholist. Mooreield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kirk, Thomas. Congregational Toronto. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Hespeler. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Metholist. Harriston. Lambert, R. G. Metholist. Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O, M. A. Metholist. Harriston. Law, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Law, James. Presbyterian Brantford. Luwry, Rev. T. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist. Port Colborne. Maddill, James. Primitive Methodist Unineld. Maill, James. Primitive Methodist Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Manche, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Scatland. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Scatland. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Scatland. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Scatland. Morton, Mason, L. A. Methodist. Scatland. Morton, G. H. Scatland. Morton, Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Mover, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Mortiston.	Jackson, I	Mothwilint	
Johnston, Miss J. Methodist Episcopal Claude. Keays, T. S. Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keeling, Charles. Presbyterian Salem. Keeling, Charles. Presbyterian Salem. Keeling, Charles. Methodist Episcopal Hyde Park. Keeling, Charles. Presbyterian Salem. Keengh, H. Lutheran Maple. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist. Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Methodist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Methodist. Mooreield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist. Guelph. Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Harriston. Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James. Presbyterian Seaforth. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Saforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B. D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist. Port Colborne. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marson, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Stington. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Mary, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, Gharles. Methodist Port Hope. Monflock, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie. Methodist Montreal. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Methodist Montreal.	Jeffery, Rev. T. W.	Methodist	
Keays, T. S. Keeling, Charles Methodist Keeling, Charles Keeling, Cooksville Keeling, Cook	Jeffery, Mrs.	Methodist	
Reeling, Charles Reeling, Charles Reeling, Charles Refler, H Rent, James Reeling, Rev. T. S Methodist Reough, Rev. T. S Methodist Reough, Rev. T. S Methodist Reough, J. L Methodist Reough, J. L Methodist Reough, Rev. T. S Methodist Reough, Rev. T Reins, Lewis P Evangelical Association Rrobbs, Mrs. M. A Lambert, R. G Law, James Leask, Mrs. Law, James Leask, Mrs. Leav, James Leask, Mrs. Lowry, Rev. T Presbyterian Readounnell, Rev. D. J., B. D Mackie, Rev. J Maddlock, W. P Medhodist Maitland, John Presbyterian Maitland, John Presbyterian Maitland, John Presbyterian Malcolm, G. H Congregational Manchee, Rev. W Congregational Manchen, Robert Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Mason, U. A Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Marshall, Stephen Methodist Methodist Methodist Drayton Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Methodist Method	Johnston, Miss J.		
Keefing, Charles Keffer, H Keffer, H Kent, James Keough, Rev. T. S. Keough, J. L. Keough, J. L. Keough, J. L. Kertholist Keough, J. L. Kertholist Keough, J. L. Kertholist Kertholist Kertholist Kertholist Kribs, Lewis P Kribs, Lewis P Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Ketholist Lambert, R. G. Lambley, Rev. O, M. A. Laidlaw, James C Law, James C Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Lowry, Rev. T Leask, Mrs. Lowry, Rev. T Lumsden, Robert Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Maddock, W. P Methodist Maitland, John Maitland, John Maitland, John Maitland, John Malcolm, G. H Congregational Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Mason, L. A. Methodist Methodist Methodist Marshall, Peter Marshall, Peter Mason, L. A. Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Drayton Marshall, Stephen Methodist Marshall, Peter Mason, L. A. Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Montron, Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Montron, Methodist Montron, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Montron, Methodist Montron, Methodist Methodist Montron, Methodist M	Keays, T. S.	Methodist Enisconal	
Kefter, H Lutheran Maple. Kent, James Methodist Fairfield Plains. Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist Cooksville. Kerr, James F Methodist Cooksville. Kerr, James F Methodist Mooreield. Killman, R. G Presbyterian North Pelham. Kirk, Thomas Congregational Toronto. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Hespeler. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A Methodist Gueiph. Lambert, R. G Methodist Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O, M. A Methodist Harriston. Law, James C Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T Presbyterian Brantford. Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian Seaforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D Presbyterian Toronto. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D Presbyterian Gueiph. Macdill, James Primitive Methodist Guelph. Madill, James Primitive Methodist Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Manche, Rev. W Congregational Guelph. Mann, John Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist St. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G Presbyterian Elora. Midlard, Rev. W Baptist Toronto. Mortoon, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Avr. Montgomery, James A Methodist Port Hope. Montroon, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Avr. Montroon, Methodist Port Hope. Montroon, Methodist Presbyterian Avr. Montroon, Methodist Presbyterian Presbyterian Presbyterian Paris. Montroon, Methodist Presbyterian Presbyterian Paris. Montroon, Methodist Presbyterian Presbyterian Presbyterian Presbyterian Paris. Montroon, Methodist Presbyterian Presbyterian Presbyterian Presbyterian Pr	Keeling, Charles	Presbyterian	Salam
Keough, Rev. T. S. Methodist. Cooksville. Keough, J. L. Methodist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Methodist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Methodist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F. Methodist. Mooreield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist. Hespeler. Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Harriston. Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O., M. A. Methodist. Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian Saforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B. D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist. Port Colborne. Madlock, W. P. Methodist. Minield. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist Presbyterian Paris. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Montoon, Morron, Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Paris. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Menzies, Joseph Methodist Montreal. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie. Methodist Montreal. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Menzies, Joseph Methodist Montreal. Moorton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Menzies, Joseph Methodist Montreal. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Morton, Messeler.	Keffer, H		
Reough, J. L. Methodist Cooksville. Kern, James F Methodist Cooksville. Kerr, James F Methodist Mooreield. Killman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham Kirk, Thomas Congregational Toronto. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association Hespeler. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist Gueiph. Lambert, R. G. Methodist Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Methodist Newmarket. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law James Presbyterian St. Helen's. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Presbyterian Brantford. Seaforth. Presbyterian Brantford. Seaforth. Presbyterian Gueiph. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Port Colborne. Maddock, W. P. Methodist Gueiph. Mailland, John Presbyterian Gueiph. Manchen, Robert Congregational Guelph. Manchen, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Manchen, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist St. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Elora. Mary W. Methodist Islington. Mary W. Methodist Islington. Mary W. Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Paris. Moorlon, G. Presbyterian Paris. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Charles. Moorlon, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Montron, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Montron, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Montron, Charles. Moorlon, Kirk Pelham Methodist Montreal. Moorlon, Charles. Moorlon, Hexpeler.	Kent, James	Methodist	
Kerr, James F Methodist. Cooksville. Kerr, James F Methodist. Moorefield. Killman, R G Presbyterian North Pelham. Kirk, Thomas. Congregational Toronto. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist. Hespeler. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist. Hespeler. Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Harriston. Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Seaforth. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Seaforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B. D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Toronto. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Presbyterian Guelph. Maldock, W. P. Methodist. Presbyterian Guelph. Maltland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Elora. Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Sington. Mary, W. Methodist. Sington. Mary, W. Methodist. Sington. Mary, W. Methodist. Sington. Millar, W. Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morton, Gharles. Methodist Port Hope. Monfook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Monfook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Monton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Methodist. Montreal.	Keough, Rev. T. S.	Methodist	
Keilman, R. G. Presbyterian North Pelham. Kribs, Lewis P. Evangelical Association. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist. Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O., M.A. Methodist. Newmarket. Seaforth. Presbyterian Seaforth. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Presbyterian Seaforth. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Seaforth. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist. Port Colborne. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist. Port Colborne. Madlock, W. P. Methodist. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Maidll, James. Primitive Methodist. Winneld. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist. Cartwright. Methodist. Usington. Mary, W. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Presbyterian Paris. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Port Hope. Montoon, Charles. Methodist. Port Hope. Montoon, Charles. Methodist. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Montroon, Millard, Rev. W. Baptist. Toronto. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Methodist. Montreal. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Montreal. Montroon, Miss Jennie. Methodist. Montreal. Montroon, Miss Jennie. Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Montroon, Miss Jennie. Methodist. Montreal. Montroon, Miss Jennie. Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Montroon, Miss Jennie. Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Montreal. Montreal. Methodist. Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Methodist. Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Methodist. Methodist. Methodist. Methodist. Methodist. Montreal. Methodist.	Keough, J. L	Methodist	Cooksville,
Kirk, Thomas Congregational Toronto. Kribs, Lewis P. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Lambert, R. G. Lambert, R. G. Lambley, Rev. O, M.A. Laidlaw, James C. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Methodist Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask, Methodist Leask, Methodist Leask, Methodist Leask, Mrs. Leask, Methodist Leask,	Kerr, James F	Methodist	
Kribs, Lewis P. Kribs, Lewis P. Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Krbs, Lewis P. Lambert, R. G. Lambert, R. G. Lambert, R. G. Lambley, Rev. O., M.A. Laidlaw, James C. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Lowry, Rev. T. Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Mackie, Reto. Mackie, J. Mackie, Reto. Mackie, Reto. Mackie, Reto. M	Killman, R. G	Presbyterian	
Krobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist Gueiph. Lambley, Rev. O., M. A. Methodist Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O., M. A. Methodist Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James C. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Presbyterian Guelph. Madidlock, W. P. Methodist Gnelph. Madidlal, James Primitive Methodist Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marson, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Islington. Mary, W. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Mortoon, Charles. Methodist Morton, Charles. Montoon, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Morton, Miss Jennie. Methodist Montreal. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Menzies, Joseph Methodist Montreal. Montron, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Methodist Montreal.	Kirk, Thomas	Congregational	
Arobbs, Mrs. M. A. Methodist. Guelph. Lamblety, Rev. O., M. A. Methodist. Harriston. Lamblety, Rev. O., M. A. Methodist. Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James. Presbyterian Winterbourne, Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian Seaforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B. D. Presbyterian Toronto. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Presbyterian Toronto. Maddlock, W. P. Methodist Guelph. Madill, James Primitive Methodist Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Manche, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Guelph. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Drayton. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Sinington. May, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midlard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Charles. Methodist Presbyterian Paris. Monfook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Augentation. Morton, Morts Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Menzies, Joseph Methodist Montreal. Monton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Monton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Hesneler.	Kribs, Lewis P	Evangelical Association	
Lambert, R. G. Methodist. Harriston. Lambley, Rev. O., M.A. Methodist. Newmarket. Laidlaw, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James C. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Law, James C. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Law, James C. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Law, James Presbyterian Brantford. Law, James Presbyterian Brantford. Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist Presbyterian Toronto. Maddock, W. P. Methodist Guelph. Madill, James Primitive Methodist Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Congregational Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist Islington. May, W. Methodist Islington. Millar, W. Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montoon, Gharles. Methodist Port Hope. Montoon, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Moortoon, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Moortoon, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Moortoon, Miss Jennie Methodist Montreal.	Krobbs, Mrs. M. A.	Methodist	
Lamidlay, James C. Presbyterian Seaforth. Law, James C. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Brantford. Lumsden, Robert Presbyterian St. Helen's. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Presbyterian Port Colborne. Maddlock, W. P. Methodist Guelph. Madill, James Primitive Methodist Guelph. Mailland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Scotland. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist Islington. Mary, W. Methodist Islington. Mary, W. Methodist Islington. Mary, W. Methodist Islington. Millar, W. Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist Drayton. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Paris. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Montgonery, James A. Methodist Drayton. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Port Hope. Montgonery, James A. Methodist Mortons. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Montgolar Presbyterian Port Hope. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Montgolar Presbyterian Ayr. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Hespeler.	Lambert, R. G.	Methodist	
Law, James. Presbyterian Seaforth. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian Winterbourne. Leask, Mrs. Presbyterian St. Helen's. Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Seaforth. Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Presbyterian Toronto. Macdie, Rov. J. Baptist Port Colborne. Maddlock, W. P. Methodist Guelph. Madill, James. Primitive Methodist Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Manche, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Guelph. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Drayton. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Sington. May, W. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midlleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midllaton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midllaton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midllaton, G. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Charles. Methodist Institute. Monton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Hesneler.	Lambiev, Rev. O., M. A.	Methodist	
Leask, Mrs. Leask, Mrs. Lowry, Rev. T. Lumsden, Robert Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Maddock, W. P Maddil, James. Maitland, John Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Mann, John Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Mashall, Peter Masholl, Mather, Miss L Mather, Miss L Mather, Miss L Mathodist Mather, Miss L Methodist Methodist May, W Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Mary Menzies, Joseph Methodist Morton, Charles Methodist Morton, Charles Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Me	Laidlaw, James C	Presbyterian	
Lowry, Rev. T. Presbyterian Presbyterian Brantford, Presbyterian Mackie, Rev. J. Mackie, Rev. J. Madolock, W. P. Madill, James Maidland, John Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Congregational Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Mason, L. A. Methodist Methodist Mathodist Mather, Miss L Methodist Methodist Mather, Miss L Methodist Morton, G Presbyterian Paris Toronto. Mortoon, Miss Jennie Methodist Montreal Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr Methodist Methodist Montreal Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Morton, Methodist Methodist Morton, Methodist Me	Law, James	Presbyterian	
Macdonnell, Rev D J., B.D. Mackie, Rev. J. Madduck, W.P. Madill, James. Maill, James. Malcland, John Macche, Rev. W. Manchee, Rev. W. Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Stephen Marshall, Peter Masson, L. A. Methodist. Mather, Miss L. Mather, Miss L. Mather, Miss L. Mather, May. May. May. May. May. Menories, Joseph Methodist Morlook, J. C Methodist Methodist Morlook, J. C Methodist Methodis	Leask, Mrs	Presbyterian	
Macdonnell, Rev. D. J., B. D. Mackie, Rev. J. Maddlock, W. P. Maddlock, W. P. Madill, James. Primitive Methodist. Maitland, John Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Mann, John. Mann, John. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Mather, Miss L. Mather, Miss L. Mather, Miss L. Mather, Miss L. Mather, May. May. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Millar, W. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Millard, Rev. W Baptist Methodist Morloo, G. Presbyterian Millard, Rev. W Mengies Alassociation Morton, Charles Morton, Gharles Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Morton, Miss Jennie Methodist Methodi	Lowry, Rev. T.	Presbyterian	Brantford.
Mackie, Rev. J. Baptist. Port Colborne. Maddock, W. P. Methodist. Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Maclolin, G. H. Congregational Scotland. Guelph. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Guelph. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Brantord. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss I. Methodist. Islington. Mary. W. Methodist. Weston. Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midlard, Rev. W. Baptist. Toronto. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Ayr. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Methodist. Mespeler.	Mandonall Bar D. I. D. D.		Seaforth.
Madill, James Primitive Methodist Guelph. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Scotland. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John Congregational Guelph. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss I. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Usefun. May, W. Methodist. Sington. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Elora. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Morlock, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Hesneler.	Mackin Roy I	Presbyterian	
Mauthal, James. Primitive Methodist Winneld. Maitland, John Presbyterian Guelph. Scotland. Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Guelph. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Usington. May, W. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midlleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midlleton, G. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Port Hope. Monfook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Montron, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Montron, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Montreal. Montreal. Montreal. Montreal. Methodist. Messeler.	Maddouk W P	Baptist	Port Colborne.
Mattand, John Presbyterian Guelph. Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Scotland. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Grelph. Mann, John Congregational Brantord. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss I. Methodist. Usington. May, W. Methodist. Usitington. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Pros. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Port Hope. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Madill James	Methodist	
Malcolm, G. H. Congregational Scotland. Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Guelph. Mann, John. Congregational Guelph. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Slinington. May, W. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midlard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montoon, James A. Methodist. Port Hope. Montoon, Congregational Societion. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Morriston. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyor, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Moyor, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Mespeler.	Maitland John		
Manchee, Rev. W. Congregational Mann, John. Guelph. Mann, John. Congregational Guelph. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Masson, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Ustington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Morlook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montroal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Malcolm G H	Comment 1	
Mann, John. Marcon, W. H. Congregational Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Mason, L. A. Methodist. Mather, Miss I. Methodist. Morlock, J. C. Methodist. Methodi	Manchee, Rev W	Congregational	
Marcon, W. H. Congregational Guelph. Marshall, Stephen Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midlleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midllaton, G. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Port Hope. Montook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Mann, John	Congregational	
Marshall, Peter Methodist. Drayton. Marshall, Peter Presbyterian Ayr. Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Morlock, J. C. Evangelical Association. Montreal. Morton, Charles. Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Evangelical Association. Hesneler.	Marcon, W. H.	Congregational	
	Marshall, Stephen	Methodist	
Mason, L. A. Methodist. Cartwright. Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph. Presbyterian. Elora. Midlleton, G. Presbyterian. Plaris. Millar, W. Presbyterian. Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist. Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist. Port Hope. Morlodek, J. C. Evangelical Association. Montron. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montron. Morton, Wiss Jennie. Presbyterian. Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Marshall, Peter	Presbytorian	
Mather, Miss L. Methodist. Islington. May, W. Methodist. Weston. Menzies, Joseph. Presbyterian Elora. Midleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Morlock, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Mason, L. A.	Methodist	
Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Midlleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Midllaton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Morlock, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Charles. Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Mather, Miss L	Methodist	
Menzies, Joseph Presbyterian Elora. Middleton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Morlock, J. C. Evangelical Association Morriston. Morton, Charles Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association Hespeler.	May, W.	Methodist	
Midlaton, G. Presbyterian Elora. Millar, W. Presbyterian Paris. Millard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Mortook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morton, Charles. Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyor, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Menzies, Joseph	Presbyterian	
Presbyterian Paris	Middleton, G		
Milard, Rev. W. Baptist Toronto. Montgomery, James A. Methodist Port Hope. Morlock, J. C. Evangelical Association Morriston. Morton, Charles Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Millar, W		
Montook, J. C. Evangelical Association. Morriston. Mortook, D. Morriston. Morriston. Morton, Charles. Methodist. Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie. Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association. Hespeler.	Millard, Rev. W.	Baptist	
Morton, Charles	Montgomery, James A	Methodist	
Morton, Charles Methodist Montreal. Morton, Miss Jennie Presbyterian Ayr. Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association Hespeler.	Montan Ch.	Evangelical Association.	
Moyer, Rev. S. N. Evangelical Association Hespeler.	Monton, Charles	Methodist	
Evangelical Association . Hespeler.	Movee Pow C N	Presbyterian	
Methodist Brampton.	Murchigan Mag	Evangelical Association	Hespeler.
	MIB	Methodist	Brampton.

Parke Passr Peake Philp Pim, Piper Porte Pote, Prest Pyke, Rayn Reid, Reife Reist. Renn Renn Reyn Richa Robb Robb

Rober

NAME.	DENOMINATION.	POST OFFICE.
Munro, A	Presbyterian	Morriston.
MacAllum, A., LL B	Methodist	Hamilton.
McAllister, Rev. J	Methodist	Hespeler.
McCrae, Mrs. D	Presbyterian	Ghelph.
McEwen, Rev. John	Presbyterian	Ingersoll.
McEwen, Mrs. J.	Presbyterian	Ingersoll.
McGregor, Rev. M	Baptist	Georgetown.
McGuire, Dr. E	Presbyterian	Guelph.
McGuire, Rev. T	Presbyterian	Jarvis.
McGuire, Miss S. A	Presbyterian	Jarvis.
McKenzie, Miss Annie	Presbyterian	Seaforth.
McKenzie, Mrs. A	Presbyterian	Dundas.
McKinnon, D. J.	Presbyterian	Brampton.
McKinnon, Miss	Presbyterian	Ottawa.
McLean, D	Primitive Methodist	Toronto.
McLean, Angus	Presbyterian	Guelph.
McLean, Rev. H.	Methodist	Georgetown.
	Presbyterian	Hamilton.
McLogan, Alexander. A	Presbyterian	Galt.
	Presbyterian	Malton.
McMullen, John	Presbyterian	Hillsburg.
McMurchy, D		Toronto.
McNab, James		
		Nassagaweya.
McRobbie, Rev. G. G	Presbyterian	Tilsonburg. Woodville.
McSweyn, P		
Necklin, Charles	Methodist	Ponsonby. West Flamboro'.
Neff, Joseph	Methodist	Brantford.
Nichol, William, M.D	Presbyterian	
Norris, Arthur	Methodist	Campbell's Cross.
Oldham, E. B	Methodist	Guelph.
Paine, Annie	Presbyterian	Conestogo.
Parker, Mrs	Presbyterian	Jarvis.
Passmore, E., M.D.	Presbyterian	Conestogo.
Peake, Lewis C	Methodist	Toronto.
Philp, Rev. J	Methodist	St. Mary's.
Pim, Miss P	Congregational	Hamilton.
Piper, Miss Helen	Methodist	Fergus.
Porter, R. S	Methodist	Lindsay.
Pote, W. H	Congregational	London.
Prest, W. A	Methodist	Guelph.
Pyke, Rev. R	Primitive Methodist	Shanty Bay.
Raymond, C	Baptist	Guelph.
Reid, Rev. W	Primitive Methodist	Brampton.
Reife, D., jun	Evangelical Association	Hespeler.
Reist, J. H	U. Brethren	Guelph.
Rennie, Rev. J.	Presbyterian	Ailsa Craig.
Rennie, Peter	Presbyterian	Port Colborne.
Reynolds, Rev. J	Methodist Episcopal	Binbrook.
Richardson, Rev. G	Methodist	Milton.
Robbins, Rev. John	Methodist	Jerseyville.
Robbins, Mrs. John	Methodist	Jerseyville.
Robertson, Miss C	Presbyterian	
Robertson, J. L	Presbyterian	Strabane.

NAME.	DENOMINATION.	POST OFFICE.
Robinson, Rev. R	Methodist	Knowlton, Q.
Robinson, G. K	Methodist	Mascouche, Q.
Kobinson, M	Baptist	Islington.
Robson, Alexander	Presbyterian	Ayr.
Roger, G. M	Presbyterian	Peterboro'.
Rogers, Miss	Society of Friends	Newmarket.
Roland, A	Baptist	London.
Roland, Mrs	Baptist	London.
Ryckman, Rev. E., M.A	Methodist	Guelph.
Scott, George	Congregational	Yorkville.
Scott, John	Presbyterian	Shiloh.
Scott, A	Congregational	London.
Shannon, Mrs. R	Methodist	Brantford.
Shannon, Miss N	Methodist	Brantford.
Shaw, James	Presbyterian	Varna.
Shaw, Rev. C	Methodist	Dundalk.
Sherwin, W. F	Baptist	Newark, N. J.
Shirk, Rev. D. B	U. Brethren	West Montrose.
Smellie, W. L	Presbyterian	Fergus.
Smith, Rev. J C.	Presbyterian	Guelph.
Smith, Miss Carrie A	Methodist	Fairfield Plains.
Smith, Miss Lizzie R	Methodist	Fairfield Plains.
Smith, William	Presbyterian	Napier.
Smith, Robert, M.P	Presbyterian	Brampton.
Snell, J. C	Methodist	Edmonton.
Snell, William	Methodist	Edmonton.
Snider, D. W	Baptist	Edmonton.
Stancombe, James	Methodist	Brantford.
Stewart, Rev. J	Methodist	Nassagaweya. Preston.
Struthers, Miss M	Presbyterian	Ayr.
Stuart, Rev. J	Presbyterian	Pakenham.
Suder, Daniel	Methodist	Zion.
Taylor, A	Presbyterian	Fergus.
Thompson, Miss Jessie	Presbyterian	Seaforth.
Thomson, Rev. J.	Presbyterian	Ayr.
Thomas, Mrs. M. A	Congregational	Oro.
Thomas, E. C	Presbyterian	Pelham.
Thurston, Rev. A. L	Methodist Episcopal	Rockwood.
Corrence, Rev. R	Presbyterian	Guelph.
Froyer, S	Presbyterian	Concord.
Umbach, Rev. J	Evangelical Association	New Hamburg.
Umbach, Rev. S. L	Evangelical Association	Campden.
Unsworth, Rev. J	Congregational	Georgetown.
Urquhart, W	Methodist	Guelph.
Van Lennep, A. O	20002200000000	Montelair, N. J.
Veale, W. G	Freewill Baptist	Braemar.
Walan, R. S.	Congregational	Baden.
Walls, W. A	Baptist	Otterville.
Wardrope, Rev. D	Presbyterian	Teeswater.
Wardrope, Rev. T	Presbyterian	Guelph.
W-4 W'111	3.6 (1 2)	
Watson, William	Methodist Presbyterian	Weston. Seaforth.

Watson, Watson, Wedge, J Whale, V Whipple, Whitlaw, Wideman Wilkinso Williams Williams Williams Williams Willoon, Wiston, Wood, R Woodwa

N.B. taken fro others ha themselv

Workma

NAME.	DENOMINATION.	POST OFFICE.
Watson, William Watson, N. V. Wedge, J. T. Whale, W. T. Whiple, E. J. Whitlaw, Miss J. Wildern, George Wilkies, J. Wildern, Rev. T. L. Williams, Rev. R. W. Williams, Rev. R. W. Williams, Rev. R. W. Williams, Rev. R. Williams, Rev. W. Williams, Rev. R. W. Williams, Rev. R. Williams, Rev. R. W.	Presbyterian Baptist Presbyterian Primitive Methodist Methodist Presbyterian Evangelical Association Methodist Episcopal Presbyterian Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Methodist Presbyterian Baptist Presbyterian U. Brethren Methodist	Guelph. Edmonton. Stayner. Goldstone. Hamilton. Seaforth. St. Jacob's. Norwich. Toronto. Fergus. Berlin. Hamilton. Toronto. Seaforth. Acton. Erin. Hawkesville. Toronto.

N.B.—The foregoing names of those who attended the Convention have been taken from the books provided for registering delegates and ministers. A few others have been added; but many more were present who did not register themselves.

ins. ins.

rg.

ī. J.

APPENDIX.

July 7. Bi

21. M
28. J1
Aug.4. T1
11. T1
18. T1
25. T1
Sept. 1. R
8. T1
15. IM
22. W
29. R

Oct. 6. W
13. Ti
20. Ti
27. Ti
Nov. 3. Ti
10. W
17. ZA
24. Ju
Dec. 1. Ti
8. Ti
15. Ti
22. Ti
29. Ri

UNIFORM INTERNATIONAL LESSONS, 1878.

STUDIES ABOUT THE KINGDOM OF JUD	AH	
Jan. 6. Rehoboam, Judah's First King	AII.	
Golden Text, verse 12.	.2 Chr. 12: 1-	12
13. Asa Faithful To His Con	Commit 5-	7
Golden Text, verse 12. 13. Asa Faithful to his God	.2 Chr. 14: 1-	n
20. THE COVENANT RENEWED	Commit 2	5
Golden Text, verse 11. 20. The Covenant Renewed Golden Text, verse 7.	.2 Chr. 15: 8-	15
Golden Text, verse 7. 27. Jehoshaphat's Prosperity Golden Text, verse 9.	Commit 10-	12
Golden Text, verse 9.	.2 Chr. 17: 1-	10
Feb. 3. Jehoshaphat Reproved	Commit 3	6
Golden Text, verse 7.	.2 Chr. 19: 1-	9
10. JEHOSHAPHAT HELPED OF GOD	Onmit 1-	4
Golden Text, verse 20.	2 Chr. 20: 14-	12
17. Joash Repairing the Temple	Commit 17-	18
Golden Text, verse 4.	Commit 0	13
Golden Text, verse 4. 24. UZZIAH'S PRIBE PUNISHED	2 Chr. 96 . 16	10
Golden Text, Prov. 16: 18.	Commit 19-	23
Mar. 3. Ahaz's Persistent Wickedness	9 Cha 00 10	-
Cottlen Text, verse 22.	Commit 99	04
10. Hezekiah's Good Reign	2 Chr 29: 1	11
Golden Text, 2 Chr. 31: 21.	Commit 3-	6
17. HEZEKIAH AND THE ASSYRIANS		
Golden Text, verse 8. 24. Manasseh Brought to Repentance	Commit 19-	21
24. MANASSEH BROUGHT TO REPENTANCE	2 Chr. 33: 9-	16
Golden Text, Rev. 3: 19.	Commit 12-	13
31. REVIEW.		
Name of the last o		
Apr. 7. Josiah's Early Piety	2 Chr 34 : 1	0
Apr. 7. Josiah's Early Piety	Camerille 1	
14 SCRIPTURES FOUND AND STATE	Commit 1-	3
14 SCRIPTURES FOUND AND STATE	Commit 1-	3
14. SCRIPTURES FOUND AND SEARCHED	Commit 1-	3
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison Golden Text, John 5: 39.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14- Commit 20, 1 Jer. 33: 1-	3 22 21 9
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 22. The Rechabites.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14- Commit 20, 1 Jer. 33: 1-	3 22 21 9
14. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14- Commit 20, . Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- . Jer. 35: 12-	3 22 21 9 9
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites Golden Text, verse 13. Golden Text, verse 13.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14: Commit 20, . Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- . Jer. 35: 12- Commit 18-	3 22 21 9 9 19
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites Golden Text, verse 13. Golden Text, verse 13.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14: Commit 20, . Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- . Jer. 35: 12- Commit 18-	3 22 21 9 9 19
Golden Text, Jecl. 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Laim. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Barylon.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14: Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- Jer. 35: 12- Commit 1- Lorenti 1- Commit 6- Dan. 1: 8-	3 22 21 9 9 19 19 11 8 17
Golden Text, Jecl. 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Laim. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Barylon.	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14: Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- Jer. 35: 12- Commit 1- Lorenti 1- Commit 6- Dan. 1: 8-	3 22 21 9 9 19 11 8 17
Golden Text, pecel 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jereman in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Barylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Neeruchabrezzak's Derram	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14: Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8 Jer. 35: 12- Commit 12- Commit 6 Dan. 1: 8- Commit 12- Dan. 2: 36-	3 22 21 9 9 19 19 11 8 17 15 45
Golden Text, pecel 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jereman in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Barylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Neeruchabrezzak's Derram	Commit 1- 2 Chr. 34: 14: Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8 Jer. 35: 12- Commit 12- Commit 6 Dan. 1: 8- Commit 12- Dan. 2: 36-	3 22 21 9 9 19 19 11 8 17 15 45
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Seriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 1: 0. 19. Nebuchadnezzar's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Funace	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34: 14-2 Chr. 34: 11-2 Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1-Commit 8-Jer. 35: 12-Commit 18-Jer. 52: 1-Commit 18-Dan. 1: 8-Commit 12-Dan. 2: 36-Commit 44-Dan. 3: 21-5 Dan. 3: 21-5 Dan	3 22 21 9 9 19 11 8 17 15 45 27
Golden Text, Sec. 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchabezzak's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Furnace. Golden Text, verse 28.	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34: 14-2 Chr. 34: 11-2 Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1-Commit 8-Jer. 55: 12-Commit 18-Jer. 52: 1-Commit 6-Dan. 1: 8-Commit 12-Dan. 2: 36-Commit 44-Dan. 3: 21-9	3 22 21 9 19 19 11 8 17 15 45 27
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzan's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Handwriting on the Wall.	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34: 14-2 Chr. 34: 14-2 Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1-Commit 8-Jer. 52: 1-Commit 18-Lor. 52: 1-Commit 18-Lor. 2: 36-Commit 12-Lor. 2: 36-Commit 44-Dan. 3: 21-Commit 23-Dan. 5: 22-Joan. 5:	3 22 21 9 19 19 11 8 17 15 45 27 25 31
Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremiah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzan's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Handwriting on the Wall.	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34: 14-2 Chr. 34: 14-2 Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1-Commit 8-Jer. 52: 1-Commit 18-Lor. 52: 1-Commit 18-Lor. 2: 36-Commit 12-Lor. 2: 36-Commit 44-Dan. 3: 21-Commit 23-Dan. 5: 22-Joan. 5:	3 22 21 9 9 19 11 8 17 15 45 27 25 31
Golden Text, Levis 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Babylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzak's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Firey Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Hardwriting on the Wall. Golden Text, verse 27. 9. Daniel in the Lion's Den.	Commit 14-2 Chr. 34: 14-4 Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- Jer. 35: 12- Commit 18- Ler. 52: 1- Commit 6- Dan. 1: 8- Commit 19- Dan. 2: 36- Commit 44- Dan. 3: 21-5 Commit 23- Commit 23- Commit 23- Dan. 6: 14-	3 22 21 9 9 19 11 8 17 15 45 27 23 23
Golden Text, Levis 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Babylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzak's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Firey Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Hardwriting on the Wall. Golden Text, verse 27. 9. Daniel in the Lion's Den.	Commit 14-2 Chr. 34: 14-4 Commit 20, Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- Jer. 35: 12- Commit 18- Ler. 52: 1- Commit 6- Dan. 1: 8- Commit 19- Dan. 2: 36- Commit 44- Dan. 3: 21-5 Commit 23- Commit 23- Commit 23- Dan. 6: 14-	3 22 21 9 19 19 11 15 45 27 21 28 23
Golden Text, Lord 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jereman in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Barylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzak's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Handwriting on the Wall. Golden Text, verse 17. 9. Daniel in the Lion's Den Golden Text, verse 22. 16. Messiah's Kingdom	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34: 14- Commit 20; Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- Jer. 35: 12- Commit 8- Jer. 52: 1- Commit 6- Dan. 1: 6- Commit 12- Dan. 2: 3- Commit 23- Commit 23- Commit 23- Commit 25- Dan. 5: 22- Commit 25- Dan. 7: 7- Commit 25- Dan. 7: 7- Dan. 7: 9- Dan. 7: 9-	3 22 21 9 19 19 11 15 45 27 25 31 28 22 14
Golden Text, Lord 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jereman in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Barylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzak's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Handwriting on the Wall. Golden Text, verse 17. 9. Daniel in the Lion's Den Golden Text, verse 22. 16. Messiah's Kingdom	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34: 14- Commit 20; Jer. 33: 1- Commit 8- Jer. 35: 12- Commit 8- Jer. 52: 1- Commit 6- Dan. 1: 6- Commit 12- Dan. 2: 3- Commit 23- Commit 23- Commit 23- Commit 25- Dan. 5: 22- Commit 25- Dan. 7: 7- Commit 25- Dan. 7: 7- Dan. 7: 9- Dan. 7: 9-	3 22 21 9 19 19 11 8 17 15 45 27 23 22 14
Golden Text, Levin 12: 1. 4. Scriptures Found and Searched Golden Text, John 5: 39. 21. Jeremah in Prison. Golden Text, verse 3. 28. The Rechabites. Golden Text, verse 13. May 5. The Captivity of Judah Golden Text, Lam. 1: 8. 12. The Captives in Babylon Golden Text, Psalm 111: 10. 19. Nebuchadnezzan's Dream Golden Text, verse 28. 26. The Fiery Furnace. Golden Text, verse 17. June 2. The Hardwriting on the Wall. Golden Text, verse 27. 9. Daniel in the Lion's Den. Golden Text, verse 27. 16. Messlah's Kingdom	Commit 1-2 Chr. 34 : 14-1 Commit 20, Jer. 33 : 1-2 Commit 8-3 Jer. 35 : 12-4 Commit 8-1 Jer. 52 : 1-4 Commit 6-1 Commit 12-1 Dan. 1 : 8-2 Commit 12-1 Dan. 2 : 36-4 Commit 24-1 Dan. 3 : 21-5 Commit 24-2 Commit 25-2 Commit 20-1 Dan. 6 : 14-2 Commit 20-3 Dan. 5 : 23-4 Commit 20-3 Commit 20-5 Com	3 22 21 9 19 19 11 8 17 15 45 27 23 14 14 23

30. REVIEW.

STUDIES IN THE GOSPEL BY LUKE.

1878.

12: 1-12
mit 5- 7
14: 1-11
mit 2- 5
15: 8-15
mit 10-12
17: 1-10
mit 3- 6

19: 1-9 19: 1-9 10: 14-22 10: 14-22 10: 17-18 17-18 18-10 18-10 19-20 19-20 28: 19-27

mit 22-24 29: 1-11 mit 3-6 32: 9-22

32: 5-22 mit 19-21 33: 9-16 mit 12-13

34: 1-8 mit 1-3 34: 14-22 mit 20, 21 33: 1-9 mit 8-9 35: 12-19 mit 18-19 52: 1-11

52: 1-11 mit 6-8 1: 8-17 mit 12-15 2: 36-45 mit 44-45

3: 21-27 mit 23-25 5: 22-31 mit 25-28

mit 25-28 6: 14-23 mit 20-22 7: 9-14 nit 13-14 16: 22-23 nit 22-23

0.000.00	
July 7. Birth of Christ the Lord	Luke 2: 8-20
14. The Childhood of Jesus	Commit 10-14
14. The Childhood of Jesus	Luke 2: 40-52
(I-lden Text, verse 52. 21. Ministry of John the Baptist	Commit 46-49
21. MINISTRY OF JOHN THE BAPTIST	Luke 3: 15-22
Golden Text, Luke 1: 15. 28. Jesus at Nazareth	Commit 15-17
28. Jesus at Nazareth	Luke 4: 16-30
Golden Text, verse 32. Aug 4. The Draught of Fishes	Commit 18-21
Aug.4. THE DRAUGHT OF FISHES	Luke a: 1-11
Golden Text, verse 11. 11. The Centurion's Faith	Luke 7 . 1 10
a. Han Part Matt 9. 90	Commit 6 Q
18. THE WIDOW OF NAIN	Luke 7 : 11-17
Golden Text, verse 13	Commit 12-15
25. The Friend of Sinners	Luke 7 : 40-50
Golden Text. Luke 15: 2.	Commit 41-43
Golden Text, Luke 15: 2. Sept. 1. Return of the Seventy	Luke 10 : 17-24
Golden Text, verse 23.	Commit 21-22
8. THE GOOD SAMARITAN	Luke 10: 30-37
15. Importunity in Prayer	Luke 11: 5-13
22. Warning against Covetousness	Luke 12: 13-23
Golden Text, verse 15.	Commit 16-20
29. Review.	
where the same of	
-	
Oct. 6. Warning against Formalism	Luke 13 : 22-30
0ct. 6. Warning against Formalism	Luke 13 : 22-30 Commit 24-27
Golden Text, verse 24.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast Golden Text, verse 15. 90 The Propheau Son	Commit 24-27Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast Golden Text, verse 15. 90 The Propheau Son	Commit 24-27Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast. Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich May and Lazarius	Commit 24-27Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast. Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich May and Lazarius	Commit 24-27Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast. Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15: 24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 22-25 Luke 17: 11-19
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Frast. Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15: 24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 22-25 Luke 17: 11-19
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Cospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Product Son Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15: 24 Commit 23: 24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19: 31 Commit 22-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Cospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Product Son Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15: 24 Commit 23: 24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19: 31 Commit 22-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 21. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Nor. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheds, the Publican.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Prodical Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17, 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zaccheus, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Jedam Overthrown	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17, 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The I'en Lerens. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheds, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Jedam Text, verse 10. 24. Jedam Text, Luke 10.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 12-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-19 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 23-26 Luke 18: 9-17
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17, 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The I'en Lerens. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheds, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Jedam Text, verse 10. 24. Jedam Text, Luke 10.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 12-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-19 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 23-26 Luke 18: 9-17
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17, J. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zaccheus, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Judaem Text, verse 10. 24. Judaem Text, Luke 19: 41. Dec. 1. The Lord's Supper	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 12-25 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 3- 6 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 4-21 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 4-21 Luke 22: 10-20
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Then Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheds, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Jedain Overthrown Golden Text, Luke 19: 41. Dec. 1. The Lord's Supper Golden Text, 1 Cot. 11: 26. 8. The Gooss.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 12-25 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 17-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 13-16 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 14-19 Luke 22: 10-20 Commit 17-20 Luke 23: 3-346
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son. Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17. 27. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Then Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheds, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Jedain Overthrown Golden Text, Luke 19: 41. Dec. 1. The Lord's Supper Golden Text, 1 Cot. 11: 26. 8. The Gooss.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 12-25 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 17-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 13-16 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 14-19 Luke 22: 10-20 Commit 17-20 Luke 23: 3-346
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Producal Son Golden Text, Pag. 40: 17, 3. 21. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Nov. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zaccheus, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Judaem Overthrown Golden Text, under 19: 41. Dec. 1. The Lord's Supper Golden Text, 1 Cor. 11: 26. 8. The Cross. Golden Text, Gal. 6: 14. 15. The Walk To Emmans.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 12-25 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 17-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 13-16 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 14-19 Luke 22: 10-20 Commit 17-20 Luke 23: 3-346
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Prodical Son Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17.) 21. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheus, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Judalm Overthrown Golden Text, Luke 19: 41. Dee. 1. The Lord's Supper Golden Text, 1 Cor. 11: 26. 8. The Gross. Golden Text, Gal. 6: 14. 15. The Walk to Emmans.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 3-6 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 14-19 Luke 22: 10-20 Luke 23: 33-46 Commit 44-46 Luke 24: 13-32
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Prodical Son. Golden Text, verse 15. 21. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Nor. 3. The Ten Lefers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheus, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Judalm Overthrown Golden Text, Luke 19: 41. Dee. 1. The Lord's Eurper Golden Text, Gal. 6: 14. 15. The Walk to Emmaus Golden Text, verse 32. 22. The Sayiour's Last	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 15-19 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 3-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 3-6 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 14-19 Luke 23: 10-20 Commit 17-20 Luke 23: 33-46 Commit 44-46 Luke 24: 13-32 Commit 28-32 Luke 24: 44-53
Golden Text, verse 24. 13. The Gospel Feast Golden Text, verse 15. 20. The Prodical Son Golden Text, Psa. 40: 17.) 21. The Rich Man and Lazarus Golden Text, Prov. 14: 32. Not. 3. The Ten Lepers. Golden Text, verse 17. 10. Whom the Lord Receives Golden Text, verse 17. 17. Zacheus, the Publican Golden Text, verse 10. 24. Judalm Overthrown Golden Text, Luke 19: 41. Dee. 1. The Lord's Supper Golden Text, 1 Cor. 11: 26. 8. The Gross. Golden Text, Gal. 6: 14. 15. The Walk to Emmans.	Commit 24-27 Luke 14: 15-24 Commit 23-24 Luke 15: 11-24 Commit 17-20 Luke 16: 19-31 Commit 12-25 Luke 17: 11-19 Commit 15-19 Luke 18: 9-17 Commit 13-16 Luke 19: 1-10 Commit 3-6 Luke 21: 8-21 Commit 14-19 Luke 22: 10-20 Luke 23: 33-46 Commit 44-46 Luke 24: 13-32

For S

BIB

0

Combin

M

A NUI

VAI

Rev. W McI Mr. Gore List FOR S. S. TEACHERS' ASSOCIATIONS, SUNDAY SCHOOLS, CHURCHES, AND YOUNG MEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATIONS.

ORIENTAL EXHIBITIONS,

ILLUSTRATIVE OF

BIBLE MANNERS AND CUSTOMS.

ENTERTÄINMENTS

Combining Instruction, Pleasure, and Amusement for Old and Young.

THE WELL KNOWN ORIENTAL LECTURER AND S. S. WORKER,

MR. A. O. VAN LENNEP,

A native of Turkey, and for thirty years a resident of the East,
who is assisted by

A NUMBER OF GENTLEMEN AND LADIES, ALL IN COSTUMES,

VALUABLE COLLECTION OF CURIOSITIES,

Is prepared to make Engagements in Canada, for

JANUARY, 1878.

TERMS MODERATE.

REFERENCES IN CANADA:

Rev. W. Millard, Rev. J. M. Cameron, Rev. J. H. Castle, D.D., Mr. Daniel McLean, Mr. James Hughes, Toronto.—Rev. John Gordon, Mr. J. S. Lyman, Mr. J. A. Matthewson, Montreal.—Mr. W. Johnson, Belleville.—Rev. Dr. Gordon, Ottawa.—Rev. Hugh Johnston, Rev. W. Williams, Mr. Joseph Lister, Hamilton.—Rev. W. Manchee, Guelph.—Rev. A. Andrews, Strathroy. And others.

For full particulars apply to

A. O. VAN LENNEP,

CARE OF ED. SWEET & CO.

14 Wall St., NEW YORK

NOTICE.

International S. S. Convention,

The Executive Committee to whom was intrusted the calling of the Second International (Seventh National) S. S. Convention—comprising the S. S. workers of the U. States and Canada—have ananimously decided upon Atlanta, Georgia, as the place of meeting, and said Convention is hereby called to meet in that city on Wednesday, April 17th, 1878, at 10 a.m., continuing its sessions fill Friday Evening, April 19th, inclusive.

Questions of vital interest to the Sunday School cause throughout the world, will come before this Convention, and the Committee earnestly urgs the securace by each State and Province of full delegations, who will unrely attend and fitly represent their constituency in this great department of Christian work.

The basis of representation will be as at Baltimore; each State and Terrior may send as delegates twice the number of its entire congressional delegation, including Senators; and Canadian representatives in the same proportion.

Where there exist State or Provincial Associations, (Union,) they are entitled to appoint said delegates, but in the absence of these, application should be made to Rev. Geo. A. Peltz, Jamestown, N. Y., Chairman of Committee on Delegations.

Mr. J. C. MIDDLETON, of 805 Broadway, New York, will have charge of the Bazaar, to whom application for space should be addressed.

An outline programme will be published soon, and information concerning Rairoad facilities will be given by the Chairman as early as practicable. All duly accredited delegates are assured a hearty welcome to the homes of the

citizens of Atlanta by forwarding—not later than April 1st—notice of their appointment to W. G. Whidhey, Esq., Atlanta.

Let then the servants of the Lord with a city of their appointment of the city of the cit

Let then the servants of the Lord gather with full ranks to give glory to the name of our God for what He hath wrought; and to seek together in His name and spirit, by wise counsels, to push on the mighty work.

"Let the redeemed of the Lord say so, whom he hath redeemed from the had of the enemy, and gathered them out of the land, from the East and from the West, from the North and from the South."

JOHN E. SEARLES, Jun., Chairman,

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

				TIT TIT		I L L.		
JNO. E. SE	ARLES, Jun.,	New I	Haven,	Conn.		- '		CHAIRMAN.
REV. ALFR	ED TAYLOR,	New .	York,		-	2	÷	SECRETARY.
FRANK A.	FERRIS, Net	v York,			\mathcal{L}_{i}		ě	TREASURER.

Rev. Geo. A. Peltz, Jamestown, N. Y. Rev. H. M. Parsons, Buffalo, N. Y. C. B. Stout, New Brusswick, N. Y. John R. Whitney, Philadelphia, Pa. J. N. Roison, Charleston, S. C. Rev. T. C. BOYKIN, Atlanta, Ga. L. C. Garland, Nashville, Tenn. Rev. S. B. Barnitz, Wheeling, W. Va. Rev. L. H. Carrack, W. Rev. L. H. Carrack, Parkey, Parkey, L. H. Carrack, Parkey, Pa

mestown, N. Y.

Buffalo, N. Y.

WILLIAM RENNOLDS, Peoria, Illi.

WILLIAM RENNOLDS, Peoria, Illi.

WILLIAM RENNOLDS, Peoria, Illi.

WILLIAM TACKABERRY, Kobiuk, Iowa.

m, S. C.

ROBERT-COWDEN, Galion, Ohio.

JOHN W. RAY. Indianapolis, Ind.

let. Tenn.

Rev. WILLIAM TACKABERRY, Krobiuk, Iowa.

MILLIAM, Toronto, Cas.

W. B. McNutt, Halifax, Nova Sotia.

alias, Texas.

J. W. Dawson, Ll. D., Mortreal, Can.

Statistical Secretary: E. PAYSON PORTER, 18 South Ada Street, Chicago, Ills.

SUN

App

ent t

Leaf Clus International Scholars' Scholars' Sunday Sounday Sounday Sunday Sounday Sound

Adviser (

American Apples o Band of British V Child at Child's C Child's O Child's P Child's W Child's V Children' Children Children Prize, Th Cottager Family F Friendly Good Ne Little Fo Morning Morning Tract Ma

The a English, of a non-

Words of

furnished

SUNDAY SCHOOL PERIODICALS,

SUPPLIED BY THE

Apper Canada Tract and Book Society.

IOHN YOUNG, DEPOSITARY, 102 KING STREET,

TORONTO.

1.—On the Lesson.	City De	livery.	Mailed.
Leaf Cluster, quarterly, illustrated (New York)	84	00	84 00
International Lesson Monthly (Chicago)	0	90	1 00
National Sunday School Teacher (Chicago)	1	25	1 37
Scholars' Monthly (Louisville).		35	0 35
Scholars' Quarterly (Philadelphia)		95	0 25
Scholars' Quarterly (Lindon S. S. Union)	0	60	0 72
Sunday School Teacher (London S. S. Onton) Sunday School Times (Philadelphia), weekly	0	00	2 00
Sunday School Times (Philadelphia), weekty	6	60	0 60
Primary Teachers' Monthly (Mrs. Craft's). Sunday School World (American S. S. Union).	0	50	0 69
Sunday School World (American S. S. Union)	1	75	2 00
Sunday School World (London)		90	
Teachers' Treasury (Elliot Stock)	1 0	00	1 00
National Lesson Paper (Chicago) per	doz. 0	90	. 1 00
Primary Lesson Paper (American S. S. Union)	. 0	90	1 00
Intermediate Lesson Paper \ (American S. S. Union)	. 0	90	. 1 00
Advanced Lesson Paper)		00	0.00
8. School Times Weekly Lesson Leaf	. 0	90	
Scheme of International Lessons (for whole year) per	100 0	30	. 0 35
2.—For the Scholars.			
	9 10077		
Adviser (Scottish Temperance League) per	doz.\$1	75	.\$2 00
American Messenger (American Tract Society)		00	
Annles of Gold (Boston Tract Society) weekly		50	
Band of Hope Review		75	
British Workman		20	
Child at Home (Boston Tract Society)		00	
			. 3 60
Child's Own Magazine (London S. S. Union)		75	
Child's Paper (American Tract Society)	2	00	. 2 25
Child's World (American S. S. Union) monthly	1	50	. 1 75
Child's World (American S. S. Union) fortnightly		00	. 3 50
Children's Friend		20	. 3 60
Children's Messenger		75	. 2 00
Children's Paper (Edinburgh)	1	50	. 1 75
Prize, The		20	
Cottager and Artizan (London Tract Society)		20	
Family Friend			. 3 60
Friendly Visitor			. 3 60
Good News (Stirling).		75	
Infant's Magazine		20	
miant's magazine		50	
Little Folks (Chicago)			. 3 60
			. 1 75
Morning Light (American Tract Society)		20	
Tract Magazine (London Tract Society)			. 2 25
Words of Life (Chicago)	- 2	40	. 4 20

The above are the rates per annum, payable in advance. The Publications are English, and issued monthly, unless otherwise specified. Any religious periodical of a non-denominational character, not on the above list, can be ordered.

\$3 Specimens of Periodicals, and Catalogues of S. S. Books and Libraries, furnished on application.

ion.

the SECOND og the S. S. ATLANTA, I to meet in sessions till

the world, ecurance by ly represent d Territory

entitled to be made to elegations, arge of the

ion, includ.

omes of the

glory to the s name and m the hand n the West,

Chairmán,

IRMAN, RETARY, ASURER.

s, Mo. Ills. uk, Iowa. Winn. o. Ind.

onto, Can. va Scotia. Brunswick,

go, Ills.

Coronto Willard Tract Depositor

TORONTO, BELLEVILLE, KINGSTON, LONDON

SPECIAL NOTICE

TO THOSE ENGAGED IN

SABBATH SCHOOL WORK

OXFORD S. S. T. BIBLES. Special BAXTER'S S. S. T. BIBLES. Reduced LONDON S. S. T BIBLES.

These Bibles are prepared especially for the use of S. S. Teachers. Specimen pages, and complete Catalogue of Prices, &c., sent free on application.

- SELECT NOTES on International Lessons, 1878: by Rev. F. N. Peloubet. \$1 25
- INTERNATIONAL QUESTION BOOK for 1878; in three grades, each. 0 20 No. I.- Adults. No. II.-Children and Youth. No. III.-The LITTLE LEARNER'S QUESTIONS, &c.
- MONDAY CLUB SERMONS, on the International Topics for 1878 150

Subscriptions taken for the S. S. Times, Scholars' Quarterly, S. S. JOURNAL, and all the BEREAN HELPS, INTERNATIONAL LESSON MONTHLY, and OTHER HELPS.

NORMAL CLASS HELPS.

THE "GUIDE TO THE PREPARATORY LESSONS" of the Chautauqua Convention. Now Ready...... \$0.30 THE "GUIDE TO THE JUNIOR LESSONS," (to be used in 1878 at THE "GUIDE TO THE SENIOR LESSONS." Ready by January 1, 1878. THE "GUIDE TO THE TEACHERS' UNION LESSONS." Now Ready 0 40 THE "GUIDE TO THE SEMINARY LESSONS." Now Ready...... 0 45

A Choice Assortment of S. S. Libraries kept in Stock. Selection guaranteed.

S. R. BRIGGS, Manager.

All at

Prices.

itory

)RK

Ė

ll at ecial duced rices.

Specimen eation.

oubet, \$1 25 2 00 each. 0 20

1 50

S. S.

utau-.... \$0 30

1878. Ready 0 40

GS, Manager. CABINET ORGANS

WELL O'D'E O'R'S

FOR CHURCHES & SABBATH SCHOOLS

THE ORDANI MANUFACTOR BOOK

MESSRS, GEORGE A. PRINCE & CO.

the acknowledged standards of MUSICAL EXCELLENCE, possessing smarkable volume and points of tone; and for suctaining a large

CHOIR, CONGREGATION OR SABBATH SCHOOL,

ther qualities, combined with durability, and superiority, or vonting helip and timin, they bear the appropriational teconomic and the free most shocking of the vorth.

ESCANDOS!

We have constantly in arrive a cupe earth, of relevants and property flavor matures of the rest makers, which we are prepared to offer on forms to and province of purchasers, and varying it much least \$10 however.

TENYAY, CHICKERING, DUNHAM & HAINES PLANOS

Send for Pring Lipture flore purchasing the where

A & S. NORDHEIMER,

TORGINEO,

our Branch Houses in Ottawa London or St. Catherines.

When writing, please mention if you advisor, in the second with second y Seneral Report

THE S. S. TIMES

In arranging its plans for 1878, it has been the aim of THE SUNDAY SCHOOL TIMES to divide its lesson work into well considered departments of study and then to get the best man in the country for each special department; also to seem greater variety and richness than before in every other portion of its columns Amouncements are now made as follows:

PROF. C. H. TOY, D.D., LL.D., of the Southern Bapital Theological Seminary of Lange's Commentary on Samuel, will give Critical Notes on the Old Testament Lessons.

PROF. A. C. KENDRICK, D.D., LL.D., of the University at Rochester, and of the Bible Revision Committee continue Critical Notes on the Lessons of the New Testament.

PROF. AUSTIN PHELPS, D.D., of Andover Theological Seminary, author of an Devotional Reflections, on the lesson themes and topics, week by week.

H. CLAY TRUMBULL, Editor of the Sunday School Thues, will continue his Illustration of the Clay Trumbull, Applications which have been so warmly received by readers of the Times during the year now closing.

GEORGE A. PELTZ. Corresponding Editor, is to prepare each week a Lesson Frances of the State of the Control of

The REV. W. W. NEWTON, who is following in the steps of his distinguished faths the REV. W. W. NEWTON, a preacher to children, is to farnish illustrations, or

The REV. WILLARD M. RICE, D.D., will give carefully collated Echeelic O.

OTHER LESSON HELPS. The Rev. Messnei J. C. W. Coxe and J. B. Atchinos, Hints on the lessons from time to fine. Bible lightly Plant will present Black-board Outlines occasional special articles on particular points of fact or doctrine in the lessons will be furnished by the Army scholars.

ROSE TERRY COOKE, who is unequalled in her delineations of New England life as that a character, will write a serial story for the columns of The Time This is Mrs. Cooke's first serial story, and it is written for the stimulus and encouragement of Sunday school teachers and other Christian workers.

MR. CHARLES F. RICHARDSON, so well known for his literary work on The Addependent, and as an editor of "The Histor of American Colleges," will give his constant attention to the literary and other columns of the Sanlar

ADDITIONAL ATTRACTIONS. A series of sketches of personal experience in Sunday-school work by various prominent Sunday school work by various prominent Sunday school men, will be published detrying the year. Occasional serumons from distinguished detrying have a place in The Times. Besides these special features, the plans for the new year include the warriety of Sanday-school intelligence, Ways of Working, Words of Overige, Domester Exercises, Notes Open Letters. Editorials on current torius, and choice selections from other sources, under the heads werth Repeatable and From our Neighbours.

NOTICE TO NEW SUBSCRIBERS. If you will send your name and post-office address, together with twenty-five cents in the address given below, you will receive The Times every week for here months. This offer is only for new autoscribers. The regular prices are as follows: From 1 to 14 copies a year, 42.15 each. Prom 15 to 26 copies and unique at year, 42.05 each. Address

JOHN D. WATTLES, Publisher, 610 Chestnut St., Philadelphia.

THE SCHOLARS' QUARTERLY (issued every three months), now so popular, has been greatly improved. Although a large share of the best schools of the various denominations in the country are already using the Quarterly in place of the ordinary question book or lesson leaf, giving it a circulation of 115,000 copies, yet assuminoes come from all sections, that if well be even more which used. It is delives are determined that no effort or expuses shall be spared to keep it in advance of all the lesson helps for scholars. Every superflueident and teacher in the country should examine it before deciding upon lesson helps. IT'S COST is 25 cents a year, or \$25 for a huidred capies a year. Sent by mait without cost of postage to subscribers. Strategingious taken for three or six months at the yearly rate; under 10 topies, three months, sever cents each. To supply YOURICLASS would cost:—For five scholars, one year. \$2.55; three months, 36 cents. If or dependent of the Weekly Lesson Leaf start five. Published at the office of THE SUNDAY SCHOOL TIMES. Address the Publisher as above.